THIS DOCUMENT IS IMPORTANT AND REQUIRES YOUR IMMEDIATE ATTENTION. If you are in any doubt about the
contents of this document or as to what action you should take, you are recommended immediately to seek your own financial advice
from your stockbroker, bank manager, solicitor or other independent adviser who specialises in advising on the acquisition of shares
and other securities and is authorised under the Financial Services and Markets Act 2000 (as amended) (“FSMA”) if you are resident
in the UK or, if you are not resident in the UK, from another authorised independent adviser. The whole of this document should be
read. Your attention is drawn in particular to the section entitled “Risk Factors” in Part II of this document that describes certain
risks associated with an investment in the Company.
The Directors of Filta Group Holdings plc (the “Company”), whose names, business addresses and functions appear on page 9 of this
document, and the Company accept responsibility, individually and collectively, in accordance with the AIM Rules for Companies (“AIM
Rules”), for the information contained in this document. To the best of the knowledge of the Directors and the Company (who have taken all
reasonable care to ensure that such is the case), the information contained in this document is in accordance with the facts and does not omit
anything likely to affect the import of such information.
This document, which comprises an admission document drawn up in accordance with the AIM Rules, has been issued in connection with the
proposed admission of the issued and to be issued Ordinary Shares to trading on AIM, a market operated by the London Stock Exchange plc
(“AIM”). This document does not contain an offer or constitute any part of an offer to the public within the meaning of sections 85 and 102B
of FSMA, the Companies Act 2006 or otherwise. This document is not an approved prospectus for the purposes of section 85 of FSMA and
a copy of it has not been, and will not be, delivered to or approved by the Financial Conduct Authority (the “FCA”) in accordance with the
Prospectus Rules or delivered to or approved by any other authority which could be a competent authority for the purposes of the Prospectus
Directive.

Filta Group Holdings plc
(Incorporated and registered in England and Wales under the Companies Act 2006 with registered number 10095071)

Placing of 7,469,879 Ordinary Shares of 10p each at 83p per share
Admission to trading on AIM
Nominated Adviser and Broker

The Placing is conditional, inter alia, on Admission taking place on or before 4 November 2016 (or such later date as the Company and Cenkos
Securities plc (“Cenkos”) may agree but, in any event, no later than 30 November 2016). The Placing Shares will, on Admission, rank pari
passu in all respects with the issued ordinary share capital of the Company on Admission including the right to receive all dividends or other
distributions declared, paid or made after Admission.
A copy of this document will be available, free of charge, during normal business hours on any weekday (except Saturdays, Sundays and public
holidays), at the offices of the Company being The Locks, Hillmorton, Rugby, Warwickshire CV21 4PP, for a period of one month from the
date of Admission.
Application will be made for the Ordinary Shares (including the Placing Shares) to be admitted to trading on AIM (“Admission”). It is
expected that Admission will take place and that dealings in the issued and to be issued Ordinary Shares will commence on 4 November 2016.
AIM is a market designed primarily for emerging or smaller companies to which a higher investment risk tends to be attached than
to larger or more established companies. AIM securities are not admitted to the official list of the United Kingdom Listing Authority
(the “Official List”). A prospective investor should be aware of the risks of investing in such companies and should make the decision
to invest only after careful consideration and, if appropriate, consultation with an independent financial adviser. In particular, it should
be remembered that the price of securities and the income from them can go down as well as up. The AIM Rules are less demanding than those
of the Official List. Each AIM company is required pursuant to the AIM Rules to have a nominated adviser. The nominated adviser is
required to make a declaration to the London Stock Exchange on Admission in the form set out in Schedule Two to the AIM Rules for
Nominated Advisers. It is emphasised that no application is being made for the Ordinary Shares to be admitted to the Official List or to any
other recognised investment exchange. Further, neither the London Stock Exchange nor the FCA has examined or approved the contents
of this document.
This document does not constitute an offer to sell, or a solicitation of an offer to buy, Ordinary Shares in any jurisdiction in which such offer
or solicitation is unlawful. In particular, this document is not for distribution in or into the United States, Canada, Australia, the Republic of
South Africa, the Republic of Ireland or Japan, except that the document may be provided in certain limited circumstances to persons in the
United States in connection with a placing of Ordinary Shares in private placements exempt from the registration requirements of the
US Securities Act of 1933, as amended (“Securities Act”). The Ordinary Shares have not been and will not be registered under the Securities
Act, any state securities laws in the United States or any securities laws of Canada, Australia, the Republic of South Africa, the Republic of
Ireland or Japan or in any country, territory or possession where to offer them without doing do so may contravene local securities laws or
regulations. Accordingly, the Ordinary Shares may not, subject to certain limited exceptions, be offered or sold, directly or indirectly, in the
United States, Canada, Australia, the Republic of South Africa, the Republic of Ireland or Japan or to, or for the account limited or benefit of,
any person in, or any national, citizen or resident of the United States, Canada, Australia, the Republic of South Africa, the Republic of Ireland
or Japan. The distribution of this document outside the United Kingdom may be restricted by law and, therefore, persons outside the United
Kingdom into whose possession this document comes should inform themselves about and observe any restrictions as to the Placing, the
Ordinary Shares or the distribution of this document.

Cenkos is authorised and regulated in the United Kingdom by the FCA and is advising the Company and no one else in connection with the
Placing and Admission (whether or not a recipient of this document), and is acting exclusively for the Company as nominated adviser and
broker for the purpose of the AIM Rules. Cenkos will not be responsible to any person other than the Company for providing the protections
afforded to its customers, nor for providing advice in relation to the Placing and Admission or the contents of this document. In particular, the
information contained in this document has been prepared solely for the purposes of the Placing and Admission and is not intended to inform
or be relied upon by any subsequent purchasers of Ordinary Shares (whether on or off exchange) and accordingly no duty of care is accepted
in relation to them. Without limiting the statutory rights of any person to whom this document is issued, no representation or warranty, express
or implied, is made by Cenkos as to the contents of this document. No liability whatsoever is accepted by Cenkos for the accuracy of any
information or opinions contained in this document, for which the Directors and the Company are solely responsible, or for the omission of
any information from this document for which it is not responsible.

FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS
This document contains forward looking statements relating to the Company’s future prospects,
developments and strategies, which have been made after due and careful enquiry and are based on
the Directors’ current expectations and assumptions and involve known and unknown risks and
uncertainties that could cause actual results, performance or events to differ materially from those
expressed or implied in such statements. Forward-looking statements are identified by their use of
terms and phrases such as “believe”, “could”, “envisage”, “estimate”, “intend”, “may”, “plan”, “will”
or the negative of those, variations or comparable expressions, including references to assumptions.
These forward-looking statements are subject to, inter alia, the risk factors described in Part II of this
document. The Directors believe that the expectations reflected in these statements are reasonable, but
may be affected by a number of variables which could cause actual results or trends to differ
materially. Each forward-looking statement speaks only as of the date of the particular statement.
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PLACING STATISTICS
Placing Price

83 pence

Number of Ordinary Shares in issue on Admission

26,952,659

Market capitalisation on Admission (approximately)

£22.4 million

Number of New Ordinary Shares being issued pursuant to the Placing

5,190,499

Number of Existing Ordinary Shares being sold by the Selling Shareholder
pursuant to the Placing

2,279,380

Percentage of the issued Ordinary Share capital being placed pursuant to the Placing

34.3 per cent.

Estimated net proceeds of the Placing receivable by the Company, net of expenses
(approximately)

£3.5 million

AIM ‘ticker’

FLTA.L

SEDOL

BDB7J92

ISIN number

GB00BDB7J920

Free Float

28.4 per cent.

EXPECTED TIMETABLE OF PRINCIPAL EVENTS
Publication of this document

27 October 2016

Admission and dealings in the Ordinary Shares to commence on AIM

4 November 2016

CREST accounts credited for Placing Shares in uncertificated form

4 November 2016

Despatch of definitive share certificates, where applicable

18 November 2016

References to time are to London time unless otherwise stated. Each of the dates in the above timetable is
subject to change without further notice.
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DEFINITIONS
In this document, where the context permits, the expressions set out below shall bear the following meaning:
“Act”

the Companies Act 2006, as amended from time to time

“Admission”

the admission of the Ordinary Shares issued and to be issued
pursuant to the Placing, to trading on AIM and such admission
becoming effective in accordance with the AIM Rules

“Admission Document” or
“this document”

this document

“AIM”

the market of that name operated by London Stock Exchange plc

“AIM Rules”

the London Stock Exchange’s AIM Rules for Companies

“AIM Rules for Nominated
Advisers”

the AIM Rules for Nominated Advisers setting out the eligibility,
ongoing obligations and certain disciplinary matters in relation to
nominated advisers published by the London Stock Exchange as
amended from time to time

“Articles”

the articles of association of the Company, adopted on 26 October
2016

“Business Day”

a day, other than a Saturday or Sunday, on which banks are open for
commercial business in the City of London

“certificated” or “certificated form” the description of a share or other security which is not in
uncertificated form (that is not in CREST)
“City Code”

the City Code on Takeovers and Mergers

“Company” or “Filta”

Filta Group Holdings plc, a company incorporated in England and
Wales with registered number 10095071 and having its registered
office at The Locks, Hillmorton, Rugby, Warwickshire CV21 4PP

“CREST”

the relevant system (as defined in the CREST Regulations) for
paperless settlement of share transfers and the holding of shares in
uncertificated form which is administered by Euroclear UK &
Ireland Limited

“CREST Manual”

the compendium of documents entitled CREST Manual issued by
CRESTCo from time to time and comprising the CREST Reference
Manual, the CREST Central Counterparty Service Manual, the
CREST International Manual, the CREST Rules, CCSS Operations
Manual, and the CREST Glossary of Terms

“CREST Regulations”

the Uncertificated Securities Regulations 2001 (SI 2001/3755), as
amended

“CREST Rules”

the rules from time to time issued by CRESTCo governing the
admission of securities to and the operation of the CREST UK
System

“CREST UK System”

the facilities and procedures of the relevant systems of which
CRESTCo is the Approved Operator pursuant to the CREST
Regulations
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“CRESTCo”

Euroclear UK and Ireland Limited, the operator of the CREST UK
System or such other person as may for the time being be approved
by HM Treasury as operator under the CREST Regulations

“Directors” or “Board”

the directors of the Company whose names appear on page 9 of this
document

“EBITDA”

earnings before interest, tax, depreciation and amortisation

“Executive Directors”

Jason Sayers, Brian Hogan, Victor Clewes and Jlubomir (Roscoe)
Urosevic

“Existing Ordinary Shares”

the Ordinary Shares in issue in the Company as at the date of this
document

“Financial Services and
Markets Act” or “FSMA”

the Financial Services and Markets Act 2000 (as amended)

“FCA”

the Financial Conduct Authority

“Filta Group”

The Filta Group Limited and its subsidiaries, together with
Cookband Limited and The Filta Group, Inc.

“Group”

the Company and the Filta Group

“Historical Combined
Financial Information”

the Filta Group’s audited combined financial statements for the
years ended 31 December 2013, 31 December 2014 and
31 December 2015

“Historical Combined Interim
Financial Information”

the Filta Group’s unaudited combined financial statements for the
six months ended 30 June 2016 and 2015

“HMRC”

Her Majesty’s Revenue & Customs

“IFRS”

International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the
European Union

“Lock-in Agreements”

the agreement by which certain Directors and the Meredian
Settlement Trust have agreed, with Cenkos and the Company,
certain undertakings with respect to their holdings of Ordinary
Shares on Admission, as more particularly described in
paragraph 12.2 of Part V of this document

“London Stock Exchange”

London Stock Exchange plc

“New Ordinary Shares”

new Ordinary Shares proposed to be issued and allotted pursuant to
the Placing

“Memorandum”

the memorandum of association of the Company

“Nominated Adviser”,
“Nomad” or “Cenkos”

Cenkos Securities plc, the nomad and broker to the Company

“Official List”

the Official List maintained by the FCA in accordance with
section 74(1) of FSMA for the purpose of Part VI of FSMA

“Ordinary Shares” or “Shares”

ordinary shares of 10 pence each in the capital of the Company

“Placees”

purchasers or subscribers for the Placing Shares, as procured by
Cenkos on behalf of the Company or the Selling Shareholder
pursuant to the Placing Agreement
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“Placing”

the conditional placing by Cenkos of the Placing Shares on behalf
of the Company and the Selling Shareholder (as appropriate) at the
Placing Price pursuant to and on the terms set out in the Placing
Agreement

“Placing Agreement”

the conditional agreement dated 26 October 2016 between (i)
Cenkos, (ii) the Company, (iii) the Directors and (iv) the Selling
Shareholder relating to the Placing, further details of which are set
out in paragraph 11 of Part V of this document

“Placing Price”

83 pence per Placing Share

“Placing Shares”

the 5,190,499 New Ordinary Shares and 2,279,380 Existing
Ordinary Shares to be issued or transferred (as applicable) to
Placees pursuant to the Placing

“Pro Forma Financial
Information”

the unaudited pro forma financial information of the Group set out
in Section B of Part IV of this document

“Prospectus Rules”

the prospectus rules made in accordance with the EU Prospectus
Directive 2003/71/EC

“QCA”

Quoted Companies Alliance

“Registrar” or “Computershare”

Computershare Investor Services plc

“Remuneration Committee”

the remuneration committee of the Board

“Selling Shareholder”

Victor Clewes

“Shareholders”

holders of Ordinary Shares

“Subsidiary” or “subsidiaries”

the Company’s subsidiaries or any one of them upon Admission,
being The Filta Group Limited, The Filta Group, Inc. and Cookband
Limited

“Takeover Panel”

the Panel on Takeovers and Mergers

“TFGL”

The Filta Group Limited

“UK”

United Kingdom

“US” or “USA”

United States of America
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GLOSSARY
“HVAC”

heating, ventilation and air conditioning

“MFU”

a proprietary mobile cooking oil filtration unit

“MFU Filters”

MFU filters which remove impurities or solid particles from the
cooking oil processed by the Group’s MFUs

“NCA”

National and Centralised Accounts

“Franchise Owners”

the owners of a FiltaFry franchise licence, that provides access to
the Group’s proprietary knowledge, machinery, processes and
trademarks to allow them to sell the FiltaFry service

“Fryer Management”

the regular filtration of cooking oil and cleaning of deep fat fryers
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PART I
INFORMATION ON THE GROUP
Introduction
Filta is the provider of a number of services to national and independent commercial kitchen operators and
owners. Its principle service is FiltaFry, which is the micro-filtration of cooking oil, the vacuum based
cleaning of deep fryers and full Fryer Management. The Group’s core business operations are within the UK
and US. The US operations are exclusively operated as a franchise network, while the UK activities are
operated under both franchise and direct sale business models.
Filta, through its FiltaFry franchise network, services over 5,000 commercial kitchens every week. As at
30 June 2016, the Group had 169 Franchise Owners, of which 130 were located in the US and 39 in the UK.
The Directors believe a key strength of the business model employed by the Group is the high proportion of
recurring revenue from royalty and other income streams paid by the FiltaFry franchise network to the
Group. The Group charges an initial franchise fee, followed by a royalty on each MFU used by a franchisee
in undertaking the FiltaFry service.
For the year ended 31 December 2015, the Group had revenue of £7.9 million. This revenue was split
between the UK and the US, 45 per cent. and 55 per cent. respectively. The Directors estimate that
approximately 55 per cent. of this revenue is recurring or linked to royalty income paid by the FiltaFry
franchise network annually.
In addition to FiltaFry, Franchise Owners offer other fryer management services provided and managed by
the Group, including waste cooking oil collection and removal (FiltaBio) and the supply of new cooking oil
(FiltaGold) and non-fryer related kitchen services including the provision and servicing of moisture
absorption panels for refrigeration units (FiltaCool). In the US, the Group is in the process of launching a
new kitchen service to sell through its Franchise network to customers (FiltaDrain), which is a weekly
foaming service to kitchens for keeping their drains clear and grease traps free of grease.
In the UK, the Group operates two smaller non-franchised businesses: the onsite manufacture and
replacement of refrigeration door seals (Fita-Seal) and HVAC installation and repair (Filta Refrigeration). In
the UK, the Group is also in the process of launching a service (FiltaZyme) through its directly owned FitaSeal vans which provides drip systems to assist commercial kitchens in keeping their drains clear and grease
traps free of grease.
The Company is raising approximately £6.2 million gross in the Placing. Of the gross proceeds receivable
by the Company, £2.9 million will be used to enter into new local markets (including Canada and Europe),
to launch new services in existing markets and as general working capital. The remaining proceeds of the
Placing will be used to repay £0.6 million of debt within the business and fees associated with the Placing.
In addition, the Selling Shareholder is raising approximately £1.9 million gross in the Placing.
History of the Group
The business of the Company was founded by Jason Sayers in 1996. Mr Sayers founded the business to
service the needs of commercial kitchens to filter their cooking oil and undertake fryer management.
Mr Sayers believed that the need for commercial kitchens to outsource their cooking oil filtration and fryer
management operations was, and remains, driven by a desire for high food quality, health and safety
concerns, cost savings linked to a reduction in new cooking oil purchases and the need for specialist
equipment to undertake cleaning and filtering services to a high standard.
Victor Clewes joined the Company as Managing Director in 1996 to assist Mr Sayers in adopting a franchise
business model to achieve growth both in the UK and through master franchise licences in other countries.
Mr Clewes had franchise experience prior to joining the Group.
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Following the launch of the Filta business, the directors initially sought to enter into franchise agreements
with single unit van operators servicing single kitchen independent restaurants. As the business grew, there
was increased demand from multiple kitchen operators, including hospitals, schools, universities,
supermarkets, sports stadiums, concert venues, casinos, large manufacturing plants and corporate offices.
The business also sought to assist Franchise Owners by securing accounts with nationwide commercial
kitchen operators.
In 2002 and 2003, Mr Clewes and Mr Sayers (CEO) relocated to the US to lead the development and growth
of the Group there. The US operations were incorporated within a new company, The Filta Group, Inc, which
was ultimately owned by a UK holding company, Cookband Limited. The Directors sought to expand into
the US due to its significantly larger fryer market and the greater acceptance of franchise business models
there.
In 2012, the Group launched a US Inside Sales Team to assist the FiltaFry franchise network in securing new
customers and to target NCAs into which the FiltaFry franchise network could sell. The Directors believe
that the US Inside Sales Team has been, and will continue to be, critical to the growth of the Group in the
US.
As at 30 June 2016, the Group had operations in 60 post codes in the UK operated by 39 FiltaFry Franchise
Owners and The Filta Group, Inc, had operations in 293 US geographic territories operated by 130 Franchise
Owners. As the Company’s franchise model has matured, the Directors have sought to assist in the expansion
of successful Franchise Owners by enabling them to take on additional territories and providing additional
vans and MFUs. Each year, the number of single van Franchise Owners who are growing into multi-van
operators is increasing.
As the Group has grown the number of Franchise Owners it has also introduced a number of added value
sales opportunities for the Franchise Owners to sell to their customers, such as new cooking oil sales
(FiltaGold), in 2015, waste oil collection (FiltaBio), in 2011, and servicing of cooling panels for refrigeration
units (FiltaCool), in 2008.
In the UK only, the Company has also sought to utilise its NCA customer relationships by launching the
onsite manufacture and replacement of refrigeration door seals (Fita-Seal) in 2010 and commercial HVAC
installation and repair (Filta Refrigeration) in 2013.
The Company is in the process of launching FiltaZyme and FiltaDrain, which will provide solutions to
commercial kitchens in keeping their drains clear and grease traps free of grease.
In March 2016, Filta Group Holdings plc was incorporated for the purposes of acquiring Cookband Limited,
conditional on Admission. Jason Sayers, Victor Clewes and the Meredian Settlement Trust were the
shareholders in Cookband Limited prior to its acquisition by Filta Group Holdings plc. Jason Sayers and Roy
Sayers were together beneficially interested in the shares held by the Meredian Settlement Trust (with Roy
Sayers, interest being deemed beneficial due to his marriage to Dawn Sayers.
On 26 October 2016, the Company acquired the entire issued share capital of TFGL and The Filta Group,
Inc. from Cookband Limited for nil consideration.
The Business
The Group is the provider of a number of services to national and independent commercial kitchen operators
and owners. The Group’s core business operations are within the UK and US. The US is exclusively operated
as a franchise business network, while the UK operates under both a franchise business network and direct
sales model. A description of the Group’s services and their respective business models is summarised
below:
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Services

USA

UK

• Fryer Management:
– FiltaFry
– FiltaGold
– FiltaBio
• FiltaCool
• Fita-Seal
• Filta Refrigeration

Franchise only service
Franchise only service
Franchise only service
Franchise only service
N/A – service not offered
N/A – service not offered

Franchise only service
Franchise only service
Franchise only service
N/A – service not offered
Group direct service
Group direct service

Fryer Management Services
Filta offers Fryer Management services both in the UK and US exclusively under a franchise business model.
The Fryer Management services can be split into three distinct areas, being FiltaFry, FiltaBio and FiltaGold.
The Directors estimate that the FiltaFry franchise network will have an aggregate revenue of over
£20.0 million for the year ended 31 December 2016. The Directors estimate that the FiltaFry franchise
network currently provides services to over 5,000 commercial kitchens each week.
During the financial year ended 31 December 2015, £4.5 million of revenue came from Fryer Management
Services. The Directors categorise this as recurring revenue due to it being principally franchise royalty
revenue, high repeat/visible revenue or rental revenue.
FiltaFry
FiltaFry is a service offering on-site mobile micro filtration of cooking oil and cleaning of fryers within
commercial kitchens in restaurants, hotels, factory cafeterias, hospitals, universities and sports arenas.
The FiltaFry service incorporates a proprietary mobile cooking oil filtration unit (MFU). An MFU uses filters
that are designed for the Group and manufactured to work only within the Group’s proprietary MFU. An
operator of an MFU is able to extract cooking oil from a fryer at cooking temperature. Once the cooking oil
has been extracted the cooking oil is forced through a number of filters within the MFU removing flour and
other fine particles. While the MFU is filtering the cooking oil, which on average takes approximately six to
ten minutes, the MFU operator is able to clean the fryer with the aid of a high temperature industrial vacuum
cleaner. Once a fryer is clean and the cooking oil has been filtered the cooking oil can be put back into the
fryer by the MFU operator. The benefit, to the commercial kitchen of regularly using the FiltaFry service are
as follows:
•

cost saving – extending cooking oils’ useful life by reducing the need to purchase new or replacement
cooking oil;

•

food quality – providing a cleaner and higher quality cooking oil from which higher quality food can
be made; and

•

health and safety – reduces the risk of spillage or hazards associated with cooking oil cleaning or
replacement by allowing a suitability qualified operator to manage the process.

As at 30 June 2016, the Group had 169 Franchise Owners, of whom 130 are located in the US and 39 are
located in the UK. Under the terms of the Filta franchise agreements each Franchise Owner pays the Group
a fixed royalty based upon the number of MFUs they operate in a geographic area. The Group currently has
319 MFUs being utilised by Franchise Owners, of which 43 are located in the UK and 276 MFUs are located
in the US. The Group also generates revenue from the sale of MFU Filters and other ancillary products and
services to Franchise Owners.
FiltaBio
FiltaBio involves the collection of used cooking oil by Franchise Owners. The FiltaBio service removes used
cooking oil from customers’ premises and into a waste oil tank fitted inside the Franchise Owner’s van.
Under the FiltaBio programme, Franchise Owners collect the waste oil and sell it to the Group which then
sells it directly to third parties, such as biofuel producers. The benefit to the customer of using the FiltaBio
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service is that it removes the need for a waste oil barrel or container which can be unsightly and/or give off
an unpleasant odour.
The Group charges Franchise Owners differing prices based on their geographic location. As at 30 June
2016, 115 Franchise Owners offered the FiltaBio service to their customers. The Group does not currently
operate the FiltaBio programme in all areas of the UK or US.
FiltaGold
FiltaGold is the supply and sale of new cooking oil by Franchise Owners to their customers. The Directors
believe that the FiltaGold service complements the FiltaFry and FiltaBio services provided by Franchise
Owners.
The Group charges Franchise Owners a fixed price per litre sold. As at 30 June 2016, 48 Franchise Owners
offered the FiltaGold service to their customers. The Group does not currently operate the FiltaGold
programme in all areas of the US or to any areas of the UK.
FiltaCool
FiltaCool is the installation and servicing of a proprietary filter installed in walk-in coolers, freezers and
other refrigeration units to absorb and desorb moisture, capture ethylene and pectin gases and stabilise cold
storage temperatures. The benefit to customers of using the Group’s filters it that they extend the life of
perishables and equipment, reduce mould, bacteria growth, odours and food waste within refrigeration units.
FiltaCool filters are provided as rental equipment to customers by Franchise Owners, who, in turn, purchase
the filters from the Group at a monthly cost of $3 per filter. Franchise Owners place the filters at customer
locations and rotate out used filters every three months, on average. The filters are then de-gassed by
Franchise Owners for reuse.
As at 30 June 2016, 78 Franchise Owners offered the FiltaCool service to their customers. The Group does
not currently operate the FiltaCool programme in all areas of the UK or US.
Fryer Management Service Franchise Sales
The Group seeks to sell new franchises in geographical areas where there is no existing FiltaFry Franchise
Owner. Each FiltaFry franchise agreement requires the franchisee to pay an initial, non-refundable
franchise fee.
In the US, franchise fees consist of two components, the territory fee and the opening package fee. The
revenue associated with the opening package fee is recognised by the Group when substantially all initial
services required by the FiltaFry franchise agreement are performed, which is generally upon the completion
of training of the franchisee. The territory fee represents the exclusive right to operate in a designated
territory for a stated length of time. The territory fee, although received up front, is recognised over the
length of the franchise agreement, typically 10 years in the US and 5 years in the UK, and released to the
combined statements of comprehensive income by the Group on a straight line basis.
The Group advertises its franchises on franchise sale web portals both in the US and UK, and through
franchise brokers in the US. The Group receives approximately 300 enquires in the US and UK from
the franchise sale web portals every month. Following an initial enquiry from a potential franchisee via a
franchise sale web portal, the Group undertakes a telephone interview followed by a discovery day, after
which a potential franchisee may be invited to enter into a FiltaFry franchise agreement. The purpose of the
discovery day is to allow potential new FiltaFry franchisee owners to learn more about the franchise
opportunity and also to allow the Group to evaluate the individual or corporate to assess their suitability. It
is only following a discovery day, that the potential Franchise Owner and the Group discuss the terms and
conditions and enter into a franchise agreement. Typically, a new Franchise Owner will launch with a single
MFU and van.
The Group has, on average, signed up approximately 17 new Franchise Owners per annum over the past
three years. The Directors expect the number of new Franchise Owners per annum, within the UK and US,
to be around this historic average but longer term expect this number to decrease as the Group seeks to focus
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on growing and investing in existing Franchise Owners, thereby creating larger and more financially secure
Franchise Owners.
During the financial year ended 31 December 2015, £1.3 million of revenue was recognised from Fryer
Management Service Franchise Sales. In addition to revenue recognised by the Group in the financial year
ended 31 December 2015, the Group reported £1.8 million of deferred revenue to be recognised over 10
years in line with the length of its franchise agreements.
Fita-Seal
Fita-Seal is a direct service provided by the Group of on-site replacement of refrigerator door seals using the
Group’s patented technology. The Fita-Seal service is offered only in the UK and (with the exception of one
historic franchisee in Scotland) does not operate through the Group’s franchise network. Fita-Seal supplies
replacement seals in any commercial refrigerator on site using patented equipment built into customised vans
owned by the Group. Currently, the Group operates 10 Fita-Seal vans. The customer base for Fita-Seal is
similar to that addressed by Franchise Owners, being restaurants, pubs, bars, supermarkets and hospitals.
The Directors estimate that commercial refrigerator door seals need replacing every two years, with some
more frequently. The Directors believe that most customers currently source and order seals on a supply only
basis or arrange for a refrigeration company to undertake the work. Seal replacement can often take
significant time or be expensive for customers. By providing an immediate fitted seal on site Fita-Seal can
provide a competitively priced product in a timely manner. Fita-Seal targets national accounts and facilities
management companies that service national organisations.
During the financial year ended 31 December 2015, £0.9 million of revenue came from Fita-Seal sales.
Filta Refrigeration
Filta Refrigeration is a direct service provided by the Group of commercial refrigeration installation and
maintenance. The Filta Refrigeration service is offered only in the UK and does not operate through the
Group’s franchise network. Filta Refrigeration undertakes scheduled maintenance, planned installation and
reactive repairs. Currently, the Group operates 10 Filta Refrigeration teams.
During the financial year ended 31 December 2015, £1.2 million of revenue came from Filta Refrigeration
sales.
Operations
Sales and Marketing
Franchise Owners are trained by the Group to adopt a direct sales approach to selling their services.
Franchise Owners undertake this direct sales approach by approaching potential customers and offering free
site evaluations. Following the initial approach, Franchise Owners collect data over a limited number of site
visits and then produce a service proposal for the potential customer. The Directors estimate that the closing
ratio of free site evaluations to paying customer for Franchise Owners is approximately 50 per cent.
The Group supports its Franchise Owners through an ‘Inside Sales’ team. In the US the Group employs five
people in its Inside Sales team. A similar Inside Sales operation is currently being established in the UK.
Each Franchise Owner is linked to a sales representative within the Inside Sales team who supports their
sales effort daily. Together, the Group’s sales representative and the Franchise Owners agree a prospective
customer list to approach.
The Group’s Inside Sales team is also mandated to target national accounts on behalf of the Group, to
manage relationships with these accounts, and to link them to local Franchise Owners. The Directors
consider the Inside Sales team to be a key driver of historic and future growth.
The Group promotes and sells its Fita-Seal and Filta Refrigeration services directly to accounts through
online marketing and direct sales, and subsequently manages the accounts with account managers.
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The Group has an online advertising strategy to promote all its services with online advertisements and
search engine optimisation.
Technology
The Group uses bespoke software developed for the operations of the business. The principal software
system of the Group is its Customer Relationship Manager software, known as Symphony. Symphony allows
the Directors to analyse operational information data, principally to manage the Fryer Management services
division. Key information provided by Symphony includes the performance of each Franchise Owner,
information on each customer serviced and various key performance indicators. The Group’s Symphony
software is fully integrated with Sage, the Group’s accounting software, so that invoices are posted directly
online.
The Company also has software to support, analyse and manage the Fita-Seal and Filta Refrigeration
divisions.
Property
The Group currently operates from two freehold properties owned by the Group. The Filta Group Limited
operates from Rugby, UK and The Filta Group, Inc operates from Orlando, US. As at 31 December 2015,
the properties, which are valued at their historic cost, were held at £0.9 million within the fixed assets of the
Group with a related mortgage liability of £0.8 million.
Filta Franchise Agreements
A summary of a typical Filta Franchise agreement is set out below:
•

Filta will agree to franchise to the franchisee a fryer management service to catering establishments
(which includes micro filtration of cooking oil and the cleaning of deep fat fryers but which excludes
the collection and removal of waste cooking oil) together with the supply of additional related services
and products carried out under the name “FiltaFry” and other Filta trademarked brands;

•

The Franchisee must pay an initial, non-refundable, fee to Filta on execution of the franchise
agreement and thereafter a monthly service fee;

•

An additional service fee is payable by the Franchisee for each additional MFU (being the FiltaFry
mobile filtration unit for use in connection with the fryer management service supplied by Filta to the
Franchisee under the terms of the franchise agreement) operated by the Franchisee from time to time;

•

The franchise agreement is for a fixed period of time, usually between five and ten years, renewable
for further periods, subject to the Franchisee providing Filta with notice in writing requiring such
renewal;

•

The Franchisee will have the exclusive licence to operate their business within specified geographical
areas, subject to the Franchisee fulfilling its obligations under the agreement and to use their best
endeavours to promote and extend their business;

•

The agreement contains various pre-opening obligations on Filta to supply various equipment, stock
and training. Filta has continuing obligations to provide such additional training as may be required
by the Franchisee from time to time;

•

The agreement contains extensive operating obligations on the Franchisee, including using their best
endeavours to promote and extend the Franchisee’s business, ensuring the availability of adequate
finance to enable the full development of the Franchisee’s business and not being engaged or involved,
directly or indirectly (including in any way assisting any third parties to become so engaged or
involved), in any business which competes with Filta or the Franchisee’s business;

•

The Franchisee is also obliged to purchase from Filta cartridges for the MFU;

•

The Franchisee is obliged to provide various insurance, financial and accounting records to Filta;
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•

The Franchisee must agree to indemnify and keep indemnified Filta against all loss, damage, liability,
legal fees and costs incurred arising from any act, neglect or default of the Franchisee, their agents or
employees. In addition, the Franchisee must agree to indemnify Filta against any and all claims
brought against Filta by any NCA arising from the Franchisee’s breach of contract or negligence;

•

The Franchisee is obliged to take out and maintain relevant insurance and public liability insurance;

•

The Franchisee must not actively engage in its business outside the defined territory and any such
enquiries must be passed on to Filta forthwith. The franchise agreement contains various restrictions
on use by the Franchisee of intellectual property and confidential information owned by Filta. The
Franchisee expressly acknowledges under the terms of the agreement that Filta is the owner of all
intellectual property rights in the MFU and that any goodwill and all other rights in and associated
with the Filta trademarks will at all times remain vested in Filta;

•

Under the terms of the agreement, if the Franchisee wishes to sell, transfer or assign his business, Filta
has the first right of refusal to accept the offer for sale. If Filta does not take up its right it is entitled
to a commission on the purchase price of the Franchisee’s business on any sale; and

•

The agreement contains extensive termination rights in favour of Filta.

Filta currently has contractual agreements in place with seven international Franchise Owners in Costa Rica,
Benelux, Germany, Greece, Hungary, Portugal and South Africa. The franchise agreements for these
international Franchise Owners are broadly on the same terms as the summary set out above.
Growth Strategy
The Group’s core growth strategy is based upon increasing the repeat revenues of the business; this is
principally by growing revenue from the Fryer Management services division.
The Directors’ key growth strategies for the Fryer Management services division are the following:
•

increasing the number of Franchise Owners, especially within the US and new markets like Canada
and certain European countries;

•

increasing the number of customers serviced by Franchise Owners, especially through higher
penetration of existing NCAs and new NCAs secured by the Group. The Directors estimate that
Franchise Owners only service 11 per cent. of its three largest US NCAs; and

•

increasing the range of services sold by Franchise Owners to customers, including FiltaBio, FiltaGold
and FiltaCool.

The Group is in the process of launching two new services and products over the coming months. In the US,
it is in the process of launching a new kitchen service to sell through its Franchise network to customers,
FiltaDrain, which is a weekly foaming service to kitchens for keeping their drains clear and grease traps free
of grease. In the UK, the Group is in the process of launching FiltaZyme through its company owned FitaSeal vans which provides drip systems to assist commercial kitchens in keeping their drains clear and grease
traps free of grease.
Market and Competition
Owners and operators of commercial kitchens have traditionally used their own employees to clean and
maintain their fryers and/or dispose of waste cooking oil. The Directors believe that the outsourcing of these
Fryer Management tasks is a relatively new development in the relevant industries; however the Directors
also believe that owners and operators of commercial kitchens are increasingly willing to outsource their
Fryer Management services due to the benefits that such a service provides at a relatively low cost.
In the US, the Group’s key growth market, the Directors estimate that there are approximately 625,000 food
service businesses. With a high demand for fried food in the US, each commercial kitchen generally has a
higher number of fryers than the UK; the Directors believe that the Group has significant opportunity in the
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US market, where it currently services approximately 3,600 food service businesses. The Directors estimate
there are over 75,000 food service businesses that would benefit from the FiltaFry service in the UK, where
it only services approximately 1,200 food service businesses.
Whilst FiltaFry will continue to be the main driver of the Group, the Directors believe there is a large market
need for the additional services that the Group offers both within its existing customer base and potential
new customers.
Although the Directors are aware of local competitors that purport to offer micro filtration of cooking oil,
they are not aware of any competitors in the UK or US with national scope to offer the range of onsite Fryer
Management Services that are provided by Filta and its Franchise Owners, but such competitors may exist
or arise and compete in the future.
Key Strengths
The Directors believe that the key strengths of the Group are as follows:
•

strong recurring revenue stream and cash generation;

•

significant organic growth opportunities, especially through the expansion of Fryer Management
services with existing Franchise Owners and the cross selling of existing and new products and
services;

•

significant new Fryer Management service franchise sales opportunities within the US and new
markets, such as Canada and Europe;

•

significant addressable markets within commercial kitchens and corporates which rely on
refrigeration units;

•

strong financial and growth track record; and

•

an entrepreneurial and experienced management.

Historical Combined Financial Information
The table below sets out a summary of the Historical Combined Financial Information of the Filta Group for
the three years ended 31 December 2015. This information has been extracted without material adjustment
from the Historical Combined Financial Information contained in Part III(D) “Historical Combined
Financial Information” of this document.
Year ended
31 December
2013
£
Revenue
Cost of sales

6,288,972
(3,338,823)
–––––––––
2,950,149
9,627
(56,660)
(2,767,685)
–––––––––
135,431
51,850

Gross profit
Other income
Distribution costs
Administrative expenses
Profit from operations
Profit attributable to owners of the Filta Group

Year ended
31 December
2014
£
6,601,751
(3,749,041)
–––––––––
2,852,710
24,747
(130,455)
(2,437,270)
–––––––––
309,732
185,094

Year ended
31 December
2015
£
7,925,272
(4,207,619)
–––––––––
3,717,653
36,177
(83,799)
(3,220,040)
–––––––––
449,991
302,210

Jason Sayers and Victor Clewes have historically withdrawn any excess operating cash generated by Filta,
Inc. through one-off annual bonus payments which have been recognised within the administrative expenses
of the Filta Group. These payments totalled £0.2 million in the year ended 31 December 2013, £0.2 million
in the year ended 31 December 2014 and £0.7 million in the year ended 31 December 2015. In addition to
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the bonuses paid to Jason Sayers and Victor Clewes by Filta Inc., the Directors have identified certain oneoff expenses which will not recur going forward.
The table below shows the profit from operations for the Filta Group, depreciation, amortisation, EBITDA
and adjusted EBITDA. The adjusted EBITDA excludes one-off expenses relating to annual bonus payments
and expenses paid by the Filta Group which the Directors believe will be non-recurring. This information
has been extracted without material adjustment from the Historical Combined Financial Information
contained in Part III(B) “Historical Combined Financial Information” of this document, apart from the
expenses relating to annual bonus payments and non-recurring expenses paid by the Filta Group which have
been extracted from unaudited management accounts for the period.

Profit from operations
Depreciation
Amortisation
EBITDA
Non-recurring annual bonus payments
and expenses
Adjusted EBITDA

6 month
period ended
30 June
2016
£

Year ended
31 December
2013
£

Year ended
31 December
2014
£

Year ended
31 December
2015
£

135,431
83,955
21,709
––––––––
241,095

309,732
73,393
38,757
––––––––
421,882

449,991
90,257
53,866
––––––––
594,114

(192,931)
17,947
20,905
––––––––
(154,079)

237,000
––––––––
478,095
––––––––

291,000
––––––––
712,882
––––––––

838,000
––––––––
1,432,114
––––––––

872,000
––––––––
717,921
––––––––

The Filta Group experienced strong growth in its Fryer Management services division in the three-year
period, principally in the US. This growth was attributable to growth in all Fryer Management services key
performance indicators, including total number of franchises; average number of MFUs with franchises and
average revenue per van. The Filta Group also benefited from a substantial increase in revenue attributable
to the Filta Group’s other Fryer Management services, including FiltaBio and FiltaCool and a growth in the
number of NCA branches using the Filta Group’s services.
During the three years ended 31 December 2015, the Filta Group has experienced higher growth in the US
than the UK. For the year ended 31 December 2015, 61.9 per cent. of the Filta Group’s revenue and 84.6 per
cent. of the Filta Group’s gross profit was from the US.
Accounting Policies and Revenue Recognition
The Historical Combined Financial Information of the Filta Group has been prepared in accordance with
International Financial Reporting Standards, International Accounting Standards and Interpretations as
adopted by the European Union (collectively IFRSs). The Historical Combined Financial Information on the
Filta Group, along with the accounting policies of the Filta Group, are set out in Part III(B) “Historical
Combined Financial Information”.
The Group recognises revenue according to the substance and legal form of the contract with its customers.
Revenue is recognised once a legally binding contract between the Group and its customers has been
established and the delivery of the product or service has been completed. Revenues are accrued or deferred
based on the length of time through the contract and are consistently applied across all customers and
contracts. All amounts are stated exclusive of VAT.
Royalties are recognised as earned with an appropriate provision for estimated uncollectible amounts, which
is included in operating expenses.
Supplies and other revenues are recognised when the product or service is delivered or shipped to customers.
Provision for discounts and rebates to customers, estimated returns and allowances, and other adjustments
are provided for in the same period in which the related sales are recorded.
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Accumulated Losses
The Filta Group had accumulated losses of £2.4 million as at 1 January 2013. Of these accumulated losses
£1.4 million related to IFRS adjustments in converting the Historical Financial Information from local
GAAP to IFRS. In addition, the Directors were paid an aggregate £0.5 million bonus between 2010 and
2012. The Directors stated that the remaining accumulated losses of £0.5 million principally relate to
operating losses prior to 1 January 2013.
As set out in the Historical Combined Financial Information contained in Part III(D) “Historical Combined
Financial Information” the Filta Group had accumulated losses of £2.4 million as at 31 December 2013, £2.2
million as at 31 December 2014 and £1.9 million as at 31 December 2015. The Board expects the
accumulated losses to be extinguished in due course by future profits.
Current Trading and Prospects
The Group is currently trading in line with management expectations for the financial year ending
31 December 2016.
The Historical Combined Interim Financial Information for the six months ended 30 June 2016 is set out in
Part III, Section E. A commentary on this financial information is set out below:
•

For the first six months of the financial year, the Group experienced 22.4 per cent. like for like revenue
growth over 2015 and a more significant 39.4 per cent. increase over like for like revenue over the
same period in 2014. Revenue growth has primarily been driven by improved performance in Fryer
Management Services and company owned operations, being primarily Fita-Seal and Filta
Refrigeration.

•

New Filta franchise starts of 9 for the first six months of 2016 were below the like for like historic
level in 2014 (12) and 2015 (13). Although there was a slow start to the year, the Group saw an
increase in franchise development in June 2016 and has good momentum in this revenue segment
going into the second half of the financial year. Moreover, improved revenue in the remaining
operating segments more than offset the decline in revenues from franchise developments. Fryer
Management Service revenue grew 29 per cent. to £2.8 million during the first six months of 2016
supported by the addition of 15 new MFUs to the existing Filta Franchise Owners network.
Additionally, FiltaBio revenue of £0.7 million has experienced rapid growth increasing £0.3 million
or 100 per cent. over the corresponding period in 2015.

•

Revenue for Group owned operations, primarily being Fita-Seal and Filta Refrigeration, ended the
first six months of 2016 at £1.3 million, a 27 per cent. improvement over the previous period, due
mainly to higher volumes.

•

Group gross profit margin for the first six months of the year of 43 per cent. is down marginally on
the prior period due to the revenue mix, as set out above.

•

Adjusted EBITDA together with the change in deferred revenue, being £1.0 million, for the first six
months of the year grew by 43 per cent. like for like from £0.7 million to £1.0 million.

•

The Group had net cash as at 30 June 2016 of £1.2 million, which is a 20 per cent. increase over cash
as at 30 December 2015. The Group paid to Jason Sayers and Victor Clewes one-off bonuses of
£0.2 million during the six month reporting period. A further payment to Jason Sayers and Victor
Clewes has been made post period end of £0.6 million, as set out in the Unaudited Pro Forma
Financial Information in Part IV of this document.

Trading results for July and preliminary results for August combined with those for the first half of 2016
continue to reflect double digit revenue growth through the first eight months of the fiscal year. Despite
slower new franchise revenue, as discussed above, Fryer Management Services and Group owned operations
continue to grow strongly. The marginal decline in gross profit to 43 per cent experienced in the first six
months of 2016 has remained flat through August 2016. Finally, the financial results through to August 2016
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continue to reflect strong Adjusted EBITDA growth, in particular, the preliminary results for the month of
August reflected a significant improvement over August 2015.
The Group’s net cash at 31 August 2016 is down only marginally from the 30 June 2016 balance despite the
post period end cash payment of £0.6 million, as described above.
Foreign exchange rates can significantly impact the Group’s financial performance due to a majority of the
Group’s earnings being from the US. Following the recent fall in the value of sterling against the US dollar,
the Directors expect the Group’s reported results to benefit from a stronger dollar in the second half of the
current financial year if the exchange rate remains at current levels. As at the date of this document the dollar
to sterling exchange rate is approximately $1: £0.82.
Industry and Geographical Regulations
The Company seeks to maintain the highest standard in the services offered directly or by its Franchise
Owners. The Company is a member of the British Franchise Association (BFA), International Franchise
Association (IFA), Safe Contractor Approved and is ISO 9001 Registered.
In the US certain states and municipalities have laws and regulations for the transport, storage and disposal
of waste cooking oil. These regulations require, inter alia, licensing, inspections, special equipment,
notification of spills, spill contingency plans and bills of lading to track the waste oil. It is the responsibility
of Franchise Owners within the US to comply with these general federal and state laws and regulations,
including health sanitation, food handling and waste disposal laws. The Filta Group, Inc. has waste oil
storage capacity at its Orlando facility and complies with all relevant laws.
In the US, The Filta Group, Inc. is required to publish and file annually a Franchise Disclosure Document
(“FDD”) which is presented to prospective buyers of franchises in the pre-sale disclosure process. The FDD
discloses extensive information about the franchisor and the franchise organisation which is intended to give
both existing and potential franchisees information about the Filta Group, Inc. and the Group going forward.
Information included within the FDD includes details on the Filta Group, Inc, litigation history of the Group,
fees and expenses associated with the Filta franchise, obligations of the franchisor and franchisee and
financial performance representations and statements. The Group has historically filed its FDD in the second
quarter of each calendar year. The Directors do not anticipate the FDD containing price sensitive information
on the Group but are committed to notifying all Shareholders upon publication and notifying them of where
copies are available.
In the UK, the Group is not required to publish or file any such documentation.
Reasons for the Placing and Use of Proceeds
The Company is raising approximately £6.2 million gross in the Placing.
The proceeds of the Placing and Admission will assist the Company in achieving its growth aspirations. Of
the gross proceeds receivable by the Company, £2.9 million will be used to enter into new local markets
(including Canada and Europe), expand into new product markets including drains and grease trap solutions
(FiltaDrain and FiltaZyme) and as general working capital.
The remaining funds raised under the Placing will be used to repay approximately £0.6 million of debt owed
to Roy Sayers and Roscoe Urosevic and to pay fees associated with the Placing and Admission. In addition,
the Selling Shareholder is raising approximately £1.9 million gross in the Placing.
The Directors believe that the Placing and Admission will:
•

strengthen the Company’s balance sheet;

•

raise the profile of the Group;

•

enable the Group to recruit, retain and incentivise staff; and
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•

better position the Company to move into new markets, including into Canada and mainland Europe,
and to take advantage of acquisition opportunities for growth as they arise.

Dividend Policy
It is the Board’s current intention that approximately 30 per cent. of the Group’s post-tax profits per annum
will be paid to Shareholders as a dividend. The Directors believe that this represents an attractive, progressive
and sustainable dividend policy, having regard to the anticipated amount of the Group’s distributable profits
and funds required to finance future growth.
The Directors may amend the dividend policy of the Company from time to time and the above statement
regarding the Board’s dividend policy should not be construed as any form of profit forecast or projection.
The Director’s current intention is that the Company will declare a maiden dividend alongside the full year
results of the Company for the year ending 31 December 2016. In order to enable the payment of dividend,
the Board intends to apply to the Court to cancel the share premium on the Existing and New Ordinary
Shares thereby creating a pool of reserves which will be available to pay dividends. This distributable reserve
will be supplemented by any distributable profits built up in the Subsidiaries once accrued historic trading
losses have been extinguished by future profits.
Directors and Key Personnel
At Admission, the Board will comprise four executive directors and three non-executive directors. The
biographical details of the Board are set below:
Executive Directors
Jason Sayers, Chief Executive, age 45
Jason Sayers earned a Degree in European Business Systems (majoring in Systems Analysis) at London
Guildhall University, graduating in 1993. Jason founded the Filta business in the UK in 1996. In 2003, Jason
moved to Florida to found the Filta US business and to help manage its growth.
Jason is responsible for day-to-day management decisions and for implementing the Company’s long and
short term plans.
Brian Hogan, Group Chief Financial Officer and Director, age 51
Brian Hogan is a senior financial executive with 30 years of financial experience. Brian received a degree in
Accounting from the University of Rhode Island in 1986 and an MBA from Providence College.
Additionally, he was granted a Certified Public Accountants license by the state of Rhode Island. Brian began
his career with Clune, Chatellier & Morriseau, CPA’s as a staff auditor providing both audit and tax services.
He spent six years with Andersen Distribution as their Corporate Controller where he played a leading role
in the acquisition of their largest competitor in the market, and the next three years based in Asia as a Vice
President of Finance for Amkor Technology where he had responsibility for Amkor’s joint venture with
Toshiba and led their Sarbanes-Oxley initiatives. Brian returned to North America in 2005 and has since held
both Vice President of Finance and Chief Financial Officer roles. His most recent role was with Cobalt
Capital Inc., an Ontario, Canada based private equity firm, where he spent the last six years as their Chief
Financial Officer responsible for acquisition due diligence, financing and post acquisition integration. Brian
joined the Company in 2016.
Brian manages the finance function and is responsible for the preparation of management accounts and
forecasts.
Victor Clewes, Executive Director, age 59
Victor Clewes began his career as a land and property buyer for CCHA Housing Association. Victor formed
Emerson Richards estate agency and financial services company in 1987. This led to the founding of the first
high street mortgage broking chain, The Mortgage Advice Shops. The locations were franchised throughout
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the UK and Ireland. In 1996 Victor joined as Managing Director of the Company, alongside Jason Sayers, to
develop Filta from inception through a franchise business model in the UK and master licences in other
countries. In 2002 Victor relocated to Orlando, Florida to spearhead the growth of the Filta brand throughout
North America.
Victor manages Franchise Sales for the US and is involved in strategic decision making in the US.
Roscoe Urosevic, Executive Director, age 63
Roscoe Urosevic began his career as an Area and Regional Manager for TNT. Following his time at TNT,
Roscoe worked as a managing director of a number of medium sized parcels companies ending up as
Midlands Regional Director for Lynx Express Ltd, which turned over £85 million at that time. Roscoe joined
Filta in 1999.
Following the re-location of Jason Sayers and Victor Clewes to the US in 2002 and 2003, Roscoe was
appointed Managing Director of the UK operations within the Group.
Roscoe manages Sales and Operations functions for all UK businesses.
Non-Executive Directors
Tim Worlledge, FCA, Non-Executive Chairman, age 64
Tim is a director of Evolution Securities China Limited, a UK-based advisory business providing corporate
finance advice to companies investing into and out of China and management support services to small UKlisted companies. He has worked in financial services for some 30 years, including as Head of Corporate
Finance at each of Evolution Group Limited and Williams de Broe Limited during that time. He qualified as
a Chartered Accountant with Whinney Murray (now Ernst & Young) and has experience of working with
both very large companies and small listed companies. He was also, for 6 years, a director of the Quoted
Companies Alliance, an independent body which promotes the interests of small listed companies.
Graham Woolfman, Independent Non-Executive Director, age 59
Graham is a director of Intrust Corporate Finance Limited a UK based corporate finance advisory firm,
specialising in European clientele, and was previously a founder director of Gateway VCT Plc, a UK Venture
Capital Trust, and Managing Partner of its investment adviser. Graham is a Chartered Accountant, was a
Partner and Head of the Corporate Finance division within Levy Gee, and has over 25 years’ experience in
corporate finance and working with fast growth and owner managed companies. Graham’s investment
management, financial stewardship and Board activities have included companies across a range of sectors,
including technology related, general service based, renewable energy and financial services sectors.
Graham is a director of a number of private companies, and has served as a director of public quoted and
listed companies.
Roy Sayers, Non-Executive Director, age 73
Roy Sayers studied Mechanical and Civil Engineering and joined civil engineers Wm Old Ltd in London in
1958 as a site engineer, gaining experience in the construction of roads, bridges, subways, tunnels and
drainage etc. Roy later moved to Taylor Woodrow Construction as site engineer on construction of the first
cargo tunnel at Heathrow Airport. In 1968, with a partner, he formed Hare and Sayers Limited, a civil
engineering company. The company carried out both local authority and private contracts covering roads,
bridges and drainage including site preparation and infrastructure for major property developers. Since 1985,
Roy has been actively working in property development and in the building and management of nursing
homes.
Remuneration and Share Option Schemes
The Group operates a discretionary bonus scheme for its salaried staff. The scheme is continuously reviewed
on an annual basis and is subject to review by the Executive Directors and the Remuneration Committee as
appropriate.
The Board intends to grant options to certain Directors and senior management of the Group, exercisable at
the Placing Price, during the twelve months following Admission.
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Corporate Governance
On Admission, the Company will not comply with any corporate governance code.
The UK Corporate Governance Code published by the Financial Reporting Council does not apply to AIM
companies. However, the Directors recognise the importance of good corporate governance and will comply
with the provisions of the Corporate Governance Guidelines for Smaller Quoted Companies, published from
time to time by the Quoted Companies Alliance, to the extent that they believe it is appropriate in light of
the size, stage of development and resources of the Company.
The Company has adopted, and will operate a share dealing code for Directors and other applicable
employees under equivalent terms to those provided by Rule 21 of the AIM Rules for Companies. The Board
has established an Audit Committee and a Remuneration Committee, with formally delegated duties and
responsibilities as described below.
(a)

Audit Committee
The Audit Committee will have the primary responsibility of monitoring the quality of internal
controls and ensuring that the financial performance of the Group is properly measured and reported
on. It will receive and review reports from the Group’s management and external auditors relating to
the interim and annual accounts and the accounting and internal control systems in use throughout the
Group. The Audit Committee will meet not less than twice in each financial year and will have
unrestricted access to the Group’s external auditors. At Admission, the Audit Committee will be
chaired by Graham Woolfman and also include Tim Worlledge and Roy Sayers.

(b)

Remuneration Committee
The Remuneration Committee will consist of a committee chaired by Tim Worlledge and will also
include Graham Woolfman and Roy Sayers. The Remuneration Committee will review the
performance of the executive directors and make recommendations to the Board on matters relating
to their remuneration and terms of service. The Remuneration Committee will also make
recommendations to the Board on proposals for the granting of share options and other equity
incentives pursuant to any employee share option scheme or equity incentive plans in operation from
time to time. The Remuneration Committee will meet as and when necessary. In exercising this role,
the Directors shall have regard to the recommendations put forward in the UK Corporate Governance
Code and the QCA Corporate Governance Code for Small and Mid-size Quoted Companies 2013.

(c)

Share Dealing Code
The Board intends to comply, and to procure compliance, with Rule 21 of the AIM Rules relating to
dealings in the Company’s securities by the Directors and other applicable employees. To this end, the
Company has adopted a code for dealings by directors and other applicable employees appropriate for
a company whose shares are admitted to trading on AIM and will take all reasonable steps to ensure
compliance by the Directors and any other applicable employees.

The Placing and Admission
On Admission the Company will have 26,952,659 Ordinary Shares in issue and a market capitalisation of
approximately £22.4 million. Cenkos has agreed, pursuant to the Placing Agreement and conditional, inter
alia, on Admission, to use its reasonable endeavours to place 5,190,499 New Ordinary Shares and 2,279,380
Existing Ordinary Shares with institutional and other investors. The Placing will raise, in total, £4.3 million
gross for the Company and £1.9 million gross for the Selling Shareholder.
The Placing, which is not being underwritten, is conditional, inter alia, upon:
•

the Placing Agreement becoming unconditional and not having been terminated in accordance with
its terms prior to Admission; and

•

Admission becoming effective not later than 4 November 2016, or such later date as Cenkos and the
Company may agree, being not later than 30 November 2016.

23

The Placing Shares will rank pari passu in all respects with the Ordinary Shares including the right to receive
all dividends and other distributions declared, paid or made after the date of issue or transfer (as applicable).
None of the Placing Shares have been marketed to or will be made available in whole or in part to the public
in conjunction with the application for Admission. Application has been made to the London Stock
Exchange for the Ordinary Shares to be admitted to trading on AIM. Admission is expected to become
effective and dealings in the Ordinary Shares issued and to be issued are expected to commence on
4 November 2016.
Further details of the Placing Agreement are set out in paragraph 11 of Part V of this document.
Lock-In Agreements
Other than pursuant to Placing Shares subscribed for by Directors in the Placing, each of the Directors and
certain Shareholders have undertaken not to sell, transfer or dispose of any Ordinary Shares held by them at
Admission for a period of 24 months following Admission. These restrictions are subject to certain
exceptions including any sale or disposal with the prior consent of Cenkos.
At Admission, these restrictions will apply in respect of 19,482,780 Ordinary Shares representing 72.3 per
cent. of the issued Ordinary Share capital.
Relationship Agreement
Roy Sayers is the settlor of the Meredian Settlement Trust and, together with his wife, Dawn Sayers, is a
trustee of the Trust. Jason Sayers is a life tenant of the Trust and, together with Dawn Sayers (his mother),
is the beneficiary of the Trust. Jason Sayers and Roy Sayers are together beneficially interested in the
Ordinary Shares held by the Trust, with Roy Sayers’ interest being deemed beneficial due to his marriage to
Dawn Sayers.
On Admission the Meredian Settlement Trust, Roy Sayers and Jason Sayers will together hold 13,376,840
Ordinary Shares, representing 49.6 per cent. of the issued Ordinary Share capital.
Due to the number of Ordinary Shares held by the Meredian Settlement Trust, Roy Sayers and Jason Sayers
at Admission, the parties have agreed to enter into a Relationship Agreement with the Company pursuant to
which they agree that, so long as they remain controlling shareholders, the Company will be capable of
carrying on its business independently of the Meredian Settlement Trust, Roy Sayers and Jason Sayers and
that all future transactions between the Company and the Meredian Settlement Trust, Roy Sayers and Jason
Sayers will be at arms’ length and on a normal commercial basis.
Application of the Takeover Code and Concert Party
Upon Admission, the City Code will apply to the Company.
The Takeover Panel is an independent body whose main functions are to issue and administer the City Code
and to supervise and regulate takeovers and other matters to which the City Code applies in accordance with
the rules set out in the City Code. The City Code is designed to ensure that shareholders are treated fairly
and are not denied an opportunity to decide on the merits of a takeover and that shareholders of the same
class are afforded equivalent treatment by an offeror. The City Code also provides an orderly framework
within which takeovers are conducted. In addition, it is designed to promote, in conjunction with other
regulatory regimes, the integrity of the financial markets.
Under Rule 9 of the City Code, any person who acquires an interest (as defined in the City Code) in shares
which, taken together with shares in which he is already interested and in which persons acting in concert
with him are interested, carry 30 per cent. or more of the voting rights of a company which is subject to the
City Code, is normally required to make a general offer to all the remaining shareholders to acquire their
shares.
Similarly, when any person, together with persons acting in concert with him, is interested in shares which
in aggregate carry not less than 30 per cent. of the voting rights of such a company but does not hold shares
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carrying more than 50 per cent. of such voting rights, a general offer will normally be required if any further
interests in shares are acquired by any such person.
Unless the Takeover Panel otherwise consents, an offer under Rule 9 of the City Code must be made to all
other shareholders, be in cash (or have a cash alternative) at the highest price paid by the person required to
make the offer, or any person acting in concert with him, for any interests in shares of the company during
the 12 months prior to the announcement of the offer and cannot be conditional on anything other than the
securing of acceptances which will result in the offeror and persons acting in concert with him holding shares
carrying more than 50 per cent. of the voting rights.
For the purposes of the City Code, a concert party arises where persons acting in concert pursuant to an
agreement or understanding (whether formal or informal) co-operate to obtain or consolidate control of that
company or to frustrate the successful outcome of an offer for the company. Control means a single holding,
or aggregate holdings, of interests in shares carrying 30 per cent. or more of the voting rights of the company,
irrespective of whether the holding or holdings give de facto control.
In relation to the Company, a concert party made up of Jason Sayers, Roy Sayers and the Meredian
Settlement Trust is currently interested in approximately 58.1 per cent. of the voting rights of the Company.
Following Admission, the concert party will hold 13,376,840 Ordinary Shares, representing 49.6 per cent. of
the issued shared share capital.
Further details on Jason Sayers, Roy Sayers and the Meredian Settlement Trust are set out in this Part I and
paragraph 7 of Part V of this document.
Settlement and CREST
Application has been made for all of the Ordinary Shares to be eligible for admission to CREST with effect
from Admission. Accordingly, settlement of transactions in the Ordinary Shares following Admission may
take place in CREST if the relevant Shareholder so wishes. CREST is a paperless settlement procedure
enabling securities to be evidenced otherwise than by a share certificate and transferred otherwise than by
written instrument. The Articles permit the holding and transfer of Ordinary Shares under the CREST
system. CREST is a voluntary system and Shareholders who wish to receive and retain share certificates will
be able to do so. Persons acquiring shares as a part of the Placing may elect to receive Ordinary Shares in
uncertificated form if, but only if, that person is a “system-member” (as defined in the CREST Regulations)
in relation to CREST.
It is expected that, subject to the satisfaction of the conditions of the Placing, the Placing Shares will be
registered in the names of the placees subscribing for or purchasing (as applicable) them and issued either:
in certificated form, where the placee so elects, with the relevant share certificate expected to be dispatched
by post, at the placee’s risk, by/or in CREST, where the placee so elects and only if the placee is a “system
member” (as defined in the CREST Regulations) in relation to CREST, with delivery (to the designated
CREST account) of the Ordinary Shares subscribed for or purchased (as applicable) expected to take place
on 4 November 2016. Notwithstanding the election by placees as to the form of delivery of the Placing
Shares, no temporary documents of title will be issued. All documents or remittances sent by or to a placee,
or as they may direct, will be sent through the post at their risk. Pending the dispatch of definitive share
certificates (as applicable), instruments of transfer will be certified against the Company’s register of
members.
Taxation
Your attention is drawn to the taxation section contained in paragraph 13 of Part V of this document. If you
are in any doubt as to your tax position, you should consult your own independent financial adviser
immediately.
Further information
Your attention is drawn to the additional information set out in Part V of this document.
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PART II
RISK FACTORS
THE FOLLOWING FACTORS DO NOT PURPORT TO BE AN EXHAUSTIVE LIST OR
EXPLANATION OF ALL THE RISK FACTORS INVOLVED IN INVESTING IN FILTA. IN
PARTICULAR, FILTA’S PERFORMANCE MIGHT BE AFFECTED BY CHANGES IN MARKET
AND/OR ECONOMIC CONDITIONS AND IN LEGAL, REGULATORY AND TAX
REQUIREMENTS. ADDITIONALLY, THERE MAY BE RISKS OF WHICH THE BOARD IS NOT
AWARE OR BELIEVES TO BE IMMATERIAL WHICH MAY, IN THE FUTURE, ADVERSELY
AFFECT THE GROUP’S BUSINESS AND THE MARKET PRICE OF THE ORDINARY SHARES.
IN SUCH CASES, THE MARKET PRICE OF THE ORDINARY SHARES MAY DECLINE AND
HOLDERS OF ORDINARY SHARES MAY LOSE ALL OR PART OF THEIR INVESTMENT.
RISKS RELATING TO THE GROUP
Dependence on key individuals/management
Given the relatively small size of the Group, its future success is substantially dependent on a relatively small
number of people and the Directors, therefore, view the continued service of certain of its Directors, senior
management and other key personnel as important. The Directors believe that the ongoing service of Jason
Sayers is critical to the future prospects of the Company. While the Directors are taking steps to ensure that
knowledge, skills and expertise are shared so as to avoid the Group being unduly dependent on individuals,
they acknowledge that such measures may prove not to be effective if there were adverse circumstances
beyond the Group’s control affecting one or more key personnel.
In order to be able to develop, support and maintain its business, the Group must also recruit and retain
suitably qualified personnel. There is no assurance that it will always be able to do so on a timely basis.
The Filta business, its financial condition and results of operations could be affected by the
performance of, reputation of and developments affecting Franchise Owners that operate under Filta
franchise agreements
The Filta Group has 169 Franchise Owners who operate under Filta franchise agreements, principally within
the UK and US.
The Filta Group’s business, financial condition and results of operations could be affected by these owners’
performance under the franchise agreements, as well as the reputation of, and developments affecting, these
owners.
The Filta Group monitors its Franchise Owners’ performance, but does not have the direct authority to
require a franchisee to operate in a particular manner or to govern any particular aspect of the daily services
they provide. The Filta Group has limited ability to affect how franchisees are managed or to change the
method of operation of the Franchise Owners in the event of sub-standard operations or services. Filta does
however have the ability to terminate a franchise arrangement if certain operating obligations are not met by
a franchisee, and these operating obligations include best endeavours to promote and extend the franchisee’s
business, ensuring the availability of adequate finance to enable the full development of the franchisee’s
business and not being engaged or involved, directly or indirectly (including in any way assisting any third
parties to become so engaged or involved), in any business which competes with Filta or the Franchisee’s
business. However, should any franchisee’s revenue reduce through no fault of the Group, this may lead to
the franchisee seeking to return an MFU to the Group or closing their business which will lead to a reduction
in revenue for the Group.
As is typical with most franchise arrangements, as part of the contractual franchise arrangements put in
place, Franchise Owners are typically granted exclusivity rights to operate within a specific geographical
area. Such rights may be time dependent on the Franchise Owner meeting its obligations as set out in the
Filta franchise agreement. Should a Franchise Owner not meet its obligations pursuant to a Filta franchise
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agreement then certain provisions in favour of the Franchise Owner, such as exclusivity, may terminate. A
Franchise Owner may challenge such exclusivity and/or termination provisions, other than ordinary course
termination provisions or arrangements on termination, or a new franchisee may be accused of having
breached such exclusivity arrangements which may create adverse publicity or reduce any payments to Filta
it is due under its franchise arrangements.
As part of Filta’s franchise arrangements it provides training and an operations manual to all new Franchise
Owners. However, Filta does not operate the franchised business and as such it is difficult to control brand
integrity other than to monitor compliance with brand standards as set out in the Filta franchise agreements.
In addition, adverse publicity or other adverse developments that may affect Franchise Owners generally
may result in a material adverse effect on Filta’s reputation and, therefore, its business, financial condition
and results of operations.
Adverse media and internet commentary on the Group and/or the Filta Franchise opportunity
As is common with franchise companies the Group has historically on occasion suffered from adverse
comments made by Franchise Owners, especially on the internet and social media. The Directors take any
adverse comments made by Franchise Owners seriously and seek to minimise them by offering training and
business support. The Directors however recognise that certain Franchise Owners may be unsuccessful in
executing their business plan which may ultimately lead to the Franchise Owner suffering losses. Adverse
comments about the Group and/or the Filta Franchise may hinder the Group’s ability to recruit new
Franchise Owners in the future and/or attract customers to the Filta service.
Filta’s operating results depend on the reputation and awareness of the brand under which it operates
The Group’s reputation, in terms of the franchise and service it provides, the way in which it conducts its
business with Franchise Owners and customers and the financial results which it achieves are central to the
Group’s future success. Failure to meet the expectations of the customers, suppliers, Franchise Owners,
employees and shareholders and other business partners may have a material adverse effect on the Group’s
reputation. Specifically, any deterioration in the Group’s reputation or criticism of the brand may limit the
Group’s ability to secure new Franchise Owners and, therefore, limit the future growth of the Company.
Expansion into overseas and new markets
The Group plans to generate future growth through developing its existing business into other international
markets, including Canada and certain countries within Europe. Although the potential of these new markets
appear to be significant, there is the risk that the Group will be unable to achieve sales or profitability. There
is an additional risk that the legal and/or regulatory regimes of the countries prove to be costly. Additionally,
the time and money spent in penetrating new markets may cause disruption and harm to the Group’s existing
business.
Level of insurance carried by the Group
There can be no certainty that the Group’s insurance cover is adequate to protect against every eventuality
and the occurrence of an event for which the Group does not have adequate insurance cover could have a
material adverse effect on the Group. As part of Filta’s franchise arrangements, each Franchise Owner is
required to ensure they have adequate insurance cover for the services they undertake. The Group cannot be
certain that it may not become a party to any insurance claim made either directly against the Group or a
Franchise Owner.
The Group’s expenses include fixed costs, principally related to operating a franchise network
Certain of the Group’s costs are fixed and may not be easily reduced in the short term. Therefore, the Group
may not be able to reduce certain expenses promptly in response to any reduction in revenue. Should such a
revenue reduction occur and the Group be unable to reduce its fixed expenses accordingly, the Group’s
business, financial condition and results of operations would be materially adversely affected,
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Filta’s services and the services franchised by the Group carry a risk of hazard for either a Filta
employee or a Franchise Owner employee that can result in illness, personal injury or death, work
stoppage or serious damage to kitchen equipment which is the property of customers
Filta’s services and the services franchised by the Group are principally connected to the filtering of cooking
oil which is often heated to a high temperature. Dealing with heated oil involves an inherent risk of a hazard
such as explosion and fires. The hazards involved in operations can result in illness, personal injury or death,
work stoppage or serious damage to kitchen equipment owned by customers. To protect against certain
casualty and liability risks, the Group maintains an operations manual, undertakes extensive initial and
ongoing training of Franchise Owners and has built in safety features on its MFUs. In the event however that
there is illness, personal injury or death, work stoppage or serious damage to kitchen equipment owned by
customers it is likely to affect the reputation of Filta and/or a Franchise Owner and could lead to reduction
in revenue or the incurrence of cost, and could significantly affect the Group’s business, financial condition
and results of operations.
Certain Directors own a significant percentage of the Ordinary Shares. Following Admission, they will
be in a position to exert influence on the Group and their interests may differ from other Shareholders
Roy Sayers is the settlor of the Meredian Settlement Trust and, together with his wife, Dawn Sayers, is a
trustee of the Meredian Settlement Trust. Jason Sayers is a life tenant of the Meredian Settlement Trust and,
together with Dawn Sayers (his mother), is the beneficiary of the Meredian Settlement Trust. Jason Sayers
and Roy Sayers are together beneficially interested in the Ordinary Shares held by the Meredian Settlement
Trust, with Roy Sayers’ interest being deemed beneficial due to his marriage to Dawn Sayers.
Following Admission, the Meredian Settlement Trust, Roy Sayers and Jason Sayers will, together, hold
13,376,840 Ordinary Shares, representing 49.6 per cent. of the issued Ordinary Share capital. This
significant concentration of share ownership may adversely affect the market value of the Ordinary Shares
because investors may believe that there are disadvantages in owning shares in companies with controlling
shareholders. The Meredian Settlement Trust, Roy Sayers and Jason Sayers may have the ability to
determine the outcome of matters requiring shareholder approval, including any appointments to the Board
and significant corporate transactions. In addition, the interests of the Meredian Settlement Trust, Roy Sayers
and Jason Sayers may be different from the interests of the Group or other shareholders as a whole. This
control could also have the effect of delaying or preventing an acquisition or other change of control of the
Group.
As set out in Part I of this document, the Meredian Settlement Trust, Roy Sayers and Jason Sayers are, for
the purposes of the City Code, treated as a concert party.
Strategic factors, including the growth of Filta Franchisee businesses, may affect operations
The level of growth in revenues from the Group’s Franchise Owners will be a critical factor affecting profit
growth. The Group’s ability to increase revenue depends in part on the ability of Franchise Owners to grow
sales by offering a high level of service and by increasing the number of customers they provide their
services to. If the Group’s existing Franchise Owners do not increase sales in line with the Group’s targets,
it is possible that the Group will not achieve its targeted revenue growth or that a change in revenue may be
negative and could adversely impact on the Group’s overall profit growth and financial results.
Litigation risks
While Filta has no material outstanding litigation, there can be no guarantee that the current or future actions
of Filta will not result in litigation. Due to the inherent uncertainty of the litigation process, there can be no
assurance that the resolution of any particular legal proceedings will not have a material adverse effect on
Filta’s financial position or results of operations.
Filta historically has sought to defend its legal position in enforcing the terms of its Filta franchise
agreements. The Directors would expect to continue this policy in the future. Any new litigation where the
Company is a defendant or a claimant in the US is published in the Company’s annual US Franchise
Disclosure Document.
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Foreign exchange rate fluctuations may adversely affect the Group’s results from operations and
financial condition
The Group prepares its financial statements in pounds sterling, but a substantial proportion of the Group’s
income is expected to be received in US dollars. Furthermore, the Group expects to incur a significant
proportion of its expenditure in US dollars. To the extent that the Group’s foreign currency assets and
liabilities are not matched, fluctuations in exchange rates between pounds sterling and other currencies may
result in realised or unrealised exchange gains and losses on translation of the underlying currency into
pounds sterling that may increase or decrease the Group’s results from operations and may adversely affect
the Group’s financial condition. In addition, if the currencies in which the Group earns its revenues and/or
holds its cash balances weaken against the currencies in which it incurs its expenses, this could adversely
affect the Group’s profitability and liquidity. Where a substantial net foreign currency asset or liability exists,
the Group will consider hedging against it to minimise foreign currency exposure. However, the Company
currently does not undertake hedging, and, were it to do so, such hedging would be based on estimates of
liabilities and future revenues and may not fully eliminate the impact of future foreign currency exchange
fluctuations.
Reliance on key manufacturer
Filta is dependent on one key supplier who manufactures and supplies the MFU to the Group in both the UK
and US. The supplier is Environmental Technologies Limited (ETL). Filta has been connected to ETL for a
significant period of time as they assisted in the design and manufacturing of the original MFU in 1996. The
Directors do not believe it is necessary, based on the number of new MFUs ordered annually by the Group,
to engage with more than one MFU manufacturer, However, they are committed to regularly reviewing their
relationship with ETL. The Directors believe that in the event the Group’s relationship with ETL
deteriorated, they would be able to source another manufacturer to build the MFU in relatively short order
and with minimum disruption to the Group’s operations.
Change in consumer preference and perceptions
Food service businesses are affected by changes in consumer tastes, national, regional and local economic
conditions and demographic trends. Market perception of fried food may change which could impact on the
amount of frying undertaken by food service businesses and/or the continued trading success of the food
service businesses which the Group and its Franchise Owners service. Any reduction in the amount of fried
food produced or a deterioration in the financial performance of the food service businesses which the Group
and its Franchise Owners service is likely to adversely affect the Group’s business, financial conditions or
prospects.
In particular, an increasing number of government and media initiatives to create increased awareness of
healthy eating could impact on the public’s perception of fried food, which could adversely affect demand.
As the Group is primarily dependent on food service business production of fried food, if consumer demand
for fried food decreases demand for the Group’s and its franchisee services may well suffer more than it
would otherwise do if it had a more diversified service offering.
Fluctuations in Oil Commodity pricing
The Group has exposure to fluctuations in various cooking oil pricing, especially vegetable oils. If the price
of cooking oil decreases significantly it makes the services of FiltaFry less attractive to food service
businesses as the purchase of replacement oil is a viable alternative to filtering existing cooking oil. Further,
the Group through FiltaBio charges a commission based on the selling price of any waste cooking oil
collected and removed on behalf of food service customers. Therefore, if the price of cooking oil reduces the
amount of commission received by the Group will reduce.
Competition
The Directors consider that the main source of competition currently for the Group and Filta Franchise
Owners is single operator technicians who offer similar kitchen services to the Group and its Franchise
Owners. There is a risk that the Group’s future competitors may develop new services or enhancements
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which add more value to customer needs. This could lead to a drop in demand for Filta services. There is
also a risk that a national competitor emerges in fryer management, seal replacement and/or refrigeration
which could cause price reduction, a loss of market share and/or reduced gross and operating margins for
either the Group or its franchisees. In the event that there is a drop in demand for Filta services this could
impact both franchisee royalty and revenue from services supplied directly by the Group. These combined
factors could result in a material adverse effect on the Group’s business, financial condition or results of
operations. There are limited barriers to entry to certain services of the Group’s markets and it will likely
face additional competitors, in the UK, US and abroad, in the future as the demand for kitchen services
grows. Any increase in competition in the geographic markets that the Group operates could adversely affect
the Group’s business, financial conditions or prospects.
RISKS RELATING TO THE ORDINARY SHARES
Suitability
Investment in the Ordinary Shares may not be suitable for all prospective investors. Prospective investors are,
accordingly, advised to consult a person authorised under FSMA who specialises in investments of this
nature before making any investment decisions.
Dividends
The dividend policy of the Company is dependent upon its financial condition, cash requirements, future
prospects, profits available for distribution and other factors deemed to be relevant at the time and on the
continued health of the markets in which it operates. There can be no guarantee that the Company will pay
dividends in the foreseeable future.
Investment in AIM-traded securities
Investment in shares traded on AIM involves a higher degree of risk, and such shares may be less liquid, than
shares in companies which are listed on the Official List. The AIM Rules are less demanding than those of
the Official List. It is emphasised that no application is being made for the admission of the Company’s
securities to the Official List. An investment in the Ordinary Shares may be difficult to realise. Prospective
investors should be aware that the value of an investment in the Company may go down as well as up and
that the market price of the Ordinary Shares may not reflect the underlying value of the Group. Investors
may, therefore, realise less than, or lose all of, their investment.
Share price volatility and liquidity
The share price of quoted companies can be highly volatile and shareholdings can be illiquid. The price at
which the Ordinary Shares are quoted and the price which investors may realise their Ordinary Shares will
be influenced by a large number of factors, some specific to the Group and its operations and others which
may affect quoted companies generally. These factors could include the performance of the Group, large
purchases or sales of the Ordinary Shares, legislative changes and general economic, political, regulatory or
social conditions.
Access to further capital
The Group may require additional funds to respond to business challenges, to further expand the Group or
to enhance existing products and services. Accordingly, the Group may need to engage in equity or debt
financings to secure additional funds. If the Company raises additional funds through further issues of equity
or convertible debt securities, existing shareholders could suffer significant dilution, and any new equity
securities could have rights, preferences and privileges superior to those of current shareholders. Any debt
financing secured by the Group in the future could involve restrictive covenants relating to its capital raising
activities and other financial and operational matters, which may make it more difficult for the Group to
obtain additional capital and to pursue business opportunities, including potential acquisitions. In addition,
the Company may not be able to obtain additional financing on terms favourable to it, if at all. If the Group
is unable to obtain adequate financing or financing on terms satisfactory to it, when the Group requires it,
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the Group’s ability to continue to support its business growth and to respond to business challenges could be
significantly limited or could affect its financial viability.
Future sale of Ordinary Shares
The Company is unable to predict when and if substantial numbers of Ordinary Shares will be sold in the
open market following Admission. Any such sales, or the perception that such sales might occur, could result
in a material adverse effect on the market price of the Ordinary Shares. The Group may require additional
capital in the future which may not be available to it. The Company may raise capital in the future through
public or private equity financings or by raising debt securities convertible into Ordinary Shares, or rights to
acquire these securities. Any such issues may exclude the pre-emption rights pertaining to the then
outstanding shares. If the Company raises significant amounts of capital by these or other means, it could
cause dilution for the Company’s existing shareholders. Moreover, the further issue of Ordinary Shares could
have a negative impact on the trading price and increase the volatility of the market price of the Ordinary
Shares. The Company may also issue further Ordinary Shares, or create further options over Ordinary
Shares, as part of its employee remuneration policy, which could in aggregate create a substantial dilution in
the value of the Ordinary Shares and the proportion of the Company’s share capital in which investors are
interested.
There is no guarantee that the Company will maintain its quotation on AIM
The Company cannot assure investors that the Company will always retain a quotation on AIM. Additionally,
if in the future the Company decides to obtain a listing or quotation on another exchange in addition to AIM,
the level of liquidity of the Ordinary Shares trading on AIM could decline.
No prior trading market for Ordinary Shares
Prior to the admission to trading on AIM, there was no public market for the Ordinary Shares. There can be
no assurance that an active market for (and hence strong liquidity in the trading of) the Ordinary Shares will
develop upon the Company’s admission to trading on AIM, or if developed, that such market will be
sustained.
Forward-looking statements
Some of the statements in this document include forward-looking statements which reflect the Company’s
or, as appropriate, the Directors’ current views with respect to financial performance, business strategy, plans
and objectives of management for future operations (including development plans relating to the Group’s
business). These statements include forward-looking statements both with respect to the Group and the
sectors and industry in which the Group operates. All forward-looking statements address matters that
involve risks and uncertainties. Accordingly, there are or will be important factors that could cause the
Group’s actual results to differ materially from those indicated in these statements. These factors include, but
are not limited to, those described in this Part II of this document which should be read in conjunction with
the other cautionary statements that are included in this document. Any forward-looking statements in this
document reflect the Company’s or, as appropriate, the Directors’ current views with respect to future events
and are subject to these and other risks, uncertainties and assumptions relating to the Company’s operations,
results of operations, growth strategy and liquidity.
These forward-looking statements speak only as at the date of this document. Subject to any applicable
obligations, the Company undertakes no obligation to update publicly or review any forward-looking
statement, whether as a result of new information, future developments or otherwise, unless required by the
Prospectus Rules, AIM Rules and Disclosure and Transparency Rules, as appropriate. All subsequent written
and oral forward-looking statements attributable to the Company or individuals acting on behalf of the
Company are expressly qualified in their entirety by this paragraph. Prospective investors should specifically
consider the factors identified in this document which could cause actual results to differ before making an
investment decision.
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PART III
FINANCIAL INFORMATION
Section A: Accountant’s Report on the Historical Financial Information of the Company

The Directors
Filta Group Holdings Plc
The Locks
Hillmorton
Rugby
Warwickshire CV21 4PP
The Directors
Cenkos Securities Plc
6.7.8 Tokenhouse Yard
London EC2R 7AS
27 October 2016
Dear Sirs,
Introduction
We report on the financial information of Filta Group Holdings Plc (the “Company”) set out in Part III (B)
“Historical Financial Information of the Company” as at and for the period from incorporation on 31 March
2016 to 30 June 2016. This financial information has been prepared for inclusion in the Company’s AIM
Admission Document dated 27 October 2016 (the “Document”), on the basis of the accounting policies set
out in note 2 to the financial information. This report is required by paragraph (a) of Schedule Two to the
AIM Rules for Companies (the “AIM Rules”) and is given for the purposes of complying with the AIM Rules
and for no other purpose.
Responsibilities
The directors of the Company (the “Directors”) are responsible for preparing the financial information on
the basis of preparation set out in note 2 to the financial information and in accordance with International
Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the European Union (“IFRS”).
It is our responsibility to form an opinion on the financial information as to whether the financial information
gives a true and fair view, for the purposes of the Document and to report our opinion to you.
Save for any responsibility arising under Paragraph (a) of Schedule Two of the AIM Rules for Companies to
any person as and to the extent there provided, to the fullest extent permitted by law we do not assume any
responsibility and will not accept any liability to any person other than the addressees of this letter for any
loss suffered by any such person as a result of, arising out of, or in connection with this report or our
statement, required by and given solely for the purposes of complying with Paragraph (a) of Schedule Two
of the AIM Rules for Companies, consenting to its inclusion in the Document.
Basis of Opinion
We conducted our work in accordance with Standards of Investment Reporting issued by the Auditing
Practices Board in the United Kingdom. Our work included an assessment of evidence relevant to the
amounts and disclosures in the financial information. It also included an assessment of significant estimates
and judgments made by those responsible for the preparation of the financial statements underlying the
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financial information and whether the accounting policies are appropriate to the entity’s circumstances,
consistently applied and adequately disclosed.
We planned and performed our work so as to obtain all the information and explanations which we
considered necessary in order to provide us with sufficient evidence to give reasonable assurance that the
financial information is free from material misstatement, whether caused by fraud or other irregularity or
error.
Opinion
In our opinion, the financial information gives, for the purposes of the Document, a true and fair view of the
state of affairs of the Company as at the date stated and of the results, financial position, cash flows and
changes in equity for the period then ended in accordance with the basis of preparation set out in note 2 to
the financial information and has been prepared in accordance with IFRS.
Declaration
For the purposes of paragraph (a) of Schedule Two of the AIM Rules for Companies, we are responsible for
this report as part of the Document and declare that we have taken all reasonable care to ensure that the
information contained in this report is, to the best of our knowledge, in accordance with the facts and
contains no omission likely to affect its import. This declaration is included in the Document in compliance
with Paragraph (a) of Schedule Two of the AIM Rules.
Yours faithfully,

Crowe Clark Whitehill LLP
Chartered Accountants
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Section B: Historical Financial Information of the Company
Statement of Financial Position
The audited statement of financial position of the Company as at 30 June 2016 is stated below:
As at
30 June
2016
£
Assets
Current assets
Receivables

1
––––––––
1

Total assets

––––––––

Equity and liabilities
Capital and reserves
Share capital

1
––––––––
1
–
––––––––
1

Total equity attributable to equity holders
Total liabilities
Total equity and liabilities

––––––––
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Statement of Comprehensive Income
The audited statement of comprehensive income of the Company from the date of incorporation on 31 March
2016 to 30 June 2016 is stated below:

Note

Period ended
30 June
2016
£
–
–––––––––

Total comprehensive income attributable to equity owner
4

Earnings per share
Basic and diluted (£ per share)

–

–––––––––
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Statement of Changes in Equity
The audited statement of changes in equity of the Company for period from incorporation on 31 March 2016
to 30 June 2016 are set out below:
Share capital
£
On incorporation*
Result for the period

1
–
––––––––
1

As at 30 June 2016

––––––––

The share capital comprises the Ordinary Shares of the Company.
*Issued share capital was 1 share of £1 each.
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Statement of Cash Flows
The audited cash flow statement of the Company from the date of incorporation on 31 March 2016 to 30 June
2016 is set out below:
Period ended
30 June
2016
£
Operating activities
(Increase)/decrease in receivables
Financing activities
Proceeds from issue of share capital
Net cash from financing activities

(1)
1
–
––––––––
–
–

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period

––––––––
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL INFORMATION
1.

General Information

The Company is a newly-established company incorporated under the laws of the United Kingdom under the
Companies Act. The Company was incorporated on 31 March 2016. The Company’s registered number is
10095071 and its registered office is at The Locks, Hillmorton, Rugby, Warwickshire, England CV21 4PP.
The Company’s objective is that of a holding company.
This financial information has been prepared in accordance with IFRS. The standards have been applied
consistently (except as otherwise stated).
2.

Accounting Policies

Basis of preparation
The principal accounting policies adopted by the Company in the preparation of the financial information
are set out below.
The financial information has been presented in pound sterling, being the functional currency of the
Company.
The financial information has been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards
as adopted by the European Union (“IFRS”), including interpretations made by the International Financial
Reporting Interpretations Committee (IFRIC) issued by the International Accounting Standards Board
(IASB). The standards have been applied consistently.
Comparative figures
No comparative figures have been presented as the financial information covers the period from
incorporation on 31 March 2016 to 30 June 2016.
Standards and interpretations issued but not yet applied
A number of new standards and amendments to standards and interpretations have been issued but are not
yet effective and in some cases have not yet been adopted by the European Union.
The Directors do not expect that the adoption of these standards will have a material impact on the financial
statements of the Company in future periods, except that IFRS 9 will impact both the measurement and
disclosures of financial instruments, IFRS 15 may have an impact on revenue recognition and related
disclosures and IFRS 16 will have an impact on the recognition of operating leases. At this point it is not
practicable for the directors to provide a reasonable estimate of the effect of these standards as their detailed
review of these standards is still ongoing.
Financial assets
The Directors determine the classification of the Company’s financial assets at initial recognition.
Cash and cash equivalents
The Company considers any cash on short-term deposits and other short term investments to be cash
equivalents.
Receivables
The Company has classified the receivables as ‘loans and receivables’.
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Use of assumptions and estimates
In preparing the financial information, the Directors have to make judgments on how to apply the Company’s
accounting policies and make estimates about the future. The Directors do not consider there to be any
critical judgments that have been made in arriving at the amounts recognised in the financial information.
3.

Share capital

The Company was incorporated on 31 March 2016. On incorporation, the issued share capital of the
Company was £1, comprising 1 ordinary share of £1 which was issued to Jason Sayers.
4.

Earnings per share

The calculation for earnings per share (basic and diluted) for the relevant period is based on the profit after
income tax attributable to equity holder for the period from incorporation on 31 March 2016 to 30 June 2016
and is as follows:
Profit attributable to equity holders (£)
Weighted average number of shares*

–
1
––––––––
–

Earnings per share (£)
5.

––––––––

Financial Instruments – risk management

The Company is exposed through its operations to credit risk and liquidity risk. In common with all other
businesses, the Company is exposed to risks that arise from its use of financial instruments. This note
describes the Directors’ objectives, policies and processes for managing those risks and the methods used to
measure them. Further quantitative information in respect of these risks is presented throughout this financial
information.
Financial instruments
The carrying value of the financial instruments of the Company as at 30 June 2016 comprises £1 of
receivables.
General objectives, policies and processes
The Directors have overall responsibility for the determination of the Company’s risk management
objectives and policies. Further details regarding these policies are set out below:
Credit risk
The Company had receivables of £1 as at 30 June 2016. The maximum exposure to credit risk at the end of
each reporting period is the fair value of each class of receivables set out above. The Company held no
collateral as security.
Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk arises from the Directors’ management of working capital. It is the risk that the Company will
encounter difficulty in meeting its financial obligations as they fall due.
The Directors’ policy is to ensure that the Company will always have sufficient cash to allow it to meet its
liabilities when they become due. To achieve this aim, the Directors seek to maintain a cash balance
sufficient to meet expected requirements.
The Directors have prepared cash flow projections on a monthly basis through to 31 December 2017. At the
end of the period under review, these projections indicated that the Company expected to have sufficient
liquid resources to meet its obligations under all reasonably expected circumstances.
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6.

Capital risk management

The Directors’ objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the Company’s ability to continue as a
going concern in order to provide returns for Shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders and to
maintain an optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of capital. At the date of this financial information,
the Company had been financed by equity. In the future, the capital structure of the Company is expected to
consist of borrowings and equity attributable to equity holders of the Company, comprising issued share
capital and reserves
7.

Subsequent events

On 26 October 2016 Cookband Limited acquired the entire issued share capital of TFGL in consideration of
the issue, credited as fully paid, of 1,999,900 ordinary shares of £1.00 each in Cookband Limited to the then
shareholders in TFGL.
On 26 October 2016, the Company acquired the entire issued share capital of Cookband Limited in
consideration of the issue, credited as fully paid, of 2,176,216 Ordinary Shares of £1.00 each to the then
shareholders in Cookband Limited.
On 26 October 2016, the Company acquired the entire issued share capital of TFGL and The Filta Group,
Inc. from Cookband Limited for nil consideration.
On 26 October 2016, each Ordinary Share of £1 each in the capital of the Company was sub-divided into 10
New Ordinary Shares of 10 pence each.
8.

Nature of financial Information

The financial information presented above does not constitute statutory accounts for the period under review.
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Section C: Accountant’s Report on the Historical Combined Financial Information of the Filta Group

The Directors
Filta Group Holdings Plc
The Locks
Hillmorton
Rugby
Warwickshire CV21 4PP
The Directors
Cenkos Securities Plc
6.7.8 Tokenhouse Yard
London EC2R 7AS
27 October 2016
Dear Sirs
Introduction
We report on the audited financial information of The Filta Group Limited and its subsidiaries, combined
with those of Cookband Limited and its subsidiary, The Filta Group, Inc. (together the “Filta Group”) set out
in Part III(D) “Historical Combined Financial Information” as at and for the years ended 31 December 2013,
31 December 2014 and 31 December 2015. This financial information has been prepared for inclusion in
Filta Group Holdings plc’s (the “Company”) AIM Admission Document dated 27 October 2016 (the
“Document”), on the basis of the accounting policies set out in note 2 to the financial information. This
report is required by paragraph (a) of Schedule Two to the AIM Rules for Companies (the “AIM Rules”) and
is given for the purposes of complying with the AIM Rules and for no other purpose.
Responsibilities
The directors of the Company (the “Directors”) are responsible for preparing the financial information on
the basis of preparation set out in note 2 to the financial information and in accordance with International
Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the European Union (“IFRS”).
It is our responsibility to form an opinion on the financial information as to whether the financial information
gives a true and fair view, for the purposes of the Document and to report our opinion to you.
Save for any responsibility arising under Paragraph (a) of Schedule Two of the AIM Rules for Companies to
any person as and to the extent there provided, to the fullest extent permitted by law we do not assume any
responsibility and will not accept any liability to any person other than the addressees of this letter for any
loss suffered by any such person as a result of, arising out of, or in connection with this report or our
statement, required by and given solely for the purposes of complying with Paragraph (a) of Schedule Two
of the AIM Rules for Companies, consenting to its inclusion in the Document.
Basis of Opinion
We conducted our work in accordance with Standards of Investment Reporting issued by the Auditing
Practices Board in the United Kingdom. Our work included an assessment of evidence relevant to the
amounts and disclosures in the financial information. It also included an assessment of significant estimates
and judgments made by those responsible for the preparation of the financial statements underlying the
financial information and whether the accounting policies are appropriate to the entity’s circumstances,
consistently applied and adequately disclosed.
We planned and performed our work so as to obtain all the information and explanations which we
considered necessary in order to provide us with sufficient evidence to give reasonable assurance that the
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financial information is free from material misstatement, whether caused by fraud or other irregularity or
error.
Opinion
In our opinion, the financial information gives, for the purposes of the Document, a true and fair view of the
state of affairs of the Filta Group as at the date stated and of the results, financial position, cash flows and
changes in equity for the period then ended in accordance with the basis of preparation set out in note 2 to
the financial information and has been prepared in accordance with IFRS.
Declaration
For the purposes of paragraph (a) of Schedule Two of the AIM Rules for Companies, we are responsible for
this report as part of the Document and declare that we have taken all reasonable care to ensure that the
information contained in this report is, to the best of our knowledge, in accordance with the facts and
contains no omission likely to affect its import. This declaration is included in the Document in compliance
with Paragraph (a) of Schedule Two of the AIM Rules.
Yours faithfully

Crowe Clark Whitehill LLP
Chartered Accountants
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Section D: Historical Combined Financial Information for the Three Years ended 31 December 2013,
2014 and 2015 of the Filta Group
Combined statements of comprehensive income
The audited combined statements of comprehensive income of the Filta Group for each of the three years
ended 31 December 2013, 2014 and 2015 are set out below:

Note
3

Revenue
Cost of sales
Gross profit
Other income
Distribution costs
Administrative expenses
Profit from operations
Finance expenses

4
6

Profit before tax
Income tax expense

7

Profit attributable to owners of the Filta Group

Year ended
31 December
2013
£

Year ended
31 December
2014
£

Year ended
31 December
2015
£

6,288,972
(3,338,823)
–––––––––
2,950,149
9,627
(56,660)
(2,767,685)
–––––––––
135,431
(67,508)
–––––––––
67,923
(16,073)
–––––––––
51,850

6,601,751
(3,749,041)
–––––––––
2,852,710
24,747
(130,455)
(2,437,270)
–––––––––
309,732
(80,498)
–––––––––
229,234
(44,140)
–––––––––
185,094

7,925,272
(4,207,619)
–––––––––
3,717,653
36,177
(83,799)
(3,220,040)
–––––––––
449,991
(73,721)
–––––––––
376,270
(74,060)
–––––––––
302,210

19,357
–––––––––
71,207

(42,667)
–––––––––
142,427

(45,372)
–––––––––
256,838

71,207
–––––––––
71,207

142,427
–––––––––
142,427

256,838
–––––––––
256,838

0.24

0.85

1.39

––––––––– ––––––––– –––––––––

Other comprehensive income:
Items that may be subsequently reclassified
to profit or loss
Currency translation differences
Total comprehensive income for the year

––––––––– ––––––––– –––––––––

Attributable to:
Owners of the Filta Group
Total comprehensive income for the year
Pro-forma basic and diluted earnings per share
attributable to owners of the Filta Group (pence)

8

––––––––– ––––––––– –––––––––
––––––––– ––––––––– –––––––––

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the combined financial information.
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Combined statements of financial position
The audited combined statements of financial position of the Filta Group as at 31 December 2013, 2014 and
2015 are set out below:
31 December
2013
£

31 December
2014
£

31 December
2015
£

1,034,265
62,876
86,193
1,631
91,267
585,179
–––––––––
1,861,411
–––––––––

1,068,548
80,805
125,347
2,350
165,890
590,611
–––––––––
2,033,551
–––––––––

1,120,913
89,665
169,612
1,762
214,819
520,439
–––––––––
2,117,210
–––––––––

1,191,432
235,347
124,617
–––––––––
1,551,396
–––––––––
3,412,807

1,428,953
249,829
456,142
–––––––––
2,134,924
–––––––––
4,168,475

1,591,210
299,379
978,939
–––––––––
2,869,528
–––––––––
4,986,738

15
16
21

1,308,813
139,128
1,913,940
213,598
–
–––––––––
3,575,479
–––––––––

1,609,353
349,648
1,764,945
251,028
51,567
–––––––––
4,026,541
–––––––––

1,725,676
597,167
1,522,377
194,216
–
–––––––––
4,039,436
–––––––––

16

907,096
921,505
700
–––––––––
1,829,301
–––––––––
5,404,780

961,359
1,046,119
–
–––––––––
2,007,478
–––––––––
6,034,019

1,000,771
1,555,235
–
–––––––––
2,556,006
–––––––––
6,595,442

(1,991,973)

(1,865,544)

(1,608,704)

380,100
(2,385,267)
13,194
–––––––––
(1,991,973)

380,100
(2,216,171)
(29,473)
–––––––––
(1,865,544)

380,100
(1,913,958)
(74,846)
–––––––––
(1,608,704)

Note
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment
Intangible assets
Amounts due from related parties
Deposits
Trade receivables
Deferred tax assets

9
10
21
11
14

Total non-current assets
Current assets
Trade and other receivables
Inventories
Cash and cash equivalents

11
12
13

Total current assets
Total assets
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables
Borrowings
Amounts due to directors
Deferred income
Taxation

––––––––– ––––––––– –––––––––

Total current liabilities
Non-current liabilities
Borrowings
Deferred income
Other payables

Total liabilities

––––––––– ––––––––– –––––––––
––––––––– ––––––––– –––––––––

Net liabilities
Equity attributable to owners of the parent
Called up share capital
Accumulated losses
Translation reserve

18

Total equity

––––––––– ––––––––– –––––––––

44

Combined statements of changes in equity
The audited combined statements of changes in equity of the Filta Group for each of the three years ended
31 December 2013, 2014 and 2015 are set out below:
Share
capital
£
Equity as at 1 January 2013
Profit for the year
Other comprehensive income:
Foreign exchange translation differences
Equity at 31 December 2013
before acquisition
Amounts arising on acquisition
of subsidiary
Equity as at 31 December 2013
Profit for the year
Other comprehensive income:
Foreign exchange translation differences
Equity at 31 December 2014
before dividends
Dividends
Equity as at 31 December 2014
Profit for the year
Other comprehensive income:
Foreign exchange translation differences
Equity as at 31 December 2015

380,100
–
–
–––––––––

Accumulated
losses
£
(2,437,140)
51,850
–
–––––––––

Translation
reserve
£
–
–
13,194
–––––––––

Total
£
(2,057,040)
51,850
13,194
–––––––––

380,100

(2,385,290)

13,194

(1,991,996)

–
–––––––––
380,100

23
–––––––––
(2,385,267)

–
–––––––––
13,194

23
–––––––––
(1,991,973)

––––––––– ––––––––– ––––––––– –––––––––
–

185,094

–

185,094

–
–––––––––

–
–––––––––

(42,667)
–––––––––

(42,667)
–––––––––

380,100
–
–––––––––
380,100

(2,200,173)
(16,000)
–––––––––
(2,216,171)

(29,473)
–
–––––––––
(29,473)

(1,849,546)
(16,000)
–––––––––
(1,865,544)

––––––––– ––––––––– ––––––––– –––––––––
–

–
–––––––––
380,100

302,210
–
–––––––––
(1,913,958)

(45,373)
–––––––––
(74,846)

302,210
(45,372)
–––––––––
(1,608,704)

––––––––– ––––––––– ––––––––– –––––––––

Note:
Translation reserve
The translation reserve represents the cumulative foreign exchange differences arising from the translation of foreign operations.
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Combined statements of cash flows
The audited combined statements of cash flows of the Filta Group for each of the three years ended
31 December 2013, 2014 and 2015 are set out below:
Year ended
Year ended
Year ended
31 December 31 December 31 December
2013
2014
2015
£
£
£
Cash flows from operating activities
Profit before tax
Adjustments for:
Depreciation
Amortisation
Loss on sale of plant and equipment
Finance expenses

67,923

229,234

376,270

83,955
21,709
4,848
67,508
–––––––––
245,943

73,393
38,757
1,765
80,499
–––––––––
423,648

90,257
53,866
8,920
73,721
–––––––––
603,034

(89,137)
231,156
(331,629)
–––––––––
56,333
–
–––––––––
56,333

(14,482)
(352,014)
311,644
–––––––––
368,796
–
–––––––––
368,796

(49,550)
(254,865)
321,663
–––––––––
620,282
(54,369)
–––––––––
565,913

(233,511)
(56,583)

(69,061)
(55,046)

(179,923)
(60,271)

1,073
–––––––––
(289,021)

1,600
–––––––––
(122,507)

64,138
–––––––––
(176,056)

Net cash from financing activities

224,090
(67,508)
–
–––––––––
156,582

263,818
(79,747)
(16,000)
–––––––––
168,071

290,953
(69,961)
–
–––––––––
220,992

––––––––– ––––––––– –––––––––

Net change in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year
Effects of foreign currency exchange rate changes

(76,106)
165,234
32,489
–––––––––
121,617

414,360
121,617
(83,856)
–––––––––
452,121

610,849
452,121
(84,031)
–––––––––
978,939

Operating profit before working capital changes
Changes in working capital
Increase in inventories
(Increase)/decrease in trade and other receivables
Increase/(decrease) in trade and other payables
Cash flow generated from operations
Tax paid
Net cash flow from operating activities

––––––––– ––––––––– –––––––––

Investing activities
Purchase of property, plant and equipment
Purchase of intangible assets
Receipts from the sale of property,
plant and equipment
Net cash used in investing activities

––––––––– ––––––––– –––––––––

Financing activities
Net proceed from borrowings
Interest paid
Dividends paid

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year

––––––––– ––––––––– –––––––––
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1.

General information

The audited combined financial information represents the combined results of The Filta Group Limited
(“TFGL”) and its subsidiaries, combined with those of Cookband Limited and its subsidiary, The Filta
Group, Inc. (together referred to as the “Filta Group”).
TFGL is a company incorporated and domiciled in the UK. The registered office of TFGL is located at The
Locks, Hillmorton, Rugby, Warwickshire CV21 4PP.
Cookband Limited is a company incorporated and domiciled in the UK. The registered office is located at
8 Weir Court, Thames Street, Weybridge, Surrey KT13 8NQ.
The Filta Group, Inc. was formed in the State of Delaware in the United States.
The principal business of the Filta Group is the franchising of on-site environmental kitchen solutions to
restaurants, catering establishments and institutional kitchens. The services include microfiltration of
cooking oil, fryer cleaning, temperature calibration, waste oil disposal and specially designed filters for
refrigeration units and coolers. The Filta Group sells franchises and operates in the UK and the United States.
Filta Group Holdings plc, a company incorporated in England and Wales on 31 March 2016, entered into an
agreement to acquire the entire issued share capital of each of The Filta Group Limited and The Filta Group,
Inc. on 26 October 2016 from Cookband Limited for nil consideration. The reorganisation was effected by
way of share for share exchanges whereby each of The Filta Group Limited and The Filta Group, Inc. have
become a wholly-owned subsidiaries of Filta Group Holdings Plc.
2.

Accounting policies

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of the combined financial information are set
out below. These policies have been consistently applied to all years presented, unless otherwise stated.
Accounting convention
The historical financial information has been prepared on a going concern basis under the historical cost
convention. The combined financial information is presented in Pounds Sterling.
Basis of preparation
The historical financial information has been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the AIM Rules
for Companies for the purposes of the AIM admission document dated 27 October 2016 and represents
combined historical financial information for the Filta Group for each of the three years ended 31 December
2015.
The combined financial information has been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards, International Accounting Standards and Interpretations as adopted by the European Union (“EU”)
(collectively IFRSs) except for accounting combined financial information as IFRS as adopted by the EU
does not provide for the preparation of combined financial information.
The specific accounting treatment set out below, which is in accordance with accounting convention
commonly used for the preparation of historical financial information for inclusion in investment circulars
as described in the Annexure to SIR 2000 (Investment Reporting Standards applicable to Public Reporting
Engagements on Historical Financial Information) issued by the UK Auditing Practices Board, results in the
following material departures from IFRS as adopted by the EU:
•

For all periods, the historical financial information is prepared on a combined basis which does not
comply with the requirements of IFRS 10 (Consolidated Financial Statements).

•

The historical financial information does not constitute a set of general purpose financial statements
under paragraph 2 of IAS 1 and consequently there is no explicit and unreserved statement of
compliance with IFRS under paragraph 14 of IAS 1.
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The combined financial information has been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards, International Accounting Standards and Interpretations as adopted by the European Union
(collectively IFRSs).
The combined historical financial information does not constitute statutory accounts as defined in Section
434 of the Companies Act 2006. The statutory financial statements of TFGL and its subsidiaries for each of
the three years ended 31 December 2015 have been delivered to the Registrar of Companies. The auditor’s
reports on those financial statements were unqualified and did not contain statements under Section 498(2)
or Section 498(3) of the Companies Act 2006. The financial statements of The Filta Group, Inc. are not
required to be filed in the UK.
Standards, amendments and interpretations to existing standards that are not yet effective have not been early
adopted by the Filta Group in preparing this combined financial information.
As of the date of authorisation of this financial information, the following standards were in issue but not yet
effective. The Filta Group has not applied these standards in the preparation of the financial information, and
has not adopted any new or amended standards early:
Applicable for
financial years
beginning on/after

Standard/interpretation

Content

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments
(2009) and amendment

IFRS 9 ‘Financial instruments’ is effective for
periods commencing on or after 1 January 2018
subject to endorsement by the EU. IFRS 9 is a
replacement for IAS 39 ‘Financial Instruments’ and
covers three distinct areas. Phase 1 contains new
requirements for the classification and measurement
of financial assets and liabilities. Phase 2 relates to
the impairment of financial assets and requires the
calculation of impairment on an expected loss basis
rather than the current incurred loss basis. Phase 3
relates to less stringent requirements for general
hedge accounting.

1 January 2018

IFRS 15 Revenue from
Contracts with Customers

IFRS 15, ‘Revenues from Contracts with Customers’,
replaces IAS 18, ‘Revenues’, and introduces a five
step approach to revenue recognition based on
performance obligations in customer contracts. The
International Accounting Standards Board (‘IASB’)
has proposed to issue some clarifications and to defer
the standard’s effective date of 1 January 2017 to
1 January 2018. The effective date for the Group is
also subject to EU endorsement.

1 January 2018

IFRS 16 Leases

IFRS 16 sets out the principles for the recognition,
measurement, presentation and disclosure of leases
for both parties to a contract, i.e. the customer
(‘lessee’) and the supplier (‘lessor’). IFRS 16
completes the IASB’s project to improve the financial
reporting of leases and replaces the previous leases
Standard, IAS 17 Leases, and related Interpretations.

1 January 2019

Basis of combination
Where the Filta Group has power, either directly or indirectly, to govern the financial and operating policies
of an entity so as to obtain benefits from its activities, it is classified as a subsidiary. See note 19 for a list of
subsidiaries and companies under common control.
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The combined financial information presents the combined results of the Filta Group as if it formed a single
entity. Intercompany transactions and balances between Filta Group companies have been eliminated in full.
The financial statements of all group companies are adjusted, where necessary, to ensure the use of consistent
accounting policies.
Acquisitions are accounted for under the acquisition method from the date control passes to the Filta Group.
On acquisition, the assets and liabilities and contingent liabilities of a subsidiary are measured at their fair
values at the date of acquisition. Any excess of the cost of acquisition over the fair values of the identifiable
net assets acquired is recognised as goodwill.
Going concern
The financial information has been prepared on the going concern basis, which assumes that the Filta Group
will continue to be able to meet its liabilities as they fall due for the foreseeable future.
Revenue recognition
The Filta Group recognises revenue depending on the substance and legal form of the contract with its
customers. Revenue is recognised once a legally binding contract between the Filta Group and its customers
has been established and the delivery of the product or service has been completed.
Revenues are accrued or deferred based on the length of time through the contract and is consistently applied
across all customers and contracts. All amounts are stated exclusive of VAT and other sales taxes and trade
discounts.
The Filta Group executes franchise agreements for each franchise area which set out the terms of the
arrangement with the franchisee.
These agreements require the franchisee to pay an initial, non-refundable franchise fee and royalties based
upon the number of filtration machines operating in each franchise area.
The franchise fee consists of two distinct components:
(1)
(2)

the territory fee; and
the opening package.

The revenue associated with the opening package is recognised when substantially all initial services
required by the franchise agreement are performed, which is generally upon the completion of training of
the franchisee. Therefore there is no deferral of this revenue unless the training period spans the year-end.
The territory fee represents the exclusive right to operate in a designated territory for a stated length of time.
The territory fee is deferred over the length of the franchise agreement and released to the combined
statements of comprehensive income on a straight line basis.
Royalties are recognised as earned with an appropriate provision for estimated uncollectible amounts, which
is included in operating expenses.
Supplies and other revenues are recognised when the product or service is delivered or shipped to customers.
Provision for discounts and rebates to customers, estimated returns and allowances, and other adjustments
are provided for in the same period in which the related sales are recorded.
Functional currency
(i)

Functional and presentation currency
The individual financial information of each Filta Group entity is measured in the currency of the
primary economic environment in which the entity operates (its functional currency). The Filta
Group’s combined financial information is presented in Pounds Sterling, which is the functional
currency and presentation currency of TFGL and its subsidiaries. The functional currency of The Filta
Group, Inc. is the US Dollar.
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(ii)

Transactions and balances
Transactions in foreign currencies are converted into the respective functional currencies on initial
recognition, using the exchange rates approximating those ruling at the transaction dates. Monetary
assets and liabilities at the end of the reporting period are translated at the rates ruling as of that date.
Non-monetary assets and liabilities are translated using exchange rates that existed when the values
were determined. All exchange differences are recognised in profit or loss.

(iii)

Foreign operations
Assets and liabilities of The Filta Group, Inc. are translated to Pounds Sterling at the rates of exchange
ruling at the end of the reporting period. Revenues and expenses are translated at exchange rates
approximating those ruling at the dates of the transactions. All exchange differences arising from
translation are taken directly to other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity under the
foreign exchange translation reserve. On the disposal of a foreign operation, the cumulative amount
recognised in other comprehensive income relating to that particular foreign operation is reclassified
from equity to profit or loss.
Fair value adjustments arising from the acquisition of foreign operations are treated as assets and
liabilities of the foreign operations and are recorded in the functional currency of the foreign
operations and translated at the closing rate at the end of the reporting period. All exchange
differences are recognised in other comprehensive income.

Property, plant and equipment
All items of property, plant and equipment are initially recorded at cost. The cost of an item of property, plant
and equipment initially recognised includes its purchase price and any cost that is directly attributable to
bringing the asset to the location and condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner
intended. The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment including subsequent expenditure is
recognised as an asset if, and only if, it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item
will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be measured reliably.
All repair and maintenance expenses are recognised in profit or loss when incurred.
After initial recognition, property, plant and equipment is stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and
any accumulated impairment loss.
All items of property, plant and equipment are depreciated to write off the cost of the assets over their
estimated useful lives as follows:
Annual rate
Freehold property
Plant and machinery
Motor vehicles
Fixtures and fittings

2%
10–15%
25%
20%

The estimated useful life and depreciation method are reviewed, and adjusted as appropriate, at each
reporting date to ensure that the amount, method and period of depreciation are consistent with the expected
pattern of economic benefits from items of property, plant and equipment. Fully depreciated assets are
retained in the financial statements until they are no longer in use.
An item of property, plant and equipment is de-recognised upon disposal or when no future economic
benefits are expected from its use or disposal. The gain or loss on retirement or disposal is determined as the
difference between any sales proceeds and the carrying amounts of the asset and is recognised in profit or
loss within other income/(expenses).
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Computer software
Costs associated with maintaining computer software programmes are recognised as an expense as incurred.
Development costs that are directly attributable to the design and testing of identifiable and unique products
controlled by the Filta Group are recognised as intangible assets when the following criteria are met:
(i)
(ii)
(iii)
(iv)
(v)

It is technically feasible to complete the software product so that it will be available for use;
Management intends to complete the software product and use or sell it;
There is an ability to use or sell the product;
It can be demonstrated how the software product will generate probable future economic benefits;
Adequate technical, financial and other resources to complete the development and to use or sell the
software product are available; and
(vi) The expenditure attributable to the software product during its development can be reliable measured.
(vii) its ability to measure reliably the expenditure attributable to the asset under development;
Directly attributable costs that are capitalised as part of the software product include external third party
costs.
Other development expenditures that do not meet these criteria are recognised as an expense as incurred.
Development costs previously recognised as an expense are not recognised as an asset in a subsequent
period.
Computer software development costs recognised as assets are amortised on a straight-line method over a
period of three years and begins when development is complete and the asset is available for sale or use. In
the event that it is no longer probable that the expected future economic benefits will be recovered, the
development expenditure is written down to its recoverable amount.
Impairment
(a)

Impairment of financial assets
All financial assets (other than those categorised at fair value through profit or loss), are assessed at
the end of each reporting period as to whether there is any objective evidence of impairment as a result
of one or more events having an impact on the estimated future cash flows of the asset. For an equity
instrument, a significant or prolonged decline in the fair value below its cost is considered to be
objective evidence of impairment.
An impairment loss in respect of loans and receivables financial assets is recognised in profit or loss
and is measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of
estimated future cash flows, discounted at the financial asset’s original effective interest rate.
If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be related
objectively to an event occurring after the impairment was recognised, the previously recognised
impairment loss is reversed through profit or loss to the extent that the carrying amount of the
financial asset at the date the impairment is reversed does not exceed what the amortised cost would
have been had the impairment not been recognised.

(b)

Impairment of non-financial assets
The carrying values of assets, other than those to which IAS 36 – Impairment of Assets does not apply,
are reviewed at the end of each reporting period for impairment when there is an indication that the
assets might be impaired. Impairment is measured by comparing the carrying values of the assets with
their recoverable amounts. The recoverable amount of the assets is the higher of the assets’ fair value
less costs to sell and their value-in-use, which is measured by reference to discounted future cash flow.
An impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss immediately.
When there is a change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount, a subsequent
increase in the recoverable amount of an asset is treated as a reversal of the previous impairment loss
and is recognised to the extent of the carrying amount of the asset that would have been determined
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(net of amortisation and depreciation) had no impairment loss been recognised. The reversal is
recognised in profit or loss immediately, unless the asset is carried at its revalued amount, in which
case the reversal of the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation increase.
Financial instruments
Financial instruments are recognised in the statements of financial position when the Filta Group has become
a party to the contractual provisions of the instruments.
Financial instruments are classified as liabilities or equity in accordance with the substance of the contractual
arrangement. Interest, dividends, gains and losses relating to a financial instrument classified as a liability
are reported as an expense or income. Distributions to holders of financial instruments classified as equity
are charged directly to equity.
A financial instrument is recognised initially at its fair value plus, in the case of a financial instrument not at
fair value through profit or loss, transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of
the financial instrument.
Financial assets are derecognised when the contractual rights to receive cash flows from the financial assets
have expired or have been transferred and the Filta Group has transferred substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership. On de-recognition of a financial asset in its entirety, the difference between the
carrying amount and the sum of the consideration received and any cumulative gain or loss that had been
recognised in other comprehensive income is recognised in profit or loss.
(i)

Financial assets
The only financial assets held by the Filta Group are loans and receivables.
Trade receivables and other receivables that have fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted
in an active market are classified as loans and receivables financial assets. Loans and receivables
financial assets are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less any
impairment loss. Interest income is recognised by applying the effective interest rate, except for shortterm receivables when the recognition of interest would be immaterial. The Filta Group’s loans and
receivables financial assets comprise trade and other receivables, amounts due from related parties,
deposits and cash and cash equivalents included in the Combined Statement of Financial Position.

(ii)

Financial liabilities
Financial liabilities are recognised when the Filta Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions
of the financial instrument.
All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value plus directly attributable transaction costs
and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method other than those
categorised as fair value through the income statement.
A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged, cancelled or
expires. When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same party on
substantially different terms, or the terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such an
exchange or modification is treated as a de-recognition of the original liability and the recognition of
a new liability, and the difference in the respective carrying amounts is recognised in the income
statement.

(iii)

Equity instruments
Ordinary shares and shares of common stock are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly
attributable to the issue of new shares are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from proceeds.
Dividends on ordinary shares are recognised as liabilities when approved for distribution.
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Inventories
Inventory primarily consists of filtration machines and filters and is stated at the lower of cost (on a first-in,
first-out basis) and net realisable value. Appropriate consideration is given to obsolescence, excessive levels,
deterioration, and other factors in evaluating net realisable value.
Taxation
Income tax for each reporting period comprises current and deferred tax.
Current tax is the expected amount of income taxes payable in respect of the taxable profit for the year and
is measured using the tax rate in effective during the reporting period.
Deferred tax is provided in full, using the liability method, on temporary differences arising between the tax
bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the combined financial information.
Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences, unused tax losses and unused tax
credits to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against which the
deductible temporary differences, unused tax losses and unused tax credits can be utilised. The carrying
amounts of deferred tax assets are reviewed at the end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that
it is no longer probable that sufficient future taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of the
deferred tax assets to be utilised.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the substantively enacted tax rate at the end of each
reporting period.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to set off current tax
assets against current tax liabilities and when the deferred income taxes relate to the same taxation authority.
Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash in hand, bank balances, bank overdrafts and short-term, highly
liquid investments that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash and which are subject to an
insignificant risk of changes in value with original maturity periods of three months or less.
Borrowings
Borrowings are presented as current liabilities unless the Filta Group has an unconditional right to defer
settlement for at least twelve months after the reporting date, in which case they are presented as non-current
liabilities.
Leases
The Filta Group holds certain motor vehicles under finance leases and hire purchase agreements. Finance
leases and hire purchase agreements, which transfer to the Filta Group substantially all the risks and rewards
incidental to ownership of the leased item, are capitalised at the inception of the lease at the fair value of the
leased item or, if lower, at the present value of the minimum lease payments. Any initial direct costs are also
added to the amount capitalised. Lease payments are apportioned between the finance charges and reduction
of the lease liability so as to achieve a constant rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability.
Finance charges are charged directly to profit or loss. Capitalised lease assets are depreciated over the shorter
of the estimated useful life of the asset or the lease term, if there is no reasonable certainty that the Filta
Group will obtain ownership by the end of the lease term.
The Filta Group also leases motor vehicles and office equipment under operating leases. Operating lease
payments are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term, except where another
systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern in which economic benefits from the leased asset
are consumed.
Employee benefits
Wages, salaries, paid annual leave and sick leave, bonuses and non-monetary benefits are accrued in the
period in which the associated services are rendered by employees of the Filta Group.
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Provisions, contingent liabilities and contingent assets
Provisions are recognised when the Filta Group has a present or constructive obligation as a result of past
events, when it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to
settle the obligation, and when a reliable estimate of the amount can be made. Provisions are reviewed at the
end of each financial reporting period and adjusted to reflect the current best estimate. Where the effect of
the time value of money is material, the provision is the present value of the estimated expenditure required
to settle the obligation.
A contingent liability is a possible obligation that arises from past events and whose existence will only be
confirmed by the occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the control of the Filta
Group. It can also be a present obligation arising from past events that is not recognised because it is not
probable that an outflow of economic resources will be required or the amount of obligation cannot be
measured reliably.
A contingent liability is not recognised but is disclosed in the notes to the financial statements. When a
change in the probability of an outflow occurs so that the outflow is probable, it will then be recognised as
a provision.
A contingent asset is a probable asset that arises from past events and whose existence will be confirmed
only by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain events not wholly within the control of
the Filta Group. The Filta Group does not recognize contingent assets but discloses its existence where
inflows of economic benefits are probable, but not virtually certain.
Operating segments
An operating segment is a component of the Filta Group that engages in business activities from which it
may earn revenues and incur expenses. The results of an operating segment are reviewed regularly by the
chief operating decision maker to make decisions about resources to be allocated to the segment and assess
its performance, and for which discrete financial information is available.
Summary of critical accounting estimates and judgements
The preparation of financial information in conformity with IFRS requires the use of certain critical
accounting estimates. It also requires the Directors to exercise their judgement in the process of applying the
accounting policies, which are detailed above. These judgements are continually evaluated by the Directors
and management and are based on historical experience and other factors, including expectations of future
events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.
The key estimates and underlying assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation
uncertainty at the statement of financial position date, that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial period are reviewed on
an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is
revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods if the
revision affects both current and future periods. In particular:
Revenue recognition
The Filta Group recognises revenue from franchise agreements with customers as described above.
In making its judgement, management considered the detailed criteria for the recognition of revenue set out
in IAS 18 ‘Revenue’. These agreements require the franchisee to pay an initial, non-refundable franchise fee
and royalties based upon the number of filtration machines operating in each franchise area. Revenue from
that portion of the franchise fee related to the opening package is recognised once the Filta Group has
fulfilled its initial responsibilities to a new franchisee. These initial responsibilities, which include training
and related services provided to a new franchisee, typically cover a period of one to two months. The
Directors are satisfied that the significant risks and rewards are transferred once these initial responsibilities
have been completed and that the recognition of revenue over this initial period is appropriate. In particular,
revenue is recognised when management are satisfied that all obligations under a contract with a customer
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have been fulfilled and customer acceptance has occurred. Amounts related to the territory fee, which are
invoiced in advance, are deferred and carried forward in the Statement of Financial Position and are released
to the Income Statement on a straight line over the term of the franchise agreement. When a franchise
agreement is terminated, the deferred amount is released from the Statement of Financial Position to the
Income Statement.
Provision for loans and trade receivable
Trade and other receivables are recognised by the Filta Group based on the original invoice amount less an
allowance for any uncollectible or impaired amounts. Other receivables are recognised at fair value.
Impairment provisions are recognised when there is objective evidence (such as significant financial
difficulties on the part of the counterparty, default or significant delay in payment, disappearance of active
market for that financial asset, or bankruptcy or financial reorganisation of borrowers) that the Filta Group
will be unable to collect all of the amounts due under the terms receivable, the amount of such a provision
being the difference between the net carrying amount and the present value of the future expected cash flows
associated with the impaired receivable.
For trade receivables, which are reported net, such provisions are recorded in a separate provision account
with the loss being recognised within administrative expenses in the combined statement of comprehensive
income.
On confirmation that the trade receivable will not be collectable, the gross carrying value of the asset is
written off against the associated provision.
3.

Segmental analysis

IFRS 8 requires operating segments to be identified on the basis of internal reports about components of the
Filta Group that are regularly reviewed by the chief operating decision maker (which takes the form of the
Board of Directors) as defined in IFRS 8, in order to allocate resources to the segment and to assess its
performance.
Based on management information there are four operating segments. Revenues are reviewed based on the
products and services provided.
The Directors consider that the Filta Group currently has four reportable segments: the marketing and
execution related to Franchise Development; provision of services and supplies to the fryer management
sector; servicing the refrigerator seal replacement market; and the provision of design, installation and
services provided to the refrigeration and cold stores market.
The Filta Group operates in two main geographic areas: the UK and USA. Revenue and non-current assets
by origin of geographical segment for all entities in the Filta Group is as follows:
31 December
2013
£

31 December
2014
£

31 December
2015
£

2,870,798
3,418,174
––––––––––
6,288,972

3,274,212
3,327,539
––––––––––
6,601,751

3,594,188
4,331,084
––––––––––
7,925,272

616,663
1,244,778
––––––––––
1,861,441

620,364
1,413,187
––––––––––
2,033,551

547,241
1,569,970
––––––––––
2,117,211

Revenue
UK
USA
Total

–––––––––– –––––––––– ––––––––––

Non-current assets
UK
USA
Total

–––––––––– –––––––––– ––––––––––
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Product and services revenue analysis
31 December
2013
£

31 December
2014
£

31 December
2015
£

1,063,284
3,941,580
645,382
638,726
––––––––––
6,288,972

839,676
4,035,947
699,768
1,026,360
––––––––––
6,601,751

1,294,100
4,502,485
888,408
1,240,279
––––––––––
7,925,272

Revenue
Franchise Development
Fryer Management
Fita-Seal
Filta Refrigeration
Total

–––––––––– –––––––––– ––––––––––

Management measures revenues by reference to the Filta Group’s core services and products and related
services, which underpin such income.
No customer has accounted for more than 10% of total revenue during the periods presented.
Assets and liabilities are not fully allocated to the individual categories as such information is not provided
to the chief operating decision maker, the CEO.
4.
Profit from operations
Profit is stated after charging/(crediting):

Inventory recognised as an expense
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment
– owned assets
– held under finance leases
Amortisation of intangibles (included with
administrative expenses)
Loss on disposal of plant and equipment
Staff costs including directors (note 5)
Bad debt expense
Foreign exchange losses/(gains)
Operating lease rentals
– Property
– Other assets

31 December
2013
£

31 December
2014
£

31 December
2015
£

3,338,823

3,749,041

4,207,620

74,997
8,958

57,885
15,508

57,909
32,348

21,709
4,848
1,883,277
81,637
13,420
29,545
71,090

38,757
1,765
1,792,733
112,956
(2,812)
2,638
101,273

53,866
8,920
2,441,063
57,215
(16,462)
45,285
82,252

5.
Staff costs
Staff costs (including Directors emoluments) incurred during the period were as follows:

Wages and salaries
Social security costs
Other staff benefits
Total staff costs

31 December
2013
£

31 December
2014
£

31 December
2015
£

1,715,724
90,070
77,483
––––––––––
1,883,277

1,643,257
70,792
78,684
––––––––––
1,792,733

2,291,404
81,194
68,465
––––––––––
2,441,063

–––––––––– –––––––––– ––––––––––

56

The average monthly number of employees (including directors) during the period was as follows:

Directors
Staff
Administration
Customer Services
Business Development/Marketing
Sales
Other

31 December
2013

31 December
2014

31 December
2015

3

3

3

11
8
8
4
12
––––––––––
46

11
11
7
2
15
––––––––––
49

11
10
8
4
17
––––––––––
53

–––––––––– –––––––––– ––––––––––

Remuneration of key management personnel
The Directors of the company are considered to be the Key Management personnel of the Filta Group.
Directors’ emoluments and benefits as follows:

Short-term employee benefits
Total remuneration of key management

6.

31 December
2013
£

31 December
2014
£

31 December
2015
£

450,833
––––––––––
450,833

432,875
––––––––––
432,875

915,446
––––––––––
915,446

31 December
2013
£

31 December
2014
£

31 December
2015
£

67,331
177
––––––––––
67,508

76,728
3,770
––––––––––
80,498

68,182
5,539
––––––––––
73,721

31 December
2013
£

31 December
2014
£

31 December
2015
£

–––––––––– –––––––––– ––––––––––

Finance expenses

Bank and other loans
Hire purchase and finance lease charges

–––––––––– –––––––––– ––––––––––

7.

Tax expense/(credit)

UK Corporation tax – current year
US state taxes
Deferred tax

–
–
16,073
––––––––––
16,073

Tax expense

8,775
40,481
(5,116)
––––––––––
44,140

–
2,802
71,258
––––––––––
74,060

–––––––––– –––––––––– ––––––––––
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A reconciliation of income tax expense applicable to the loss before taxation at the statutory tax rate to the
income tax expense at the effective tax rate of the Filta Group is as follows:

Profit before tax
Tax at domestic rates applicable to profits
Effects of:
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes
Loss relief
Losses carried forward
Other differences
Total current tax
Deferred tax:
Origination and reversal of timing differences
Total tax expense

31 December
2013
£

31 December
2014
£

31 December
2015
£

67,923
––––––––––
15,068

229,234
––––––––––
49,335

376,270
––––––––––
64,975

5,524
(2,762)
2,951
(20,781)
––––––––––
–
––––––––––

82
(30,553)
984
29,408
––––––––––
49,256
––––––––––

41,869
(86,301)
3,615
(21,356)
––––––––––
2,802
––––––––––

16,073
––––––––––
16,073

(5,116)
––––––––––
44,140

71,258
––––––––––
74,060

–––––––––– –––––––––– ––––––––––

The Filta Group’s effective tax rate for the year ended 31 December 2015 was 19.7% (2014: 19.3%;
2013: 23.7%). The effective rate is an amalgamation of UK and US rates for the periods reported. The change
from year to year has been particularly affected by the availability of loss reliefs and recognition of deferred
tax assets.
The Filta Group has tax losses of approximately £817,000 at 31 December 2015 (31 December 2014:
£1,250,000; 31 December 2013: £1,403,000) to carry forward against future profits. The tax value of such
losses amounted to £163,400, £250,000 and £280,600 at 31 December 2015, 31 December 2014 and
31 December 2013, respectively. The UK tax losses have no expiry date and a deferred tax asset of £163,000
has been recognised in respect of them at 31 December 2015 (2014: £250,000; 2013: £281,000).
US tax losses expire after 20 years if not utilised and a deferred tax asset of £15,000 has been recognised in
respect of them at 31 December 2015 (2014: £nil; 2013: £2,000).
8.

Pro-forma basic and diluted earnings per share

The combined financial information represents the historical information prior to a group reorganisation on
26 October 2016 as described above in the basis of preparation in Note 1, whereby the Company became the
new parent company of the Filta Group. It is of limited significance to calculate earnings per share on the
historical equity of the companies forming the Filta Group prior to the reorganisation. Accordingly, a pro
forma earnings/(loss) per share has been included based on the relevant number of shares in the Company
following the group reorganisation and share split but prior to the issue of shares to raise new funds. The
calculation of earnings per share is based on the following earnings and number of shares:

Weighted average number of shares for the purpose
of earnings per share
Profit after tax (£)
Pro-forma basic and diluted earnings per share (p)
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31 December
2013

31 December
2014

31 December
2015

21,762,160
51,850
0.24

21,762,160
185,094
0.85

21,762,160
302,210
1.39

9.

Property, plant and equipment

Year ended 31 December 2013
Cost:
At beginning of year
Additions
Disposals
Foreign exchange differences
At end of year
Accumulated depreciation and
impairment losses:
Beginning of year
Depreciation charge
Disposals
Foreign exchange differences
At end of year
Net book value
End of year

Year ended 31 December 2014
Cost:
At beginning of year
Additions
Disposals
Foreign exchange differences
At end of year
Accumulated depreciation and
impairment losses:
Beginning of year
Depreciation charge
Disposals
Foreign exchange differences
At end of year
Net book value
End of year

Freehold
property
£

Plant and
machinery
£

Fixtures,
fittings,
equipment,
computer
software &
hardware
£

1,102,491
192,036
–
(24,993)
–––––––––
1,269,534
–––––––––

229,532
5,000
(4,036)
(598)
–––––––––
229,898
–––––––––

82,703
737
–
(604)
–––––––––
82,836
–––––––––

29,135
35,738
(5,000)
(116)
–––––––––
59,757
–––––––––

1,443,861
233,511
(9,036)
(26,311)
–––––––––
1,642,025
–––––––––

329,221
46,497
–
(9,782)
–––––––––
365,936
–––––––––

127,881
21,292
(3,115)
(617)
–––––––––
145,441
–––––––––

74,649
4,710
–
(677)
–––––––––
78,682
–––––––––

6,287
11,456
–
(42)
–––––––––
17,701
–––––––––

538,038
83,955
(3,115)
(11,118)
–––––––––
607,760
–––––––––

903,598

Motor
vehicles
£

Total
£

84,457

4,154

42,056

1,034,265

Freehold
property
£

Plant and
machinery
£

Fixtures,
fittings,
equipment,
computer
software &
hardware
£

Motor
vehicles
£

Total
£

1,269,534
–
–
66,018
–––––––––
1,335,552
–––––––––

229,898
2,352
–
1,332
–––––––––
233,582
–––––––––

82,836
–
–
1,594
–––––––––
84,430
–––––––––

59,757
66,709
(5,149)
306
–––––––––
121,623
–––––––––

1,642,025
69,061
(5,149)
69,250
–––––––––
1,775,187
–––––––––

365,936
40,459
–
24,276
–––––––––
430,671
–––––––––

145,441
12,813
–
1,305
–––––––––
159,559
–––––––––

78,682
2,318
–
1,594
–––––––––
82,594
–––––––––

17,701
17,803
(1,784)
95
–––––––––
33,815
–––––––––

607,760
73,393
(1,784)
27,270
–––––––––
706,639
–––––––––

904,881

74,023

1,836

––––––––– ––––––––– ––––––––– ––––––––– –––––––––

87,808

1,068,548

––––––––– ––––––––– ––––––––– ––––––––– –––––––––
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Plant and
machinery
£

Fixtures,
fittings,
equipment,
computer
software &
hardware
£

1,335,551
–
–
58,128
–––––––––
1,393,679
–––––––––

233,582
72,567
(88,682)
1,293
–––––––––
218,760
–––––––––

84,430
–
(6,070)
1,404
–––––––––
79,764
–––––––––

121,623
107,356
(30,986)
269
–––––––––
198,262
–––––––––

1,775,186
179,923
(125,738)
61,094
–––––––––
1,890,465
–––––––––

430,671
40,969
–
22,641
–––––––––
494,281
–––––––––

159,559
14,257
(36,301)
1,190
–––––––––
138,705
–––––––––

82,594
51
(4,284)
1,403
–––––––––
79,764
–––––––––

33,815
34,980
(12,095)
102
–––––––––
56,802
–––––––––

706,639
90,257
(52,680)
25,337
–––––––––
769,552
–––––––––

Freehold
property
£
Year ended 31 December 2015
Cost:
At beginning of year
Additions
Disposals
Foreign exchange differences
At end of year
Accumulated depreciation and
impairment losses:
Beginning of year
Depreciation charge
Disposals
Foreign exchange differences
At end of year
Net book value
End of year

899,398

80,055

–

Motor
vehicles
£

141,460

Total
£

1,120,913

––––––––– ––––––––– ––––––––– ––––––––– –––––––––

The net book value of asset held under finance leases or hire purchase contracts included above as at
31 December 2015 was £126,142 (2014: £79,579; 2013: £70,331).
10.

Intangible assets
31 December
2013
£

Computer software
Cost:
At beginning of year
Additions
Foreign exchange differences

34,069
56,583
(772)
––––––––––
89,880
––––––––––

At end of year
Amortisation:
At beginning of year

6,625
21,709

Amortisation charge
Foreign exchange differences

(1,330)
––––––––––
27,004
––––––––––
62,876

At end of year
Net book value

31 December
2014
£

31 December
2015
£

89,880
55,046
5,507
––––––––––
150,433
––––––––––

150,433
60,271
7,647
––––––––––
218,351
––––––––––

27,004
38,757

69,628
53,866

3,867
––––––––––
69,628
––––––––––
80,805

5,192
––––––––––
128,686
––––––––––
89,665

–––––––––– –––––––––– ––––––––––
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11.

Trade and other receivables

Trade receivables
Prepayments and other receivables
Total

31 December
2013
£

31 December
2014
£

31 December
2015
£

899,369
292,063
––––––––––
1,191,432

1,293,537
135,416
––––––––––
1,428,953

1,528,020
63,190
––––––––––
1,591,210

31 December
2013
£

31 December
2014
£

31 December
2015
£

–––––––––– –––––––––– ––––––––––

Trade receivables

Trade receivables
Less: non-current portion

990,636
(91,267)
––––––––––
899,369

Current portion

1,459,427
(165,890)
––––––––––
1,293,537

1,742,839
(214,819)
––––––––––
1,528,020

–––––––––– –––––––––– ––––––––––

Accounts receivable include amounts that the Filta Group has agreed may be settled over extended
repayment terms. Accounts receivable subject to these extended repayment terms totalled £256,035,
£235,529, and £168,873 respectively, at 31 December 2015, 2014 and 2013.
Included in the trade receivables at 31 December 2015 is an amount equivalent to £83,396 (31 December
2014: £117,833 ; 31 December 2013: £78,441) owed by customers which have been outstanding for more
than a year. Receivable balances over one year primarily relate to amounts that are repayable on an agreed
payment plan.
In assessing the recoverability of these debts, the Directors have given due consideration to all pertinent
information relating to the ability of the customers to settle. If an account balance is deemed uncollectible,
the account is impaired in full. If an account is potentially uncollectible, the Filta Group makes an
impairment provision for such amounts. The impairment provision was £57,365 at 31 December 2015
(31 December 2014: £48,964; 31 December 2013: £nil).
Other than the debts described above, the Filta Group’s credit terms range between 30 and 90 days.
12.

Inventories

Finished goods
Total

31 December
2013
£

31 December
2014
£

31 December
2015
£

235,347
––––––––––
235,347

249,829
––––––––––
249,829

299,379
––––––––––
299,379

–––––––––– –––––––––– ––––––––––

Inventory primarily consists of filtration machines and filters and is stated at the lower of cost (on a first-in,
first-out basis) and net realisable value. Appropriate consideration is given to obsolescence, excessive levels,
deterioration, and other factors in evaluating net realisable value.
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13.

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the statements of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise the following:

Cash and bank balances
14.

31 December
2013
£

31 December
2014
£

31 December
2015
£

124,617

456,142

978,939

31 December
2013
£

31 December
2014
£

31 December
2015
£

Deferred tax assets

At 1 January
(Charge)/release for the year
Foreign exchange differences

601,490
(16,073)
(238)
––––––––––
585,179

At 31 December

585,179
5,116
316
––––––––––
590,611

590,611
(71,258)
1,086
––––––––––
520,439

–––––––––– –––––––––– ––––––––––

The deferred tax balances relate to temporary differences arising between the tax bases of assets and
liabilities and their carrying amounts in the financial information as summarised below.
31 December
2013
£
Tax losses
Impairment provisions
Depreciation less tax allowance
Foreign exchange losses/(gains)
Deferred revenue
Others

282,674
–
2,539
1,814
297,971
181
––––––––––
585,179

At 31 December

15.

31 December
2014
£
250,066
–
5,498
–
335,175
(128)
––––––––––
590,611

31 December
2015
£
178,530
11,933
–
–
324,036
5,940
––––––––––
520,439

–––––––––– –––––––––– ––––––––––

Trade and other payables

Trade payables
Amounts due to related parties (note 21)
Taxes and social security
Accruals and other payables
Total

31 December
2013
£

31 December
2014
£

31 December
2015
£

808,335
–
74,512
425,966
––––––––––
1,308,813

1,006,576
–
107,910
494,867
––––––––––
1,609,353

1,033,802
206,408
98,814
386,652
––––––––––
1,725,676

–––––––––– –––––––––– ––––––––––
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16.

Borrowings

Notes payable to related party (note 21)
Bank loans
Bank overdrafts
Hire purchase and finance leases
Total borrowings

31 December
2013
£

31 December
2014
£

31 December
2015
£

60,597
950,107
3,056
32,464
––––––––––
1,046,224

266,759
960,731
4,021
79,496
––––––––––
1,311,007

501,553
955,615
–
140,770
––––––––––
1,597,938

31 December
2013
£

31 December
2014
£

31 December
2015
£

60,597
65,745
3,056
9,730
––––––––––
139,128

266,759
56,652
4,021
22,216
––––––––––
349,648

501,553
60,031
–
35,583
––––––––––
597,167

31 December
2013
£

31 December
2014
£

31 December
2015
£

884,362
22,734
––––––––––
907,096

904,079
57,280
––––––––––
961,359

895,584
105,187
––––––––––
1,000,771

Bank loans
£

Hire purchase
and
finance leases
£

Total
£

26,240
151,104
718,240
––––––––––
895,584

35,583
69,604
–
––––––––––
105,187

61,823
220,708
718,240
––––––––––
1,000,771

23,750
141,358
738,971
––––––––––
904,079

19,777
37,503
–
––––––––––
57,280

43,527
178,861
738,971
––––––––––
961,359

22,379
123,368
738,615
––––––––––
884,362

4,772
17,962
–
––––––––––
22,734

27,151
141,330
738,615
––––––––––
907,096

–––––––––– –––––––––– ––––––––––

Notes payable to related party (note 21)
Bank loans
Bank overdrafts
Hire purchase and finance leases
Current borrowings

–––––––––– –––––––––– ––––––––––

Bank loans
Hire purchase and finance leases
Non-current borrowings

–––––––––– –––––––––– ––––––––––

Maturity of non-current borrowings

As at 31 December 2015
In more than one year but not more than two years
In more than two years but not more than five years
In more than five years
Totals

–––––––––– –––––––––– ––––––––––

As at 31 December 2014
In more than one year but not more than two years
In more than two years but not more than five years
In more than five years
Totals

–––––––––– –––––––––– ––––––––––

As at 31 December 2013
In more than one year but not more than two years
In more than two years but not more than five years
In more than five years
Totals

–––––––––– –––––––––– ––––––––––
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Book values approximate to fair values.
The carrying amounts of the Filta Group’s borrowings are denominated in the following currencies:

Pounds Sterling
US Dollars
Total borrowings

31 December
2013
£

31 December
2014
£

31 December
2015
£

307,474
738,750
––––––––––
1,046,224

343,209
967,798
––––––––––
1,311,007

383,622
1,214,316
––––––––––
1,597,938

–––––––––– –––––––––– ––––––––––

Bank loans incur interest at rates of between 4.6% and 7.7% annually, are secured by real and personal
property.
Bank overdrafts are secured by company assets as well as personal guarantees.
Hire purchase and finance leases are effectively secured as the rights to the asset revert to the lessor in the
event of default.

Hire purchase and finance lease obligations:
Minimum lease payments:
Within one year
Between one and five years
Future interest charges
Present value of hire purchase and finance
lease liabilities

17.

31 December
2013
£

31 December
2014
£

31 December
2015
£

8,595
18,292
––––––––––
5,577
––––––––––

19,286
47,399
––––––––––
12,811
––––––––––

28,897
84,659
––––––––––
27,214
––––––––––

32,464

79,496

140,770

–––––––––– –––––––––– ––––––––––

Financial instruments – risk management

General objectives, policies and processes
The overall objective of the Board is to set policies that seek to reduce risk as far as possible without unduly
affecting the Filta Group’s competitiveness and flexibility. Further details regarding these policies are set out
below.
Management reviews its monthly reports through which it assesses the effectiveness of the processes put in
place and the appropriateness of the objectives and policies it sets.
(i)

Categories of financial assets and liabilities
The principal financial instruments used by the Filta Group, from which financial instrument risk
arises, are as follows:
•

Trade and other receivables

•

Cash and cash equivalents

•

Trade and other payables

•

Borrowings

Trade and other receivables are initially measured at fair value and subsequently at amortised cost.
Book values and expected cash flows are reviewed by the Board and any impairment charged to the
combined statement of comprehensive income in the relevant period.
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Due to their short-term nature, the carrying value of trade and other payables approximates their fair
value.
A summary of the financial instruments held by category is provided below:

Financial assets
Loans and receivables:
Cash and cash equivalents
Trade and other receivables (excluding prepayments)
Due from related parties
Deposits
Total

31 December
2014
£

31 December
2015
£

124,617
1,003,645
86,193
1,631
––––––––––
1,216,086

456,142
1,493,550
125,347
2,350
––––––––––
2,077,389

978,939
1,770,053
169,612
1,762
––––––––––
2,920,366

1,309,513
1,135,103
1,046,224
1,913,940
–
––––––––––
5,404,780

1,609,353
1,297,147
1,311,007
1,764,945
51,567
––––––––––
6,034,019

1,725,676
1,749,451
1,597,938
1,522,377
–
––––––––––
6,595,442

–––––––––– –––––––––– ––––––––––

Financial liabilities
At amortised cost:
Trade and other payables
Deferred income
Borrowings
Amounts due to directors
Taxation
Total
(ii)

31 December
2013
£

–––––––––– –––––––––– ––––––––––

Credit risk
The Filta Group’s exposure to credit risk, or the risk of counterparties defaulting, arises mainly from
trade and other receivables. The Filta Group manages its exposure to credit risk by the application of
credit approvals, credit limits and monitoring procedures on an ongoing basis. For other financial
assets (including cash and bank balances), the Filta Group minimises credit risk by dealing
exclusively with high credit rating counterparties.
The Filta Group establishes an allowance for impairment that represents its estimate of incurred losses
in respect of the trade and other receivables as appropriate. The allowance comprises a provision
against individually significant exposures.
Credit risk concentration profile
The Filta Group’s trade receivables do not have significant credit risk exposure to any single
counterparty or any group of counterparties having similar characteristics. The Filta Group defines
major credit risk as exposure to a concentration exceeding 10% of a total class of such asset.
Exposure to credit risk
As the Filta Group does not hold any collateral, the maximum exposure to credit risk is represented
by the carrying amount of the financial assets as at the end of each reporting period.
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Ageing analysis
The ageing analysis of the Filta Group’s trade receivables is as follows:
31 December
2013
£
Current
Up to 30 days
30 to 60 days
90 days and older

370,968
281,435
100,464
84,393
––––––––––
–

Impairment provision

31 December
2014
£
538,420
331,014
94,840
134,179
––––––––––
(48,964)

31 December
2015
£
896,389
253,515
221,676
280,670
––––––––––
(57,365)

–––––––––– –––––––––– ––––––––––

These receivables are not secured by any collateral or credit enhancement.
The exposure of credit risk for trade receivables by geographical region is as follows:

UK
USA

31 December
2013
£

31 December
2014
£

31 December
2015
£

612,899
377,737
––––––––––
990,636

610,083
557,296
––––––––––
1,167,379

928,687
814,152
––––––––––
1,742,839

–––––––––– –––––––––– ––––––––––
Market risk – Foreign exchange risk

The Filta Group is exposed to foreign currency risk on transactions and balances that are denominated
in currencies other than Pounds Sterling. The currency giving rise to this risk is primarily the US
Dollar. Foreign currency risk is monitored closely on an ongoing basis to ensure that the net exposure
is at an acceptable level.
A majority of the Filta Group’s financial assets and liabilities are held in Dollars and movements in
the exchange rate of the Dollar against Sterling have an impact on both the results for the year and
equity.
The Filta Group maintains a natural hedge whenever possible, by matching the cash inflows (revenue
streams) and cash outflows in foreign currencies.
The carrying amounts of the Filta Group’s foreign currency denominated monetary assets and
liabilities at the end of each year were as follows:

31 December 2015
Financial assets
Financial liabilities
31 December 2014
Financial assets
Financial liabilities
31 December 2013
Financial assets
Financial liabilities
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United States
Dollar
£

Others
£

Total
£

1,835,079
––––––––––
3,516,885
––––––––––

–
––––––––––
–
––––––––––

1,835,079
––––––––––
3,516,885
––––––––––

1,029,831
––––––––––
2,830,667
––––––––––

335
––––––––––
–
––––––––––

1,030,166
––––––––––
2,830,667
––––––––––

533,064
––––––––––
2,224,397
––––––––––

335
––––––––––
–
––––––––––

533,399
––––––––––
2,224,397
––––––––––

Currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate
because of changes in foreign exchange rates. Currency risk arises on financial instruments that are
denominated in a currency other than the functional currency in which they are measured. In this
respect, currency risk does not arise from financial instruments that are non-monetary items or from
financial instruments denominated in the functional currency.
The Filta Group considers that its financial instruments are substantially denominated in the
functional currency of each entity and, therefore, the foreign currency risks are not significant.
Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk
The Filta Group’s interest rate risk arises from long-term borrowings. Borrowings issued at variable
rates expose the Filta Group to cash flow interest rate risk, which is partially offset by cash held at
variable rates. Borrowings issued at fixed rates expose the Filta Group to fair vale interest rate risk.
Filta Group policy is to maintain a majority of its borrowings in fixed rate instruments.
The Filta Group has analysed its interest rate exposure on a dynamic basis. This takes into
consideration refinancing, renewal of existing positions and alternative financing. Based on these
considerations, the Filta Group believes its exposure to cash flow and fair value interest rate risk is
not significant.
(iii)

Liquidity risk
The Filta Group currently holds cash balances to provide funding for normal trading activity. The Filta
Group also has access to both short-term and long-term borrowings to finance capital expenditure
requirements. Trade and other payables are monitored as part of normal management routine.

(iv)

Capital management
The Filta Group’s capital management objectives are:
•

to ensure the Filta Group’s ability to continue as a going concern so that it can continue to
provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders; and

•

to provide an adequate return to shareholders by pricing products and services commensurate
with the level of risk.

To meet these objectives, the Filta Group reviews the budgets and forecasts on a regular basis to
ensure there is sufficient capital to meet the needs of the Filta Group through to profitability and
positive cash flow.
The capital structure of the Filta Group consists of shareholders’ equity as set out in the combined
statement of changes in equity. All working capital requirements are financed from existing cash
resources and borrowings.
Whilst the Filta Group does not currently have distributable profits, it is part of the capital strategy to
provide returns for shareholders and benefits for members in the future.
Capital for further development of the Filta Group’s activities will, where possible, be achieved by
share issues or other finance as appropriate.
Fair value hierarchy
All the financial assets and financial liabilities recognised in the financial information are shown at the
carrying value, which also approximates the fair values of those financial instruments; therefore, no separate
disclosure for fair value hierarchy is required.
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18.

Share capital

Analysis of combined issued share capital:
Number of
shares

Entity
Ordinary shares of £1 each
Ordinary shares of £1 each

TFGL
Cookband Limited

Share
Capital (£)

380,000
100

380,000
100
––––––––
380,100

As at 31 December 2013, 2014 and 2015

––––––––

Share capital comprises ordinary shares of TFGL and Cookband Limited.
Ordinary shares carry the right to one vote per share at general meetings of the company and the rights to
share in any distribution of profits or returns of capital and to share in any residual assets available for
distribution in the event of a winding up.
19.

Subsidiaries and companies under common control

The subsidiaries of TFGL, all of which were incorporated in England and Wales, and which have been
included in the combined financial information, are as follows:
Name
Filtafry Limited
Nationwide Cold Room Services Limited
Filta-Seal Limited
Bio-Depot Limited

Principal activity
Franchising and professional fryer
management services
Coldroom and refrigeration services
Replacement door seals
Disposal of waste cooking fuels

Ownership
100%
100%
100%
100%

The subsidiary of Cookband Limited, incorporated in the State of Delaware, in the United States of America,
and which is included in the combined financial information is as follows:
The Filta Group, Inc.

20.

100%

Franchising and professional fryer
management services

Leases commitments

The amounts of minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases are as follows:

Operating lease which expire:
Within one year
Between one and five years
After more than five years

31 December
2013
£

31 December
2014
£

31 December
2015
£

9,619
11,913
–
––––––––
21,532

17,824
28,630
–
––––––––
46,454

13,614
16,471
–
––––––––
30,085

––––––––

21.

––––––––

––––––––

Related party transactions

Remuneration of Directors and other transactions
The remuneration, interests and related party transactions with the directors of TFGL and its subsidiaries,
those of Cookband Limited and its subsidiary, The Filta Group, Inc., (the “Directors”) who are considered
to be the key management personnel of the entity, are disclosed in Note 5.
At 31 December 2015 an amount of £85,346 (2014: £85,346; 2013: £85,346) was due to TFGL from
Cookband Limited. Cookband Limited is a company under common control.
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Directors loan accounts
The following amounts were owed to the directors at the end of each reporting period:
•

Mr R C Sayers: £1,462,595 as at 31 December 2015 (2014: £1,696,598; 2013: £1,851,122)

•

Mr J Urosevic: £59,782 as at 31 December 2015 (2014: £68,347; 2013: £62,818)

All amounts are unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand. The amounts are classified within current
liabilities under ‘Amounts due to directors’.
Amounts due from related parties
As at 31 December 2015, The Filta Group, Inc. had advanced £86,193 (2014: £125,347; 2013: £169,612) to
Roxanna Holdings Inc., a company owned by Jason Sayers and Victor Clewes, directors of The Filta Group,
Inc. The amounts are classified within trade receivables.
Franchise rights
In 2012, The Filta Group, Inc. granted franchise rights for a prescribed territory to Roxanna Holdings Inc.
The rights were then assigned to EKS North Atlantic LLC, which is 50% owned by Roxanna Holdings and
50% by an unrelated 3rd party. During the year ended 31 December 2015, the related franchise operator
purchased £8,571 of equipment and supplies from the company (2014: £14,653; 2013: £17,899). As at
31 December 2015, the company had advanced £138,600 to the related franchise operator (2014: £92,948;
2013: £56,269). The amounts are classified within trade receivables. All amounts are unsecured, interest-free
and repayable on demand.
Amounts due to related parties –management fees
During the year ended 31 December 2015, management fees of £660,840 are included in administrative
expense for services provided to The Filta Group, Inc. by Roxanna Holdings, Inc. At 31 December 2015,
£206,408 of this total was payable to the related party (these amounts are classified within current liabilities
under ‘Amounts due to related parties’).
Between 1 November 2015 and 31 March 2016, Intrust Corporate Finance Limited (a company of which
Graham Woolfman is a director and shareholder) provided advisory services to the Group. A total amount of
£12,575 plus VAT will be paid to Intrust Corporate Finance Limited for these services.
Notes payable to related party
The Filta Group, Inc. entered into the following arrangements with Roy Sayers:
A note of $100,240 (approximately £60,600) in 2013 which incurs interest of 1.5% annually and which
matures in December 2016.
A note of $312,880 (approximately £206,200) in 2014 which incurs interest of 1.5% annually and which
matures in December 2017.
A note of $319,960 (approximately £234,700)) in 2015 which incurs interest of 1.5% annually and which
matures in December 2018.
These amounts are classified within borrowings.
Interest paid on these loans amounted to £5,362 in the year ended 31 December 2015 (2014: £1,629
2013: £561).
22.

Events after the reporting date

Roy Sayers, a director of the Company, made a loan to The Filta Group Limited in the sum of £1,463,000.
No interest is payable on the loan, which is repayable on demand. On 26 October 2016 the liability for the
principle outstanding amount of this loan, namely £1,462,595.55, was capitalised into shares in Cookband
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Limited and, consequently, Roy Sayers was issued and credited with fully paid ordinary shares in Cookband
Limited.
Jlubomir Urosevic, a director of the Company, made a loan to The Filta Group Limited in the sum of
£67,000. No interest is payable on the loan, which is repayable on demand. The outstanding balance of this
loan, being £59,781.66, will be repaid out of the proceeds of the Placing.
On 26 October 2016 all the then shareholders of The Filta Group Limited entered into an agreement under
which Cookband Limited acquired the entire issued share capital of The Filta Group Limited in
consideration of the issue of shares in Cookband Limited, credited as fully paid.
On 26 October 2016 all the then shareholders of Cookband Limited entered into an agreement under which
the Company acquired the entire issued share capital of Cookband Limited in consideration of the issue of
shares in the Company, credited as fully paid.
On 26 October 2016 the Company acquired the entire issued share capital of The Filta Group Limited and
The Filta Group Inc. from Cookband Limited for nil consideration.
23.

Ultimate controlling party

The Directors consider that Roy Sayers, a director, controls TFGL and The Filta Group, Inc.
24.

Nature of financial Information

The financial information presented above does not constitute statutory accounts for the period under review.
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Section E: Historical Unaudited Combined Interim Financial Information for the Six Months ended
30 June 2016 and 2015 of the Filta Group
Set out below are the unaudited results of the Filta Group for the six months ended 30 June 2016, together
with the unaudited results for the comparative six-month period ended 30 June 2015.
Combined Statement of Comprehensive Income
The statements of combined comprehensive income of the Filta Group for the six month period ended
30 June 2016 and the six month period ended 30 June 2015 are set out below:

Note
5

Revenue
Cost of sales
Gross profit
Other income
Selling and distribution expenses
Administrative expenses
Profit/(loss) from operations
Finance costs
(Loss)/profit before tax
Income tax expense
(Loss)/profit attributable to owners of the Filta Group
Other comprehensive income:
Currency translation differences
Total comprehensive (loss)/income for the period
Pro-forma basic and diluted earnings/(loss) per share
attributable to owners of the Filta Group (pence)
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10

Six months
ended
30 June
2016
£
(Unaudited)

Six months
ended
30 June
2015
£
(Unaudited)

4,741,358
(2,718,109)
––––––––––
2,023,249
4,103
(51,432)
(2,168,851)
––––––––––
(192,931)
(17,617)
––––––––––
(210,548)
170,334
––––––––––
(40,214)

3,872,260
(2,171,242)
––––––––––
1,701,018
12,717
(50,072)
(1,412,930)
––––––––––
250,733
(16,536)
––––––––––
234,197
(47,008)
––––––––––
187,189

(77,884)
––––––––––
(118,098)

(45,275)
––––––––––
141,914

–––––––––– ––––––––––
–––––––––– ––––––––––
(0.18)

0.86

Combined Statement of Financial Position
The statements of combined financial position of the Filta Group as at 30 June 2016 and at 31 December
2015 are set out below:

Note
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment
Intangible assets
Amounts due from related parties
Deposits
Trade receivables
Deferred tax assets

6

7
8

Current assets
Trade and other receivables
Inventory
Cash and cash equivalents

7

Total Assets

As at
30 June
2016
£
(Unaudited)

As at
31 December
2015
£
(Audited)

1,188,056
102,099
–
2,362
221,016
739,180
––––––––––
2,252,713

1,120,913
89,665
169,612
1,762
214,819
520,439
––––––––––
2,117,210

2,098,132
479,177
1,175,663
––––––––––
3,752,972
––––––––––
6,005,685

1,591,210
299,379
978,939
––––––––––
2,869,528
––––––––––
4,986,738

2,234,696
580,146
1,517,540
320,076
––––––––––
4,652,458
––––––––––

1,725,676
597,167
1,522,377
194,216
––––––––––
4,039,436
––––––––––

1,339,845
1,740,184
––––––––––
3,080,029
––––––––––
7,732,487
––––––––––

1,000,771
1,555,235
––––––––––
2,556,006
––––––––––
6,595,442
––––––––––

380,100
(1,954,172)
(152,730)
––––––––––
(1,726,802)
––––––––––
––––––––––
6,005,685

380,100
(1,913,958)
(74,846)
––––––––––
(1,608,704)
––––––––––
––––––––––
4,986,738

–––––––––– ––––––––––

Current liabilities
Trade and other payables
Borrowings
Amount due to directors
Deferred Income

9

Non-current liabilities
Borrowings
Deferred income

Total Liabilities
Equity
Share capital
Accumulated losses
Translation reserve

11

Total Equity and Liabilities

–––––––––– ––––––––––
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Combined Statement of Changes in Equity

(Unaudited)

Share
capital
£

Balance at 1 January 2015
Other comprehensive income
Loss for the six months ended
30 June 2015

380,100
–

Balance at 30 June 2015
Other comprehensive income
Loss for the six months ended
31 December 2015

380,100
–

Balance at 31 December 2015
Other comprehensive income
Loss for the six months ended
30 June 2016

380,100
–
–
––––––––––
380,100
––––––––––

Balance at 30 June 2016

–

–
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Accumulated
profits
£
(2,216,170)
187,189

Foreign
currency
translation
reserve
£

Total
£

(29,473)
–

(1,865,543)
187,190

(45,275)

(45,275)

(74,748)
–

(1,723,629)
115,023

(98)

(98)

(1,913,958)
(40,214)

(74,846)
–

(1,608,704)
(40,214)

–
––––––––––
(1,954,172)
––––––––––

(77,884)
––––––––––
(152,730)
––––––––––

(77,884)
––––––––––
(1,726,802)
––––––––––

–
(2,028,981)
115,023
–

Combined Statement of Cash Flows
The statements of combined cash flows for the Filta Group for the six month period ended 30 June 2016 and
the six month period ended 30 June 2015 are set out below:
Six months
ended
30 June
2016
£
(Unaudited)
Cash flow from operating activities
(Loss)/profit for the period after taxation

(40,214)

Adjustments for:
Depreciation
Amortisation
Interest expense
Operating cash flows before movements in working capital
(Increase) in inventories
(Increase) in trade and other receivables
Increase in trade and other payables
Cash generated from operating activities
Interest paid
Net cash generated from Operating activities
Cash flows (for)/from investing activities
Acquisition of property, plant and equipment
Net cash used in investing activities
Cash flows (for)/from financing activities
Net drawdown/(reduction) of interest-bearing bank borrowings
Net cash used in financing activities
Net increase in cash & cash equivalents
Effects of foreign exchange translation
Cash and equivalent at beginning of period
Cash and equivalent at end of period

Six months
ended
30 June
2015
£
(Unaudited)
187,189

17,947
20,905
24,728
––––––––––
23,366
(161,646)
(562,848)
778,767
––––––––––
77,639
(24,728)
––––––––––
52,911
––––––––––

19,296
15,751
19,591
––––––––––
241,827
(29,463)
(112,664)
426,874
––––––––––
526,574
(19,591)
––––––––––
506,983
––––––––––

(34,251)
––––––––––
(34,251)
––––––––––

(51,416)
––––––––––
(51,416)
––––––––––

106,791
––––––––––
106,791
––––––––––
125,451
71,273
978,939
––––––––––
1,175,663

(169,252)
––––––––––
(169,252)
––––––––––
286,315
(11,061)
452,121
––––––––––
727,375

–––––––––– ––––––––––
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Notes to the Interim Combined Financial Information
1.

General information

The condensed unaudited interim combined financial information represents the combined results of The
Filta Group Limited (“TFGL”) and its subsidiaries, combined with those of Cookband Limited and its
subsidiary, The Filta Group, Inc. (together referred to as the “Filta Group”).
TFGL is a company incorporated and domiciled in the UK. The registered office of TFGL is located at The
Locks, Hillmorton, Rugby, Warwickshire CV21 4PP.
Cookband Limited is a company incorporated and domiciled in the UK. The registered office is located at 8
Weir Court, Thames Street, Weybridge, Surrey KT13 8NQ.
The Filta Group, Inc. was formed in the State of Delaware in the United States.
The principal business of the Filta Group is the franchising of on-site environmental kitchen solutions to
restaurants, catering establishments and institutional kitchens. The services include microfiltration of
cooking oil, fryer cleaning, temperature calibration, waste oil disposal and specially designed filters for
refrigeration units and coolers. The Filta Group sells franchises and operates in the UK and the United States.
Filta Group Holdings plc, a company incorporated in England and Wales on 31 March 2016, entered into an
agreement to acquire the entire issued share capital of each of The Filta Group Limited and The Filta Group,
Inc. on 26 October 2016 from Cookband Limited for nil consideration. The reorganisation was effected by
way of share for share exchanges whereby each of The Filta Group Limited and The Filta Group, Inc. have
become a wholly-owned subsidiaries of Filta Group Holdings Plc.
2.

Presentation currency
The Financial Information has been presented in Sterling (“£”) the Filta Group’s functional currency.

3.

Summary of significant accounting policies

Basis of preparation
The combined financial information has been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards, International Accounting Standards and Interpretations as adopted by the European Union (“EU”)
(collectively IFRSs) except for accounting combined financial information as IFRS as adopted by the EU
does not provide for the preparation of combined financial information.
The specific accounting treatment is set out in Part III Section D note 2, which is in accordance with
accounting convention commonly used for the preparation of historical financial information for inclusion
in investment circulars as described in the Annexure to SIR 2000 (Investment Reporting Standards applicable
to Public Reporting Engagements on Historical Financial Information) issued by the UK Auditing Practices
Board, results in the following material departures from IFRS:
•

For all periods, the historical financial information is prepared on a combined basis which does not
comply with the requirements of IFRS 10 (Consolidated Financial Statements).

•

The historical financial information does not constitute a set of general purpose financial statements
under paragraph 2 of IAS 1 and consequently there is no explicit and unreserved statement of
compliance with IFRS under paragraph 14 of IAS 1.

4.

Income Tax expense

The tax charge on profits assessable has been calculated at the rates of tax prevailing in the countries in
which the Group operates, based on existing legislation, interpretation and practices in respect thereof.
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5.

Segmental reporting

IFRS 8 requires operating segments to be identified on the basis of internal reports about components of the
Group that are regularly reviewed by the chief operating decision maker (which takes the form of the Board
of Directors) as defined in IFRS 8, in order to allocate resources to the segment and to assess its performance.
Based on management information there are four operating segments. Revenues are reviewed based on the
products and services provided.
The Directors consider that the Group currently has four reportable segments: the marketing and execution
related to Franchise Development; provision of services and supplies to the fryer management sector;
servicing the refrigerator seal replacement market; and the provision of design, installation and services
provided to the refrigeration and cold stores market.
The Group operates in two main geographic areas: the UK and USA. Revenue and non-current assets by
origin of geographical segment for all entities in the Group is as follows:
Revenue

UK
USA
Total

Six months
ended
30 June 2016
£

Six months
ended
30 June 2015
£

2,113,723
2,627,635
––––––––––
4,741,358
––––––––––

1,759,028
2,113,232
––––––––––
3,872,260
––––––––––

30 June
2016
£

31 December
2015
£

553,850
1,698,863
––––––––––
2,252,713
––––––––––

547,241
1,569,970
––––––––––
2,117,211
––––––––––

Six months
ended
30 June 2016
£

Six months
ended
30 June 2015
£

622,107

670,972

2,842,740

2,198,843

475,520

432,645

800,991
––––––––––
4,741,358
––––––––––

569,800
––––––––––
3,872,260
––––––––––

Non-current assets

UK
USA
Total

Product and services revenue analysis
Revenue

Franchise Development
Fryer Management
Fita-Seal
Filta Refrigeration
Total

Management measures revenues by reference to the Group’s core services and products and related services,
which underpin such income.
No customer has accounted for more than 10% of total revenue during the periods presented.
Assets and liabilities are not fully allocated to the individual categories as such information is not provided
to the chief operating decision maker, the CEO.
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6.

Property, plant and equipment

Freehold
property
£
Year ended 31 December 2015
Cost:
At 1 January 2015
Additions
Disposals
Foreign exchange differences
At 31 December 2015
Accumulated depreciation and
impairment losses:
At 1 January 2015
Depreciation charge
Disposals
Foreign exchange differences
At 31 December 2015

Fixtures,
fittings,
equipment,
computer
Plant and software &
machinery
hardware
£
£

Motor
vehicles
£

Total
£

1,335,551
233,582
84,430
121,623 1,775,186
–
72,567
–
107,356
179,923
–
(88,682)
(6,070)
(30,986) (125,738)
58,128
1,293
1,404
269
61,094
––––––––– ––––––––– ––––––––– ––––––––– –––––––––
1,393,679
218,760
79,764
198,262 1,890,465
––––––––– ––––––––– ––––––––– ––––––––– –––––––––

430,671
159,559
82,594
33,815
706,639
40,969
14,257
51
34,980
90,257
–
(36,301)
(4,284)
(12,095)
(52,680)
22,641
1,190
1,403
102
25,337
––––––––– ––––––––– ––––––––– ––––––––– –––––––––
494,281
138,705
79,764
56,802
769,552
––––––––– ––––––––– ––––––––– ––––––––– –––––––––

Net book value
At 31 December 2015
Six months ended 30 June 2016
Cost:
At 1 January 2016
Additions
Disposals
Foreign exchange differences
At 30 June 2016
Accumulated depreciation and
impairment losses:
At 1 January 2016
Depreciation charge
Disposals
Foreign exchange differences
At 30 June 2016

––––––––– ––––––––– ––––––––– ––––––––– –––––––––
899,398
80,055
–
141,460 1,120,913
––––––––– ––––––––– ––––––––– ––––––––– –––––––––

1,393,678
218,760
79,765
198,262 1,890,464
–
5,329
2,952
–
8,281
–
–
–
–
–
128,504
3,359
3,104
595
135,561
––––––––– ––––––––– ––––––––– ––––––––– –––––––––
1,522,182
227,448
85,821
198,857 2,034,306
––––––––– ––––––––– ––––––––– ––––––––– –––––––––

494,281
138,704
79,765
56,801
769,551
14,899
2,832
–
216
17,947
–
–
–
–
–
52,664
2,721
3,104
263
58,752
––––––––– ––––––––– ––––––––– ––––––––– –––––––––
561,844
144,257
82,869
57,280
846,250
––––––––– ––––––––– ––––––––– ––––––––– –––––––––

Net book value
At 30 June 2016

––––––––– ––––––––– ––––––––– ––––––––– –––––––––
960,337
83,190
2,952
141,577 1,188,056
––––––––– ––––––––– ––––––––– ––––––––– –––––––––
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7.

Trade and other receivables

Trade receivables
Prepayments and other receivables
Total

Trade receivables
Less: non-current portion

30 June
2016
£

31 December
2015
£

1,868,619
229,513
––––––––––
2,098,132
––––––––––
30 June
2016
£

1,528,020
63,190
––––––––––
1,591,210
––––––––––
31 December
2015
£

2,089,635
(221,016)
––––––––––
1,868,619
––––––––––

Current portion

1,742,839
(214,819)
––––––––––
1,528,020
––––––––––

Accounts receivable include amounts that the Group has agreed may be settled over extended repayment
terms. Accounts receivable subject to these extended repayment terms totalled £247,075 and £256,035
respectively, at 30 June 2016 and 31 December 2015.
Included in the trade receivables at 30 June 2016 is an amount equivalent to £124,083 (31 December 2015:
£83,396) owed by customers which have been outstanding for more than a year. Receivable balances over
one year primarily relate to amounts that are repayable on an agreed payment plan.
In assessing the recoverability of these debts, the Directors have given due consideration to all pertinent
information relating to the ability of the customers to settle. If an account balance is deemed uncollectible,
the account is impaired in full. If an account is potentially uncollectible, the Group makes an impairment
provision for such amounts. The impairment provision was £57,425 at 30 June 2016 (31 December 2015:
£57,365).
8.

Deferred tax assets
30 June
2016
£

At 1 January
(Charge)/release for the year
Foreign exchange differences

520,439
187,009
31,732
––––––––––
739,180
––––––––––

At 30 June 2016/31 December 2015

31 December
2015
£
590,611
(71,258)
1,086
––––––––––
520,439
––––––––––

The deferred tax balances relate to temporary differences arising between the tax bases of assets and
liabilities and their carrying amounts in the Financial Information as summarised below.

Tax losses
Impairment provisions
Deferred revenue
Others
At 31 December
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30 June
2016
£

31 December
2015
£

137,187
11,933
584,120
5,940
––––––––––
739,180
––––––––––

178,530
11,933
324,036
5,940
––––––––––
520,439
––––––––––

9.

Trade and other payables

Trade payables
Amounts due to related parties
Taxes and social security
Accruals and other payables
Total

10.

30 June
2016
£

31 December
2015
£

1,610,003
94,493
248,904
281,296
––––––––––
2,234,696
––––––––––

1,033,802
206,408
98,814
386,652
––––––––––
1,725,676
––––––––––

Pro forma basic and diluted earnings per share

As set out in Note 3, the financial information has been prepared on an aggregated basis. It is of limited
significance to calculate earnings per share based on the historical aggregated equity. Accordingly, a pro
forma earnings per share has been included based on the relevant number of shares in Filta Group Holdings
Plc following the group reorganisation and share profit but prior to the issue of shares to raise new funds.
The calculation of earnings per share is based on the following earnings and number of shares.
Unaudited
30 June
2016
£
Losses
Profit after tax for the period, used in the calculation of total
basic and diluted loss per share
Weighted average number of ordinary shares for the purpose of
basic and diluted loss per share
Pro-forma basic and diluted (loss)/earnings per share
11.

(40,214)

Unaudited
30 June
2015
£

187,189

–––––––––– ––––––––––
–––––––––– ––––––––––
–––––––––– ––––––––––
21,726,160

(0.18)

21,726,160

0.86

Share capital

Analysis of combined issued share capital:
Number
of shares

Entity
Ordinary shares of £1 each
Ordinary shares of £1 each

12.

Filta Group Limited
Cookband Limited

380,000
100

Share
Capital (£)
380,000
100
––––––––––
380,100
––––––––––

Subsequent events

On 26 October 2016 Cookband Limited acquired the entire issued share capital of TFGL in consideration of
the issue, credited as fully paid, of 1,999,900 ordinary shares of £1.00 each in Cookband Limited to the then
shareholders in TFGL.
On 26 October 2016, the Company acquired the entire issued share capital of Cookband Limited in
consideration of the issue, credited as fully paid, of 2,176,216 Ordinary Shares of £1.00 each to the then
shareholders in Cookband Limited.
On 26 October 2016, the Company acquired the entire issued share capital of TFGL and The Filta Group,
Inc. from Cookband Limited for nil consideration.
On 26 October 2016, each Ordinary Share of £1 each in the capital of the Company was sub-divided into 10
New Ordinary Shares of 10 pence each.
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13.

Significant related party transactions

Amounts due from related parties
As at 30 June 2016, The Filta Group, Inc. had advanced £nil (31 December 2015: £169,612) to Roxanna
Holdings Inc., a company owned by Jason Sayers and Victor Clewes, directors of The Filta Group, Inc. The
amounts are classified within due from related parties.
Directors loan accounts
The following amounts were owed to the directors at the end of each reporting period:
–

Mr R C Sayers: £1,458,374 as at 30 June 2016 (31 December 2015: £1,462,595)

–

Mr J Urosevic: £59,166 as at 30 June 2016 (31 December 2015 £59,782)

All amounts are unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand. The amounts are classified within current
liabilities under ‘Amounts due to directors’.
Franchise rights
In 2012, The Filta Group, Inc. granted franchise rights for a prescribed territory to Roxanna Holdings Inc.
The rights were then assigned to EKS North Atlantic LLC, which is 50% owned by Roxanna Holdings and
50% by an unrelated 3rd party. During the six months ended 30 June 2016, the related franchise operator
purchased £3,276 of equipment and supplies from the company (31 December 2015: £8,571). The amounts
are classified within trade receivables.
Amounts due to related parties – management fees
During the six months ended 30 June 2016, management fees of £629,396 are included in administrative
expense for services provided to The Filta Group, Inc. by Roxanna Holdings, Inc. At 30 June 2016, £447,761
of this total was payable to the related party. These amounts are classified within trade payables.
Notes payable to related party
The Filta Group, Inc. entered into the following arrangements with Roy Sayers:
A note of $100,240 (approximately £60,600) in 2013 which incurs interest of 1.5% annually and which
matures in December 2016.
A note of $312,880 (approximately £206,200) in 2014 which incurs interest of 1.5% annually and which
matures in December 2017.
A note of $319,960 (approximately £234,700) in 2015 which incurs interest of 1.5% annually and which
matures in December 2018.
These amounts are classified within borrowings.
Interest paid on these loans amounted to £nil in the six month period ended 30 June 2016 (2015: £0).
14.

Nature of the financial information

The financial information presented above does not constitute statutory accounts for the period under review.
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PART IV
UNAUDITED PRO FORMA FINANCIAL INFORMATION
Section A: Accountant’s Report on the Unaudited Pro Forma Financial Information

The Directors
Filta Group Holdings plc
The Locks
Hillmorton
Rugby CV21 4PP
The Directors
Cenkos Securities Plc
6.7.8 Tokenhouse Yard
London EC2R 7AS
27 October 2016
Dear Sirs
Introduction
We report on the unaudited pro forma statement of net assets of Filta Group Holdings plc (the “Company”)
and its subsidiaries, combined with those of Cookband Limited and its subsidiary, The Filta Group, Inc.
(together the “Filta Group”) (together, the “Enlarged Group”) (the “Pro Forma Financial Information”) set
out in Part IV (B) “Unaudited Pro Forma Financial Information” of the Company’s AIM admission
document dated 27 October 2016 (the “Admission Document”). The Pro Forma Financial Information has
been prepared on the basis of the notes thereto, for illustrative purposes only, to provide information about
how the placing and admission of the Company and its securities to trading on AIM, might have affected the
financial information presented on the basis of the accounting policies adopted by the Company in preparing
its financial information for the period ended 30 June 2016 and the period ended 30 June 2016 for the Filta
Group. This report is required by Schedule Two of the AIM Rules for Companies (the “AIM Rules”) and is
given for the purpose of complying with that schedule and for no other purpose.
Responsibilities
It is the responsibility of the directors of the Company (the “Directors”) to prepare the Pro Forma Financial
Information. It is our responsibility to form an opinion on the Pro Forma Financial Information as to the
proper compilation of the Pro Forma Financial Information and to report our opinion to you.
In providing this opinion we are not updating or refreshing any reports or opinions previously made by us
on any financial information used in the compilation of the Pro Forma Financial Information, nor do we
accept responsibility for such reports or opinions beyond that owed to those to whom those reports or
opinions were addressed by us at the dates of their issue.
Basis of opinion
We conducted our work in accordance with the Standards for Investment Reporting 4000 as issued by the
Auditing Practices Board in the United Kingdom. The work that we performed for the purpose of making
this report, which involved no independent examination of any of the underlying financial information,
consisted primarily of comparing the unadjusted financial information with the source documents,
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considering the evidence supporting the adjustments and discussing the Pro Forma Financial Information
with the Directors.
We planned and performed our work so as to obtain all the information and explanations we considered
necessary in order to provide us with reasonable assurance that the Pro Forma Financial Information has
been properly compiled on the basis stated and that such basis is consistent with the accounting policies of
the Company.
Opinion
In our opinion:
(a)

the Pro Forma Financial Information has been properly compiled on the basis stated; and

(b)

that such basis is consistent with the accounting policies of the Company.

Declaration
For the purposes of Paragraph (a) of Schedule Two of the AIM Rules, we are responsible for this report as
part of the Admission Document and declare that we have taken all reasonable care to ensure that the
information contained in this report is, to the best of our knowledge, in accordance with the facts and
contains no omission likely to affect its import. This declaration is included in the Admission Document in
compliance with Schedule Two of the AIM Rules.
Yours faithfully,

Crowe Clark Whitehill LLP
Chartered Accountants
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PART IV
UNAUDITED PRO FORMA FINANCIAL INFORMATION
Section B: Unaudited Pro Forma Financial Information
Set out below is an unaudited pro-forma statement of net assets of the Company (the “Pro Forma Financial
Information), which has been prepared on the basis of the Company’s financial information as at 30 June
2016, as adjusted for:
•

the payment of the Directors’ bonuses;

•

the repayment of the Director’s and Non-Executive Director’s loans; and

•

the receipt of the net proceeds from the Placing,

as set out in the notes below. The Unaudited Pro Forma Financial Information has been prepared for
illustrative purposes only and because of its nature will not represent the actual consolidated financial
position of the Company as at the date of Admission.
Unaudited pro-forma financial information

(Audited)
Company
(Note 1)
£
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment
–
Intangible assets
–
Deposits
–
Trade receivables
–
Deferred tax asset
–
–––––––––
Total non-current assets
–
Current assets
Trade and other receivables
1
Inventories
–
Cash and cash equivalents
–
–––––––––
Total current assets
1
–––––––––
Total assets
1
–––––––––

(Unaudited)
Filta
Group
(Note 2)
£

Adjustment Adjustment Adjustment
––––––––– ––––––––– –––––––––
Repayment
and
Directors’ conversion
(Unaudited)
bonus of Director Net Placing Pro forma
payments
loans
proceeds
financial
(Note 3)
(Note 4)
(Note 5) information
£
£
£
£

1,188,056
–
–
– 1,188,056
102,099
–
–
–
102,099
2,362
–
–
–
2,362
221,016
–
–
–
221,016
739,180
–
–
–
739,180
––––––––– ––––––––– ––––––––– ––––––––– –––––––––
2,252,713
–
–
– 2,252,713
2,098,132
–
–
– 2,098,133
479,177
–
–
–
479,177
1,175,663
(461,000) (614,356) 3,468,000 3,983,207
––––––––– ––––––––– ––––––––– ––––––––– –––––––––
3,752,972
(461,000) (614,356) 3,468,000 6,560,517
––––––––– ––––––––– ––––––––– ––––––––– –––––––––
6,005,685
(461,000) (614,356) 3,468,000 8,813,230
––––––––– ––––––––– ––––––––– ––––––––– –––––––––
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(Audited)
Company
(Note 1)
£
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables
Borrowings
Amounts due to directors
Deferred income
Total current liabilities
Non-current liabilities
Borrowings
Deferred income

(Unaudited)
Filta
Group
(Note 2)
£

Adjustment Adjustment Adjustment
––––––––– ––––––––– –––––––––
Repayment
and
Directors’ conversion
(Unaudited)
bonus of Director Net Placing Pro forma
payments
loan
proceeds
financial
(Note 3)
(Note 4)
(Note 5) information
£
£
£
£

– 2,234,696
(461,000)
–
– 1,773,696
–
580,146
–
(555,190)
–
24,956
– 1,517,540
– (1,517,540)
–
–
–
320,076
–
–
–
320,076
––––––––– ––––––––– ––––––––– ––––––––– ––––––––– –––––––––
– 4,652,458
(461,000) (2,072,730)
– 2,118,728

– 1,339,845
–
–
– 1,339,845
– 1,740,184
–
–
– 1,740,184
––––––––– ––––––––– ––––––––– ––––––––– ––––––––– –––––––––
Total non-current liabilities
– 3,080,029
–
–
– 3,080,029
Total liabilities
– 7,732,487
(461,000) (2,072,730)
– 5,198,757
––––––––– ––––––––– ––––––––– ––––––––– ––––––––– –––––––––
Net assets/(liabilities)
1 (1,726,802)
– 1,458,374 3,468,000 3,199,573

Notes:

––––––––– ––––––––– ––––––––– ––––––––– ––––––––– –––––––––

1.

The financial information relating to the Company has been extracted, without further adjustment, from the Company’s audited
financial information for the period ended 30 June 2016, as set out in Part III (B) “Historical Financial Information of the
Company” of this document. No account has been taken of the activities of the Company subsequent to 30 June 2016.

2.

The financial information relating to the Group has been extracted, without further adjustment, from the Operating Group’s
unaudited financial information for the period ended 30 June 2016, as set out in Part III (E) “Historical Unaudited Combined
Interim Financial Information of the Group” of this document. No account has been taken of the activities of the Group
subsequent to 30 June 2016.

3.

On 23 August 2016, Jason Sayers and Victor Clewes, both Executive Directors of the Company, received bonus payments from
Filta Group, Inc. totalling £461,000. The bonus payments were paid from the existing cash resources of Filta Group, Inc.

4.

As at 30 June 2016, Roy Sayers a Non-Executive Director had an outstanding loan due from The Filta Group Limited of
£1,458,374. As at the date of this document, the total outstanding loan due from The Filta Group Limited to Roy Sayers is
£1,462,595. No interest is payable on the amount owed under the loan and the loan is repayable on demand. The loan to The Filta
Group Limited has been transferred to Cookband Limited and subsequently capitalised into shares in Cookband Limited and,
consequently, Roy Sayers was issued, credited as fully paid, 176,216 ordinary shares in Cookband Limited. Subsequently, those
shares were the subject of the Share Purchase Agreement referred to in paragraph 12.10 of Part V of this document.
On 1 June 2013, 1 October 2014 and 1 August 2015, Roy Sayers a Non-Executive Director entered into loan agreements with
The Filta Group, Inc. pursuant to which Roy Sayers loaned to The Filta Group, Inc. the sums of $100,240, $312,880 and
$319,960 respectively. These loans accrue interest at the rate of 1.5 per cent. per annum. The total amount owed under the loan
is £555,190. Following Admission these loans totalling £555,190, and interest accrued, will be repaid in full.
As at 30 June 2016 Jlubomir Urosevic an Executive Directors had outstanding loans due from The Filta Group Limited of
£59,166. As at the date of this document, the total outstanding loan due from The Filta Group Limited to Jlubomir Urosevic is
£59,782. The loans accrue no interest and are repayable on demand. Following Admission these loans will be repaid in full.

5.

The Company raised £4.30 million (gross) from the Placing. Associated costs of the Placing are approximately £0.84 million
(excluding VAT). The net proceeds receivable for the Company from the Placing are approximately £3.46 million.

6.

The Directors consider that the substance of the acquisition of the Filta Group by the Company is effectively a reverse acquisition
and that, in order to give a true and fair view, the reverse acquisition accounting method, as permitted by IFRS 3 ‘Business
combinations’, will be adopted as the basis for consolidation in the first published accounts of the Company following completion
of the acquisition.
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PART V
ADDITIONAL INFORMATION
1.

Responsibility Statement

The Company and the Directors, whose names appear in paragraph 4 below, accept responsibility, both
collectively and individually, for the information contained in this document and compliance with the AIM
Rules for Companies. To the best of the knowledge of the Company and the Directors (who have taken all
reasonable care to ensure that such is the case) the information contained in this document is in accordance
with the facts and contains no omission likely to affect the import of such information.
2.

The Company

2.1

The Company was incorporated with limited liability in England and Wales on 31 March 2016 as a
public limited company under the Companies Act 2006 (the “Act”), with registered number 10095071
under the name of Filta Group Holdings plc. The Company is domiciled in England and Wales.

2.2

The legal and commercial name of the Company is Filta Group Holdings plc.

2.3

The Company’s registered office address is The Locks, Hillmorton, Rugby, Warwickshire CV21 4PP.
The Company’s principal place of business is The Locks, Hillmorton, Rugby, Warwickshire, England,
CV21 4PP and its telephone number is +44 (0)1788 513080. The address of the Company’s website
on which the information required by Rule 26 of the AIM Rules is available is www. filtaplc.com.

2.4

The principal legislation under which the Company operates is the Act and the regulations made
thereunder.

2.5

The Company’s principal objects and activities, which are set out in its memorandum of association,
are to act as a general commercial company.

2.6

The liability of the members of the Company is limited.

2.7

The accounting reference date of the Company is 31 December and the current accounting period will
end on 31 December 2016.

2.8

On 27 October 2016 the Company was issued with a certificate to commence trading under Section
761 of the Act.

3.

The Group

3.1

The Company is the ultimate parent company of the Group and has the following subsidiary
undertakings:
Name

Country of
Incorporation

Date of Incorporation

Cookband Limited
England and Wales 1 May 2001
The Filta Group Limited England and Wales 11 October 2001
The Filta Group Inc
USA
16 August 2000

Proportion of
Ownership held
100%
100%
100%

3.2

The registered office address of Cookband Limited is 8 Weir Court, Thames Street, Weybridge,
Surrey, KT13 8NQ.

3.3

The Filta Group Inc. is a Delaware corporation registered in the state of Florida, USA. As at the date
of this document, the Filta Group Inc. is qualified to transact business in 25 states across the USA.
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3.4

The registered office address of The Filta Group Limited is The Locks, Hillmorton, Rugby,
Warwickshire, England, CV21 4PP. The Filta Group Limited has two wholly owned active
subsidiaries, FiltaFry Limited and Nationwide Cold Room Services Limited (“NCRS”). On
26 October 2016 David Burns transferred his 24 per cent. shareholding in NCRS to The Filta Group
Limited in exchange for fully paid shares in The Filta Group Limited, which shares were subject to
the Share Exchange Agreement referred to in paragraph 12.9 of this Part V. The Filta Group Limited
has two further subsidiary companies which are now dormant, namely Fita-seal Limited and Bio
Depot Limited, whilst NCRS also has one wholly owned subsidiary company, Filta Refrigeration
Limited, which is also dormant.

4.

The Directors

The Directors of the Company are:
Name

Function

Date of Appointment

Tim Worlledge
Jason Sayers
Brian Hogan
Victor Clewes
Jlubomir Urosevic
Roy Sayers
Graham Woolfman

Non-Executive Chairman
Chief Executive Officer
Chief Finance Officer
Executive Director
Executive Director
Non-Executive Director
Non-Executive Director

10 June 2016
31 March 2016
10 June 2016
10 June 2016
10 June 2016
31 March 2016
10 June 2016

Their business address is The Locks, Hillmorton, Rugby, Warwickshire, England, CV21 4PP.
Further details relating to the Directors are disclosed in paragraph 7 of this Part V.
5.

Share and Loan Capital

5.1

On incorporation, the issued share capital of the Company was £1 comprising one Ordinary Share of
£1.00. The Ordinary Share was issued, credited as fully paid, to Jason Sayers as the subscriber to the
memorandum of association of the Company. The Company does not have an authorised share capital.

5.2

On 26 October 2016, the Company acquired the entire issued share capital of Cookband Limited in
consideration of the issue, credited as fully paid, of 2,176,215 Ordinary Shares of £1 each to the then
shareholders in Cookband Limited.

5.3

On 26 October 2016, the Company acquired the entire issued share capital of TFGL and The Filta
Group, Inc. from Cookband Limited for nil consideration.

5.4

By resolution of the members passed on 26 October 2016, each of the Ordinary Shares of £1 each in
the capital of the Company was sub-divided into 10 New Ordinary Shares of 10 pence each.

5.5

By resolution of the members of the Company passed on 26 October 2016, it was resolved:
5.5.1 to adopt new Articles;
5.5.2 that, in addition to existing authorities, the directors of the Company be and hereby are
generally and unconditionally authorised in accordance with Section 551 of the Act to exercise
all the powers of the Company to allot and issue shares in the capital of the Company and to
grant rights to subscribe for or to convert any security into shares in the Company up to an
aggregate nominal amount of £3,608,642.30, provided that, the authority conferred by this
resolution shall expire on the conclusion of the annual general meeting of the Company to be
held in 2017 (unless renewed, varied or revoked by the Company in a general meeting) but so
that this authority shall allow the Company to make before the expiry of this authority offers
or agreements which would or might require shares to be allotted or rights to be granted after
such expiry;
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5.5.3 that, the directors of the Company be and hereby are empowered pursuant to Sections 570 and
573 of the Act to allot or make offers to or agreements to allot equity securities (which
expression shall have the meaning ascribed to it in Section 560(1) of the Act) for cash pursuant
to the authority given pursuant to the above resolution as if Section 561(1) of the Act did not
apply to such allotment, provided that the power provided by this resolution shall expire on the
conclusion of the annual general meeting of the Company to be held in 2017 (unless renewed,
varied or revoked by the Company in general meeting); and
5.5.4 that, subject to the approval of the High Court of Justice, the amount standing to the credit of
the Company’s share premium account at the date that the court order granting the cancellation
is made, be cancelled.
5.6

Up to 5,190,499 new Ordinary Shares are to be allotted and issued pursuant to the Placing. The
Placing Shares are denominated in Sterling and created under the Act. It is anticipated that the Placing
Shares will be allotted on 27 October 2016, conditional upon Admission. Admission is expected to
take place on 4 November 2016.

5.7

The Placing Price of 83 pence per Placing Share is payable in full on Admission under the terms of
the Placing.

5.8

The Company’s ISIN (International Security Identification Number) is GB00BOB7J920. The
Company’s SEDOL number is BDB7J92.

5.9

At the date of this document the issued fully paid share capital of the Company is:
Class of shares

Issued (fully paid)

Ordinary Shares

21,762,160

5.10 The issued fully paid share capital of the Company immediately following Admission will be as
follows (on the assumption that the Placing is fully subscribed):
Class of shares

Issued (fully paid)

Ordinary Shares

26,952,659

5.11 The amount and percentage of immediate dilution resulting from the Placing is 19.3 per cent.
5.12 The par value of the Ordinary Shares is 10 pence.
5.13 Save as disclosed in this paragraph 5, there has been no issue of share or loan capital of the Company
since its incorporation, all issued shares have been fully paid or credited as fully paid and no further
share issues are currently proposed in the near future, other than pursuant to the Placing.
5.14 Save as disclosed in paragraph 8 below, no commissions, discounts, brokerages or other special terms
have been granted by the Company in connection with the issue or sale of any share or loan capital of
the Company since its incorporation.
5.15 Save in respect of the options set out at paragraph 8 below, on Admission, no share or loan capital of
the Company will be under option or will be agreed conditionally or unconditionally to be put under
option.
5.16 Other than pursuant to the Placing, none of the Ordinary Shares have been marketed or are available
in whole or in part to the public in conjunction with the application for the Ordinary Shares to be
admitted to AIM.
5.17 The Placing Shares will be in registered form and may be held in certificated or uncertificated form.
No temporary documents of title will be issued and, prior to the issue of definitive certificates,
transfers will be certified against the register. It is expected that definitive share certificates for the
Placing Shares which are not to be held through CREST will be posted to allottees within 10 Business
Days of Admission. Placing Shares to be held through CREST will be credited to CREST accounts
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on Admission. The Articles, which have been adopted, permit the holding of Ordinary Shares in
CREST.
5.18 The provisions of section 561 of the Act (which, to the extent not disapplied pursuant to section 570
of the Act, confer on shareholders rights of pre-emption in respect of the allotment of equity securities
(as defined in section 560(1) of the Act) which are, or are to be, paid up in cash (other than any
allotments to employees under an employees’ share option scheme)) apply to the authorised but
unissued share capital of the Company except to the extent already disapplied (see paragraph 5.4.3
above).
5.19 No Ordinary Shares are held in treasury.
5.20 No Ordinary Shares are currently in issue with a fixed date on which entitlement to a dividend arises
and there are no arrangements in force whereby future dividends are waived or agreed to be waived.
5.21 The Placing Shares will rank in full for all dividends or other distributions hereafter declared, paid or
made on the Ordinary Share capital of the Company.
5.22 There are no pre-emption rights, redemption provisions or conversion provisions attaching to the
Ordinary Shares.
5.23 There are no listed or unlisted securities of the Company not representing share capital.
5.24 Other than the current application for admission to AIM, the Ordinary Shares are not being admitted
to dealings on any recognised investment exchange nor has any application for such admission been
made nor are there intended to be any other arrangements in place for there to be such dealings in the
Ordinary Shares.
6.

Articles

As described in paragraph 5.4.1 of this Part V, the Company has recently adopted new Articles. The Articles
contain, inter alia, the following provisions:
6.1

Share capital
The Company may by ordinary resolution:
6.1.1 increase its share capital by such sum to be divided into shares of such amounts as the
resolution shall prescribe;
6.1.2 consolidate its share capital into shares of larger amounts than its existing shares;
6.1.3 cancel any shares which have not been taken, or agreed to be taken, by any person and diminish
the amount of its share capital by the amount of the shares so cancelled; and
6.1.4 sub-divide its shares, or any of them, into shares of smaller amounts than is fixed by the
Memorandum.
The Company may by special resolution reduce its share capital, any capital redemption reserve and
any share premium account in any manner subject to the provisions of the Act. The Company may
issue shares which are to be redeemed or are liable to be redeemed at the option of the Company or
the shareholders. Subject to the provisions of the Act and the rights of holders of any class of shares,
the Company may purchase its own shares, including redeemable shares.

6.2

Voting
Subject to any special terms as to voting upon which any shares for the time being may be held, on a
show of hands every member who (being an individual) is present in person or by proxy not being
himself a member or (being a corporation) is present by its duly appointed representative shall have
one vote, and on a poll every member present in person, or by representative, or proxy, shall have
one vote for every share in the capital of the Company held by him. A proxy need not be a member of
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the Company. Where, in respect of any shares, any registered holder or any other person appearing to
be interested in such shares fails to comply with any notice given by the Company under section 793
of the Act then, not earlier than 14 days after service of such notice, the shares in question may be
disenfranchised. All shareholders, irrespective of the source of their shareholdings, hold shares which
have equal voting rights.
6.3

Dividends
The Company may by ordinary resolution in general meeting declare dividends provided that they
shall be paid in accordance with the Act and out of profits available for distribution and shall not
exceed the amount recommended by the Directors. The Directors may from time to time pay such
interim dividends as appear to the Directors to be justified by the profits of the Company and are
permitted by the Act.
Subject to the rights of persons, if any, holding shares with special dividend rights, and unless the
terms of issue otherwise provide, all dividends shall be apportioned and paid pro rata according to the
amount paid or credited as paid on the shares during any portion or portions of the period in respect
of which the dividend is payable. Amounts paid or credited as paid in advance of calls shall not be
regarded as paid on shares for this purpose.
All unclaimed dividends may be invested or otherwise made use of by the Directors for the benefit of
the Company until claimed. All dividends unclaimed for a period of 12 years after having been
declared shall, if the Directors so resolve, be forfeited and shall revert to the Company.
Where, in respect of any shares, any registered holder or any other person appearing to be interested
in the shares of the Company fails to comply with any notice given by the Company under section 793
of the Act then, provided that the shares concerned represent at least 0.25 per cent. in nominal value
of the issued shares of the relevant class, the Company may withhold dividends on such shares.
There is no fixed date on which an entitlement to a dividend arises.

6.4

Modification of rights
All or any of the special rights for the time being attached to any class of shares for the time being
forming part of the capital of the Company may, subject to the provisions of the Act, be varied or
abrogated either:
6.4.1 in such manner (if any) as may be provided by such rights; or
6.4.2 in the absence of any such provision, with the consent in writing of the holders of three-quarters
in nominal value of the issued shares of that class, or with the sanction of an extraordinary
resolution passed at a separate general meeting of the holders of the shares of that class, but not
otherwise. To every such meeting all the provisions of the Articles relating to general meetings
and to the proceedings thereat shall, so far as applicable and with the necessary modifications,
apply except that the necessary quorum at any such meeting (other than an adjourned meeting)
shall be two persons at least, holding or representing by proxy at least one-third in nominal
value of the issued shares of the class in question and any holder of shares of the class in
question present in person or by proxy may demand a poll.

6.5

Transferability
The instrument of transfer shall be signed by or on behalf of the transferor and (except in the case of
fully paid shares) by or on behalf of the transferee. The Directors may, subject to not affecting the free
transferability of any such share on AIM, decline to recognise any instrument of transfer unless:
6.5.1 the instrument of transfer (duly stamped) is deposited at the Company’s registered office
accompanied by the share certificate for the shares to which it relates and such other evidence
as the Directors may reasonably require showing the right of the transferor to make the transfer;
6.5.2 the instrument of transfer is in respect of only one class of share;
89

6.5.3 the instrument of transfer is in favour of not more than four transferees; and
6.5.4 the instrument of transfer is in respect of a share in respect of which all sums presently payable
to the Company have been paid. Where, in respect of any shares, any registered holder or any
person appearing to be interested in such shares fails to comply with any notice given by the
Company under section 793 of the Act then, provided that the shares concerned represent at
least 0.25 per cent. in nominal value of the issued shares of the relevant class, the Company
may prohibit transfers of such shares or agreements to transfer any of such shares.
6.6

Directors of the Company
Unless otherwise determined by ordinary resolution, the number of directors (other than alternative
directors) shall be not less than two. Subject to certain exceptions, a Director shall not vote (or be
counted in the quorum) in respect of any contract or arrangement or any other proposal whatsoever in
which he has any material interest and, if he shall do so, his vote shall not be counted.
Any remuneration paid for the services of the Directors, as fixed (initially at approximately £680,000
per annum) by the Company in general meeting, may be divided between the Directors as they shall
agree or, failing agreement, equally and shall be deemed to accrue from day to day. The Directors may
remunerate a Director who serves on any committee or devotes special attention to the business of the
Company, or who otherwise performs services which, in the opinion of the Directors, are outside the
scope of the ordinary duties of a Director, by way of salary, lump sum, percentage of profits or
otherwise as the Directors may determine.
At each annual general meeting of the Company, one-third of the Directors who are subject to
retirement by rotation or, if their number is not three or a multiple of three, the number nearest to but
not exceeding one-third, shall retire. A retiring Director may, if eligible, offer himself for re-election.
In addition, any Director who as at the date of the relevant annual general meeting, has been in office
more than three years since his appointment or last election or who was elected or last elected at the
annual general meeting preceding by three years the relevant annual general meeting, and who in
either case is not otherwise to retire by reason of the Articles, shall also retire by rotation.
Each Director (other than an alternate director) may appoint another Director or (subject to the
approval of a majority of the Directors) any other person to be an alternate director of the Company,
and may at any time remove an alternate director so appointed by him from office and, subject to any
requisite approval, appoint another person in his place.
The Company may purchase and maintain for any Director insurance against any liability which by
virtue of any law would otherwise attach to him in respect of any negligence, default, breach of duty
or breach of trust of which he may be guilty in relation to the Company.

6.7

Borrowing powers
The Directors may exercise all the powers of the Company to borrow money and to mortgage or
charge its undertaking, property, assets and uncalled share capital, and (subject to the Act) to issue
debentures and other securities, whether outright or as collateral security for any debt, liability or
obligation of the Company or of any third party. The Directors shall restrict the borrowings of the
Company and its subsidiaries so as to ensure that the aggregate of the amounts borrowed by the
Company and all its subsidiaries and remaining outstanding at any time shall not, without previous
sanction of an ordinary resolution of the Company, exceed a multiple of three times the “Adjusted
Capital and Reserves” amount (as such term is defined in the Articles), which is effectively the
aggregate of the nominal capital of the Company issued and paid up and the amount standing to the
credit of the consolidated reserves of the Company, less specified adjustments, exclusions and
deductions.
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6.8

Distribution of assets on liquidation
If the Company shall be wound up the liquidator may, with the sanction of an extraordinary resolution
of the Company or any other sanction required by the Act, divide amongst the members in specie or
in kind the whole or any part of the assets of the Company, those assets to be set at such values as he
deems fair. The liquidator may also vest the whole or part of the assets of the Company in trustees on
trust for the benefit of the contributories.

6.9

Uncertificated shares
The Directors may implement such arrangements as they think fit in order for any class of shares to
be held, evidenced and transferred in uncertificated form. The Company will not be required to issue
a certificate to any person holding shares in uncertificated form.

6.10 General meetings
Annual general meetings of the Company shall be held at such time and place as the Board may
determine. All general meetings, other than annual general meetings, are deemed special general
meetings and the Board may convene a special general meeting whenever, and at such time and place
as it thinks fit. The Board shall also convene an extraordinary general meeting on the requisition of
shareholders pursuant to the Act. The quorum for meetings is two or more Shareholders present in
person or by proxy. No Shareholder is entitled to be present at or vote at any general meeting of the
Company unless all amounts due in respect of his shares have been paid.
6.11 CREST
CREST is a paperless settlement procedure enabling securities to be evidenced otherwise than by a
certificate and transferred otherwise than by a written instrument. The Ordinary Shares have been
made eligible for settlement in CREST by means of a resolution of the Board passed on 26 October
2016. The Company has applied for the Ordinary Shares to be admitted to CREST and it is expected
that the Ordinary Shares will be so admitted and, accordingly, enabled for settlement in CREST as
soon as practicable after Admission has occurred.
7.

Directors’ and Other Interests

7.1

The interests (all of which are beneficial) of the Directors and their immediate families and, so far as
is known to the Directors or could with reasonable diligence be ascertained by them, persons
connected with them (which expression shall be construed in accordance with the AIM Rules) which,
if the connected person were a Director would otherwise be disclosed pursuant to this paragraph, in
the share capital of the Company as at the date of this document and on Admission, are or are expected
to be, as follows:

Director

As at the date of this
document
Number of Percentage of
Ordinary
issued share
Shares
capital

Following Admission
Number of Percentage of
Ordinary
issued share
Shares
capital

Tim Worlledge
Jason Sayers*
Brian Hogan
Victor Clewes
Jlubomir Urosevic
Roy Sayers*
Graham Woolfman

–
11,614,680
–
6,838,130
–
8,164,060
–

30,000
11,614,680
–
4,558,750
–
9,688,720
18,000
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–
53.4
–
31.4
–
44.5
–

0.1
43.1
–
16.9
–
36.0
0.1

*

7.2

includes 7,926,560 Ordinary Shares held by the Meredian Settlement Trust. Roy Sayers is the settlor of the Meredian
Settlement Trust and, together with his wife, Dawn Sayers, is a trustee of the Meredian Settlement Trust. Jason Sayers
is a life tenant of the Meredian Settlement Trust and, together with Dawn Sayers (his mother), is the beneficiary of the
Meredian Settlement Trust. Jason Sayers and Roy Sayers are together beneficially interested in the Ordinary Shares held
by the Meredian Settlement Trust, with Roy Sayers’ interest being deemed beneficial due to his marriage to Dawn
Sayers.

Other than the persons referred to in paragraph 7.1 above, the Company is aware of the following
persons who, at the date of this document have, or who are expected following Admission to have, an
interest in three per cent. or more of the issued share capital of the Company:
As at the date of this
document
Number of Percentage of
Ordinary
issued share
Shares
capital

Interested Person
Livingbridge VC LLP
Ennismore Fund Management Limited
Miton Group
Blackrock, Inc

–
–
–
–

–
–
–
–

Following Admission
Number of Percentage of
Ordinary
issued share
Shares
capital
2,644,000
1,538,480
964,520
850,000

9.8
5.7
3.6
3.2

7.3

Save as disclosed in paragraph 7.1 and 7.2 above, the Company is not aware of any person who will,
immediately following Admission (on the basis that the Placing is fully subscribed), be interested,
directly or indirectly, in three per cent. or more of the issued share capital of the Company or could,
directly or indirectly, jointly or severally, exercise control over the Company.

7.4

The Company and the Directors are not aware of any arrangements, the operation of which may at a
subsequent date result in a change of control of the Company.

7.5

Save as disclosed in paragraphs 10, 11, 12 and 15 of this Part V, no Director has any interest in any
transactions which are or were unusual in their nature or conditions or which are or were significant
to the business of the Group and which were effected by any member of the Group in the current or
immediately preceding financial year or which were effected during an earlier financial year and
which remain in any respect outstanding or unperformed.

7.6

The persons, including the Directors referred to in paragraph 4 of this Part V, do not have voting rights
in respect of the share capital at the Company (issued or to be issued) which differ from any other
shareholder of the Company.

7.7

In addition to directorships of the Company and its subsidiaries the Directors currently hold, and have
during the five years preceding the date of this document held, the following directorships or
partnerships (or otherwise been a member of the administrative, management or operating bodies
thereof):
Name

Current
Directorships/partnerships

Previous
directorships/partnerships

Jason Sayers

–

–

Brian Hogan

2141258 Ontario Limited
Cobalt Capital GP, Inc.

–

Victor Clewes

–

–

Roscoe Urosevic
Tim Worlledge

County Parking Enforcement Agency
Working Insight Limited (dissolved)*
Evolution Securities China Limited
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Name

Current
Directorships/partnerships

Previous
directorships/partnerships

Graham Woolfman Ampla Corporate Finance Limited
Intrust Corporate Finance Limited
Tempus Advisory and Management
LLP
The New North London Synagogue
Woolfmans Limited

Crouchland Biogas Limited
Crouchland Farms Limited
Fides Financial Limited (dissolved)*
Hardbin Limited (dissolved)*
Magnum Capital Ventures LLP
Leaman Sawford Corporate
Finance LLP
Neos Resources plc
Vertal Limited

Roy Sayers

Capital & West Developments Limited
(dissolved)*

–

* Voluntary strike off

7.8

The Directors have neither any unspent convictions in relation to indictable offences nor any
convictions in relation to fraudulent offences.

7.9

None of the Directors has been the subject of any public criticism, public incrimination or sanctions
by any statutory or regulatory authority (including recognised or designated professional bodies).

7.10 Save as set out at paragraph 7.11 and 7.12 below, none of the Directors has been a director of a
company at the time of, or within the 12 months preceding the date of, that company being the subject
of a receivership, compulsory liquidation, creditors’ voluntary liquidation, administration, company
voluntary arrangement or any composition or arrangement with its creditors generally or any class of
its creditors.
7.11 Jason Sayers and Victor Clewes were both directors of Xenerga, Inc. (“Xenerga”), a US biodiesel
company established in 2007. In 2009 the company became insolvent and went into liquidation. The
outstanding amount owed to creditors from Xenerga was approximately $4.8 million. The Filta
Group, Inc., Victor Clewes and Jason Sayers were named as a defendant in a lawsuit filed against
Xenerga, a supplier of equipment and services for the construction of biodiesel plants, by a customer
of Xenerga. The lawsuit was filed in the Circuit Court of Florida, Orange County on 21 April 2009.
Filta was not involved in the biodiesel business, but two of its shareholders and directors, Victor
Clewes and Jason Sayers, were shareholders and officers of Xenerga. The plaintiffs alleged breach
of contract, false representations of a material fact, and other claims against Xenerga and against
Mr. Clewes and Mr. Sayers personally. On 27 December 2011, the parties entered into a settlement in
which the plaintiffs filed a voluntary dismissal of their suit against Filta, Mr. Clewes and Mr. Sayers.
The defendants agreed to pay approximately $0.1 million to the plaintiffs and were released from any
further claims by the plaintiffs.
7.12 Graham Woolfman was appointed as a non-executive director of Bio Converters plc on 11 March
2003. Bio Converters plc was a start-up company processing organic waste into fertiliser. The
company went into administration on the 8 June 2005. Mr Woolfman resigned as a director on
20 January 2006. The deficiency to creditors at the time of administration was approximately
£189,865.
7.13 None of the Directors has been a partner of a partnership at the time of, or within 12 months preceding
the date of, that partnership being placed into compulsory liquidation or administration or being
entered into a partnership voluntary arrangement, nor in that time have the assets of any such
partnership been the subject of a receivership.
7.14 No asset of any Director has at any time been the subject of a receivership.
7.15 None of the Directors are or has been bankrupt or made at any time an individual voluntary
arrangement.
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7.16 None of the Directors is or has ever been disqualified by a court from acting as a director of a
company or from acting in the management, administration, supervision or conduct of the affairs of
any company.
7.17 Save as set out at paragraph 7.18 below, there are no outstanding loans granted by any member of the
Group to any of the Directors nor has any guarantee been provided by any member of the Group for
their benefit.
7.18 Nationwide Cold Room Services Limited made a loan to one of its directors, David Burns, in the sum
of £8,769 in March 2016. Mr Burns is a shareholder of the Company and it is intended that this loan
will be repaid by Mr Burns following receipt of dividends from the Company in respect of the period
ending 31 December 2016.
8.

Share Option Arrangements

8.1

The Company proposes to implement a share option scheme after Admission, the details of which
have yet to be finalised. It is anticipated that a scheme will be implemented by the end of 2016 and
further details relating to the scheme will be announced in due course.

8.2

On 26 October 2016 the Company entered into an Option Deed with Cenkos Securities Plc, pursuant
to which the Company granted to Cenkos the right, exercisable at any time during the period of
three years from the date of Admission, to subscribe for up to 180,000 Ordinary Shares in the capital
of the Company at the Placing Price.

9.

Premises

9.1

The Group currently occupies premises at The Locks, Hillmorton, Rugby, Warwickshire, England,
CV21 4PP. The Filta Group Limited purchased the freehold to these premises on 28 March 2013. The
premises are subject to a first legal charge in favour of National Westminster Bank plc.

9.2

The Filta Group, Inc. currently occupies premises at 6979 Kingspointe Parkway, Unit 8, Orlando,
Florida 32819 and 7075 Kingspointe Parkway, Unit 1, Orlando, Florida 32819. The Filta Group, Inc.
purchased the legal title to these premises on 7 February 2007 and 6 September 2006 respectively. The
premises are subject to security registered in favour of BankFirst in America.

9.3

The Filta Group Limited currently leases part of its UK premises to three other companies, in respect
of which it currently receives an annual rental income of £15,500 in aggregate. The Filta Group, Inc.
does not currently lease any of its US premises to any third parties.

10.

Directors’ Service Agreements and Letters of Appointment

10.1 On 26 October 2016, Mr Jason Sayers entered into a service agreement with The Filta Group, Inc.
under which he agreed to serve as Chief Executive Officer of The Filta Group, Inc. and to act as a
director of and carry out duties on behalf the Company at an annual salary of $20,000. The agreement
is terminable by either party on six months’ prior notice. The agreement imposes certain restrictions
on Jason Sayers as regards the use of confidential information and intellectual property. In addition,
Jason Sayers will be subject to certain restrictive covenants following the termination of the
agreement.
10.2 On 26 October 2016, Mr Victor Clewes entered into a service agreement with The Filta Group, Inc.
under which he agreed to serve as an Executive Director of The Filta Group, Inc. and to act as a
director of and carry out duties on behalf the Company at an annual salary of $20,000. The agreement
is terminable by either party on six months’ prior notice. The agreement imposes certain restrictions
on Victor Clewes as regards the use of confidential information and intellectual property. In addition,
Victor Clewes will be subject to certain restrictive covenants following the termination of the
agreement.
10.3 On 26 October 2016, Mr Brian Hogan entered into a service agreement with The Filta Group, Inc.
under which he agreed to serve as Finance Director of The Filta Group, Inc. and to act as a director
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of and carry out duties on behalf of the Company at an annual salary of $125,000. The agreement is
terminable by either party on six months’ prior notice. The agreement imposes certain restrictions on
Brian Hogan as regards the use of confidential information and intellectual property. In addition,
Brian Hogan will be subject to certain restrictive covenants following the termination of the
agreement.
10.4 On 26 October 2016, The Filta Group Inc. entered into a consultancy agreement with Roxanna
Holdings, LLC, pursuant to which Roxanna Holdings, LLC has agreed to provide the services of Mr
Jason Sayers and Mr. Victor Clewes at an annual fee of $460,000. The agreement imposes certain
restrictions on Roxanna Holdings, LLC as regards the use of confidential information. Roxanna
Holdings, LLC will also be subject to certain restrictive covenants following the termination of the
agreement. The agreement is terminable by either party giving to the other 6 months’ prior written
notice.
10.5 On 26 October 2016, Mr Jlubomir Urosevic entered into a service agreement with the Company under
which he agreed to serve as an executive director of the Company at an annual salary of £85,000
(exclusive of pension contributions). The agreement is terminable by either party on six months’ prior
notice. The agreement imposes certain restrictions on Jlubomir Urosevic as regards the use of
confidential information and intellectual property. In addition, Jlubomir Urosevic will be subject to
certain restrictive covenants following the termination of the agreement.
10.6 Each non-executive Director entered into a letter of appointment with the Company on 26 October
2016 which provides for them to act as a Non-Executive Director of the Company. Pursuant to such
letter, Tim Worlledge will receive a fee of £35,000 per annum. Graham Woolfman will receive a fee
of £30,000 per annum and Roy Sayers will receive a fee of £30,000 per annum. To the extent that a
Non-Executive Director is required to work more than a specified number of days per annum they will
be paid an additional daily rate of £1,700 (gross) per day. Each appointment letter is for an initial term
of 3 months unless terminated earlier by either party giving to the other not less than 3 months’ prior
written notice, such notice to expire on or after the first anniversary of Admission.
10.7 No remuneration has been paid (including benefits in kind) by the Company to the Directors up to the
date of this document. It is estimated that the aggregate remuneration and benefits in kind payable to
the Directors by members of the Group in respect of the current financial year (under the
arrangements in force at the date of this document) will be approximately £143,000.
10.8 None of the Directors’ agreements with the Company provide for benefits upon termination of
employment.
11.

Placing arrangements

11.1 Under an agreement (the “Placing Agreement”) dated 26 October 2016 and made between: the
Company (1), the Directors (2), the Selling Shareholder (3) and Cenkos (4), Cenkos has agreed
(conditionally, inter alia, on Admission taking place not later than 30 November 2016) as agent for
the Company to use its reasonable endeavours to procure subscribers for the Placing Shares at the
Placing Price.
11.2 Under the Placing Agreement and subject to its becoming unconditional:
11.2.1 the Company has agreed to pay Cenkos a commission of 5 per cent. of the value at the Placing
Price of those Placing Shares raised from placees introduced by Cenkos, together with a
corporate finance fee of £150,000 together with any applicable VAT;
11.2.2 the Selling Shareholder has agreed to pay Cenkos a commission of 5 per cent. of the value of
the Placing Price of those Placing Shares placed with placees introduced by Cenkos, and
11.2.3 the Company will pay certain other costs and expenses (including any applicable VAT) of, or
incidental to, the Placing including all fees and expenses payable in connection with
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Admission, expenses of the registrars, printing and advertising expenses, postage and all other
legal, accounting and other professional fees and expenses.
11.3 The Placing Agreement contains warranties and indemnities given by the Company, and warranties
given by the Directors to Cenkos as to the accuracy of the information contained in this document and
other matters relating to the Group and its business and certain warranties given by the Selling
Shareholder to Cenkos as to the title to its Placing Shares. Cenkos is entitled to terminate the Placing
Agreement in certain specified circumstances prior to Admission.
12.

Material contracts

The following are the only contracts (not being contracts entered into in the ordinary course of business)
which have been entered into by the Company or any member of the Group within the two years immediately
preceding the date of this document and which (i) are, or may be, material or (ii) contain provisions under
which the Group has an obligation or entitlement which is or may be material:
12.1 The Placing Agreement, details of which are set out in paragraph 11 above;
12.2 Lock-in agreements dated 26 October 2016 and made between the Company (1), The Meredian
Settlement Trust (2), certain Directors (3) and Cenkos (4), pursuant to which these Directors and The
Meredian Settlement Trust has undertaken to the Company (subject to certain limited exceptions) not
to dispose of any Ordinary Shares held by them at any time prior to the second anniversary of
Admission without the prior written consent of Cenkos.
12.3 A nominated adviser and broker agreement dated 26 October 2016 between the Company and Cenkos
pursuant to which the Company has appointed Cenkos to act as nominated adviser and broker to the
Company. The Company has agreed to pay to Cenkos a fee of £50,000 per annum for its services under
this agreement starting 1 June 2017. The agreement may be terminated by either party
giving three months’ notice, but can be immediately terminated in certain circumstances. The
agreement contains an indemnity given by the Company in favour of Cenkos as to the accuracy of
information contained in this document and other matters relating to the Group and its business.
12.4 On 26 October 2016 the Company entered into an Option Deed with Cenkos Securities Plc, pursuant
to which the Company granted to Cenkos the right, exercisable at any time during the period of
three years from the date of Admission, to subscribe for up to 180,000 Ordinary Shares in the capital
of the Company at the Placing Price.
12.5 On 26 February 2016 all the then shareholders of Filta Refrigeration Limited entered into an
agreement under which Nationwide Cold Room Services Limited acquired the entire issued share
capital of Filta Refrigeration Limited in consideration of the issue of shares in Nationwide Cold Room
Services Limited, credited as fully paid.
12.6 On 26 February 2016 Filta Refrigeration Limited entered into an asset purchase agreement with
Nationwide Cold Room Services Limited in respect of the transfer of the business and assets of Filta
Refrigeration Limited to Nationwide Cold Room Services Limited as a going concern, with an
effective date of 31 December 2015.
12.7 On 26 February 2016 Fita-Seal Limited entered into an asset purchase agreement with The Filta
Group Limited in respect of the transfer of the business and assets of Fita-Seal Limited to The Filta
Group Limited as a going concern, with an effective date of 31 December 2015.
12.8 On 26 February 2016 Bio Depot Limited entered into an asset purchase agreement with The Filta
Group Limited in respect of the transfer of the business and assets of Bio Depot Limited to The Filta
Group Limited as a going concern, with an effective date of 31 December 2015.
12.9 On 26 October 2016 David Burns entered into a share exchange agreement with The Filta Group
Limited under which The Filta Group Limited acquired David Burns’ 24 ordinary B shares of £1.00
each in the capital of Nationwide Cold Room Services Limited in consideration of the issue of 24
shares of £1.00 each in the capital of The Filta Group Limited, credited as fully paid.
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12.10 On 26 October 2016 all the then shareholders of The Filta Group Limited entered into an agreement
under which Cookband Limited acquired the entire issued share capital of The Filta Group Limited
in consideration of the issue of shares in Cookband Limited, credited as fully paid.
12.11 On 26 October 2016 all the then shareholders of Cookband Limited entered into an agreement under
which the Company acquired the entire issued share capital of Cookband Limited in consideration of
the issue of shares in the Company, credited as fully paid.
12.12 On 26 October 2016 the Company entered into a share purchase agreement with Cookband Limited,
pursuant to which Cookband Limited transferred the entire share capital of The Filta Group Limited
and The Filta Group, Inc. to the Company for nil consideration.
12.13 On 5 March 2013, The Filta Group Limited and National Westminster Bank Plc (“Natwest”) entered
into a loan agreement pursuant to which Natwest made a loan of £133,000 (the “Property Loan”)
available to The Filta Group Limited. The Property Loan was provided for the purpose of assisting
with the purchase of The Locks, Hillmorton, Rugby CV21 4PP and is secured by a legal charge over
the assets of The Filta Group Limited and a first legal charge over the property. Interest is payable at
a rate of 4.25 per cent. over Base Rate per annum. The Property Loan is repayable over a period of
60 months beginning one month from the date of drawdown.
12.14 On 19 November 2013 The Filta Group Limited and NatWest entered into a loan agreement providing
for a loan of £150,000 repayable over 10 years. The loan is secured by a legal charge over the assets
of The Filta Group Limited and a first legal charge over The Locks, Hillmorton, Rugby, Warwickshire
CV21 4PP. Interest is charged at 7.24 per cent. above the NatWest base rate. The current monthly
repayment amount is £1,792.51. The loan is repayable on 14 December 2023.
12.15 On 26 November 2013 each of The Filta Group Limited, Fita-Seal Limited, FiltaFry Limited and
Nationwide Cold Room Services Limited entered into a facility (the “Facility”) with NatWest for the
purposes of managing the balances of certain bank accounts held by the Group companies (the
“Facility Accounts”). The limit of the Facility is £1,000,000, subject to annual review, and is secured
by an unlimited guarantee and a debenture over each participating Group company and a first
legal charge over The Locks, Hillmorton, Rugby, Warwickshire CV21 4PP. Interest is charged at
3.5 per cent. per annum on the total of the debit balances equal to the total of the credit balances on
the Facility Accounts and 7 per cent. per annum over NatWest base rate on any amount over the net
limit, which is defined as ‘Nil’.
12.16 Each of the loan agreements described in paragraphs 12.12, 12.4 and 12.5 above is subject to a
restriction on changes of control without the consent of NatWest. NatWest has given its consent in
principle to the change of control arising upon the group reorganisation, the issue of the Placing
Shares and Admission, subject to (i) the Company entering into a guarantee of the Group’s liabilities
to NatWest within 2 months of Admission and (ii) the Company’s accountant providing a letter
confirming that the dormant companies will not be re-activated. In the event of a takeover in future or
other similar corporate action constituting a change of control while those loans were still
outstanding, further consent would need to be sought from NatWest. The Bank has security over the
assets of the Group in the form of a debenture over the assets of each group company and an unlimited
guarantee. The Bank also has a first legal charge registered against the Company’s freehold premises.
In addition, two of the directors of the Company, namely Jlubomir Urosevic and Roy Sayers, and their
respective wives, have provided security over their respective residential properties in the form of a
second and third legal charge and also provided personal guarantees up to the sum of £170,000.
Furthermore, Roy Sayers has entered into a letter of postponement in respect of a loan of £1,463,000
made to The Filta Group Limited.
12.17 Each of the Filta Group Limited, Fita-Seal Limited and Nationwide Cold Room Services Limited has
entered into an invoice discounting arrangement with RBS Invoice Finance Limited (“RBSIF”),
whereby RBSIF will pay the companies’ invoices up to a prepayment amount of £580,000 in
aggregate, which amount is secured by a fixed and floating charge over each of the companies’ assets.
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12.18 Each of the invoice discounting agreements described in paragraph 12.15 above is subject to a
restriction on changes of control without the consent of RBSIF. No consent to the change of control
arising upon the group reorganisation, the issue of the Placing Shares and Admission has been sought
as the intention of the Directors is to repay the invoice discounting facility out of the proceeds of the
Placing.
12.19 Loan agreements dated 1 June 2013, 1 October 2014 and 1 August 2015 pursuant to which Roy Sayers
loaned to The Filta Group, Inc. the respective sums of $100,240, $312,880 and $319,960, accruing
interest at the rate of 1.5 per cent. per annum and repayable in full on or before 31 December 2016,
31 December 2017 and 31 December 2018 respectively. These loans, together with accrued interest,
amount to £555,190 and will be repaid out of the proceeds of the Placing.
12.20 A Director’s Loan between Roy Sayers and Filta Group Limited pursuant to which Roy Sayers loaned
to that company the sum of £1,463,000. No interest is payable on the loan, which is repayable on
demand. On 26 October 2016 the liability for the principle outstanding amount of this loan, namely
£1,462,595.55, was transferred to Cookband Limited and subsequently capitalised into shares in
Cookband Limited and, consequently, Roy Sayers was issued, credited as fully paid, 176,216 ordinary
shares in Cookband Limited. Subsequently, those shares were the subject of the Share Purchase
Agreement referred to in paragraph 12.11 above.
12.21 Jlubomir Urosevic has made loans to The Filta Group Limited in the total sum of £67,000. These loans
accrue no interest and are repayable on demand. The outstanding balance of this loan, being
£59,781.66, will be repaid out of the proceeds of the Placing.
12.22 On 31 December 2015 The Filta Group Limited entered into a shareholders’ agreement with David
Burns to regulate the exercise of their rights in relation to their holding of shares in Nationwide Cold
Room Services Limited. This agreement was automatically terminated on 26 October 2016 when The
Filta Group Limited became the sole shareholder of Nationwide Cold Room Services Limited
pursuant to the share exchange agreement referred to at paragraph 12.8 above.
13.

Taxation

13.1 Taxation in the United Kingdom
The following information is based on UK tax law and HM Revenue and Customs (“HMRC”)
practice currently in force in the UK. Such law and practice (including, without limitation, rates of
tax) is in principle subject to change at any time. The information that follows is for guidance
purposes only. Any person who is in any doubt about his or her position should contact their
professional advisor immediately.
13.1.1 Tax treatment of UK investors
The following information, which relates only to UK taxation, is applicable to persons who are
resident in the UK and who beneficially own Ordinary Shares as investments and not as
securities to be realised in the course of a trade. It is based on the law and practice currently in
force in the UK. The information is not exhaustive and does not apply to potential investors:
13.1.1.1 who intend to acquire, or may acquire (either on their own or together with persons
with whom they are connected or associated for tax purposes), more than 10 per cent.,
of any of the classes of shares in the Company; or
13.1.1.2 who intend to acquire Ordinary Shares as part of tax avoidance arrangements; or
13.1.1.3 who are in any doubt as to their taxation position.
Such Shareholders should consult their professional advisers without delay. Shareholders
should note that tax law and interpretation can change and that, in particular, the levels, basis
of and reliefs from taxation may change. Such changes may alter the benefits of investment in
the Company.

98

Shareholders who are neither resident nor temporarily non-resident in the UK and who do not
carry on a trade, profession or vocation through a branch, agency or permanent establishment
in the UK with which the Ordinary Shares are connected, will not normally be liable to
UK taxation on dividends paid by the Company or on capital gains arising on the sale or other
disposal of Ordinary Shares. Such Shareholders should consult their own tax advisers
concerning their tax liabilities.
13.1.2 Dividends
Where the Company pays dividends, Shareholders who are resident in the UK for tax purposes
will, depending on their circumstances, be liable to UK income tax or corporation tax on those
dividends.
UK resident individual Shareholders who are domiciled in the UK, and who hold their Shares
as investments, will be subject to UK income tax on the amount of dividends received from the
Company. UK resident individuals who are not domiciled in the UK may be eligible to make a
claim to be taxed on the “remittance basis”, the effect of which is that they will generally be
subject to UK income tax only if the dividend is remitted, or deemed to be remitted, to the UK,
provided that the shares are not UK assets.
Dividend income received by UK tax resident individuals will have a £5,000 dividend tax
allowance. Dividend receipts in excess of £5,000 will be taxed at 7.5 per cent. for basic rate
taxpayers, 32.5 per cent for higher rate taxpayers and 38.1 per cent. for additional rate
taxpayers.
Shareholders who are subject to UK corporation tax should generally, and subject to certain
anti-avoidance provisions, be able to claim exemption from UK corporation tax in respect of
any dividend received but will not be entitled to claim relief in respect of any underlying tax or
withholding tax imposed.
13.1.3 Disposals of Ordinary Shares
Any gain arising on the sale, redemption or other disposal of Ordinary Shares will be taxed at
the time of such sale, redemption or disposal as a capital gain.
Gains accruing after 6 April 2016 the rate of capital gains tax on disposal of Ordinary shares
by basic rate taxpayers will reduce from 18 per cent. to 10 per cent. and for upper rate and
additional rate taxpayers the rate will fall from 28 per cent. to 20 per cent. A Shareholder who
is an individual resident in the UK and who is not domiciled in the UK who makes gains on
the disposal of Ordinary Shares where the proceeds are not remitted to the UK may benefit
from the remittance basis of UK taxation. Such individuals should consult their own tax
advisers concerning their UK tax liability.
For Shareholders within the charge to UK corporation tax, indexation allowance may reduce
any chargeable gain arising on disposal of Ordinary Shares but will not create or increase an
allowable loss.
Subject to certain exemptions, the corporation tax rate applicable to its taxable profits is
currently being 20 per cent. from 1 April 2015 falling to 19 per cent. after 1 April 2017 and
17 per cent. after 1 April 2020.
13.1.4 Further information for Shareholders subject to UK income tax and capital gains tax
13.1.4.1 “Transactions in securities”
The attention of Shareholders (whether corporates or individuals) within the scope of
UK taxation is drawn to the provisions set out in, respectively, Part 15 of the
Corporation Tax Act 2010 and Chapter 1 of Part 13 of the Income Tax Act 2007, which
(in each case) give powers to HM Revenue and Customs to raise tax assessments so
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as to cancel “tax advantages” derived from certain prescribed “transactions in
securities”.
13.1.5 Stamp Duty and Stamp Duty Reserve Tax (“SDRT”)
The statements below are intended as a general guide to the current position. They do not apply
to certain intermediaries who are not liable to stamp duty or SDRT or (except where stated
otherwise) to persons connected with depositary arrangements or clearance services who may
be liable at a higher rate.
13.1.6 Ordinary Shares held in certificated form
No stamp duty or SDRT will generally be payable on the issue of Ordinary Shares.
Neither UK stamp duty nor SDRT should arise on transfers of Ordinary Shares on AIM
(including instruments transferring Shares and agreements to transfer Ordinary Shares) based
on the following assumptions:
13.1.6.1 the Shares are admitted to trading on AIM, but are not listed on any market (with the
term “listed” being construed in accordance with section 99A of the Finance Act
1986), and this has been certified to Euroclear; and
13.1.6.2 AIM continues to be accepted as a “recognised growth market” as construed in
accordance with section 99A of the Finance Act 1986).
In the event that either of the above assumptions does not apply, stamp duty or SDRT may
apply to transfers of Ordinary Shares in certain circumstances.
The above comments are intended as a guide to the general stamp duty and SDRT position and
may not relate to persons such as charities, market makers, brokers, dealers, intermediaries and
persons connected with depositary arrangements or clearance services to whom special rules
apply.
14.

Related party arrangements

14.1 Save as set out at paragraphs 14.2 to 14.3 below and other than the agreements summarised in
paragraphs 10, 11 and 12 of this Part V, the Company has not entered into any related party
transactions (being those set out in the standards adopted according to the Regulation (EC)
No. 1606/2002) since the date of its incorporation.
14.2 Roxanna Holdings, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company and affiliate of Filta Group, Inc.
entered into a franchise agreement, with Filta Group, Inc. on 19 September 2012 (the “Roxanna
Franchise Agreement”). Pursuant to the Roxanna Franchise Agreement, Filta Group, Inc. licensed to
Roxanna Holdings LLC the exclusive right to operate a franchise in the Territory (as such term is
defined therein) for a period of ten years, subject to renewal by Roxanna Holdings, LLC for up to two
additional ten (10) year periods. Roxanna Holdings, LLC, is jointly owned by Jason Sayers and Victor
Clewes who are both Executive Directors of the Company.
Roxanna Holdings, LLC and OBS EKS Investments, LLC each own fifty per cent. of the units in EKS
North Atlantic, LLC,. On 19 September 2012 Roxanna Holdings, LLC assigned its rights under the
Roxanna Franchise Agreement to EKS North Atlantic, LLC. Roxanna Holdings, LLC and OBS EKS
Investments, LLC formed EKS Management, LLC, with each party owning fifty per cent. of the
equity ownership. On 19 September 2012 EKS North Atlantic, LLC entered into a Management
Services Agreement with EKS Management, LLC, pursuant to which EKS North Atlantic, LLC
engaged EKS Management, LLC to manage EKS North Atlantic, LLC’s Filta Environmental Kitchen
Solutions business in the Territories (as such term is defined in the Roxanna Franchise Agreement).
Roxanna Holdings, LLC and Filta Group, Inc. also agreed that for the two (2) year period beginning
on 19 September 2012 they would not independently own and operate, or participate in a joint venture
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with another party to own and operate, or franchise or license to a third party to own and operate, the
Filta Business within certain territories without the consent of OBS EKS Investments, LLC, during
which period, OBS EKS Investments, LLC would have a right of first refusal to become joint venture
partners with Roxanna Holdings, LLC to own and operate the Filta Business within such region(s).
14.3 On 20 November 2015, Filta Group Limited entered into a letter of engagement with Intrust Corporate
Finance Limited, a company which Graham Woolfman, a Non-Executive Director, is both a director
and a shareholder. Under the terms of the letter of engagement Intrust Corporate Finance Limited
agreed to provide corporate finance consultancy services. A total amount of £12,575 plus VAT was
incurred by Filta Group Limited for the services.
15.

Reasons for the Placing and use of proceeds

The reasons for the Placing and the estimated net amount of the proceeds broken into each principal intended
use and presented by order of priority of such uses is as follows:
15.1 £2.9 million to enter into new local markets (including Canada and mainland Europe) to expand into
new product markets, including drains and grease trap solutions, and as general working capital;
15.2 £0.6 million to repay debt within the business;
15.3 £1.9 million following the sale of 2,279,380 Ordinary Shares by the Selling Shareholder; and
15.4 £0.8 million to pay the fees associated with the Placing and Admission.
16.

Mandatory offers and compulsory acquisition of shares

The Company is subject to the City Code which, inter alia, provides that if any person, or group of persons
acting in concert, acquires Ordinary Shares carrying 30 per cent. or more of the voting rights exercisable in
general meetings, that person shall be required to make an offer for all the issued Ordinary Shares not already
held by him (or persons acting in concert with him) in cash at the highest price paid by that person, or any
person acting in concert with him, during the 12 month period prior to the purchase of shares which triggered
the obligation. There are certain circumstances where no such offer may be required. The Act provides that
if an offer is made for the issued share capital of the Company, the offeror is entitled to acquire compulsorily
any remaining shares if it has received acceptances or purchased shares subsequent to the making of the offer
amounting (in aggregate) to 90 per cent. of the shares to which the offer relates. Certain time limits apply.
The Articles also permit a minority shareholder to require an offeror to buy his shares if that offeror has
received acceptances or purchased shares subsequent to the making of the offer amounting (in aggregate) to
90 per cent. of the shares to which the offer relates. Certain time limits apply.
17.

Working capital

The Directors are of the opinion (having made due and careful enquiry) that, after taking into account the
net proceeds of the Placing, the Group has sufficient working capital for its present requirements, that is, for
at least the period of 12 months from Admission.
18.

Litigation

18.1 Save as set out below in paragraph 18.2, no member of the Group has at any time in the 12 months
immediately preceding the date of this document been engaged in any governmental, legal or
arbitration proceedings, and the Company is not aware of any governmental, legal or arbitration
proceedings pending or threatened by or against any member of the Group, nor of any such
proceedings having been pending or threatened at any time in the 12 months preceding the date of this
document in each case which may have, or have had in the recent past, a significant effect on the
Company’s or the Group’s financial position or profitability.
18.2 The Group has a policy of enforcing the terms and conditions of its franchise agreements with
Franchise Owners at termination or expiry of each franchise agreement. This policy has resulted, and
the Directors would expect it to continue in the future, in various legal actions to return equipment
101

supplied by the Group to franchisees and to enforce non-compete conditions. To date, the Directors
do not consider this legal action on an individual or aggregate basis to be significant to the Company’s
or the Group’s financial position or profitability.
19.

Conflicts of Interest

Jason Sayers and Roy Sayers, directors of the Company, are also substantial shareholders of the Company
(directly and indirectly through a trust corporation). Under English law shareholders do not have to act in
the best interests of companies in their capacity as shareholders.
Save as set out above, there are no other potential conflict of interests between any duties to the Company,
the Directors and their private interests.
20.

Third party information

Where information has been sourced from a third party, the Company confirms that this information has been
accurately reproduced and, as far as the Company is aware and is able to ascertain from the
information published by that third party, no facts have been omitted which would render the reproduced
information inaccurate or misleading.
21.

Miscellaneous

21.1 There has been no significant change in the financial or trading position of the Company since 30 June
2016 and of the Filta Group since 31 December 2015, being the date to which the financial
information in this document relating to the Company and the Filta Group was prepared.
21.2 The total costs and expenses relating to the Placing (including those fees and commissions referred to
in paragraph 11.2 above) payable by the Company are estimated to be approximately £0.8 million
including any VAT payable. The net proceeds of the Placing receivable by the Company will be
£3.5 million (assuming that the Placing is subscribed in full) and the net proceeds of the Placing
receivable by the Selling Shareholder is £1.9 million, assuming the Placing is taken up in full.
21.3 In making any investment decision in respect of the Placing, no information or representation should
be relied on in relation to the Placing, the Group or the Placing Shares, other than as contained in this
document. No person has been authorised to give any information or make any representation other
than those contained in this document and, if given or made, such information or representations must
not be relied on as having been authorised. Neither the delivery of this document nor any subscription
made under it shall, under any circumstances, constitute a representation or create any implication that
there has been no change in the affairs of the Group since the date of this document or that the
information in this document is correct as at any time subsequent to the date of this document.
21.4 Crowe Clark Whitehill LLP, whose registered office is at St. Brides House, 10 Salisbury Square,
London, EC4Y 8EH, accepts responsibility for the information contained in Parts III and IV of this
document. To the best of the knowledge of Crowe Clark Whitehill LLP (which has taken all
reasonable care to ensure that such is the case) the information in Parts III and IV of this document is
in accordance with the facts and makes no omission likely to effect the impact of such information.
Crowe Clark Whitehill LLP is a member of the Institute of Chartered Accountants of England and
Wales.
21.5 Crowe Clark Whitehill LLP has given and has not withdrawn its written consent to the inclusion of
its report in this document and the references to the report and to its name in the form and context in
which they are included.
21.6 Cenkos Securities plc is registered in England and Wales under number 05210733 and its registered
office is at 6 .7.8 Tokenhouse Yard, London EC2R 7AS. Cenkos Securities plc is regulated by the
FCA.
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21.7 Cenkos Securities plc has given and has not withdrawn its written consent to the issue of this
document with the inclusion of its name and references to it in the form and context in which they
appear.
21.8 Save as otherwise disclosed in this document:
21.8.1 save in respect of a UK patent for a gasket wielding apparatus, there are no patents or other
intellectual property rights, licences or particular contracts (including industrial, commercial or
financial contracts) or new manufacturing processes which are of fundamental importance to
the Group’s business or upon which the Group’s business is otherwise dependent;
21.8.2 there have been no interruptions in the Group’s business in the 12 months preceding the
publication of this document which may have or had a significant effect on the Group’s
financial position;
21.8.3 there have been no principal investments, nor are there any in progress or under active
consideration or in respect of which firm commitments have been made;
21.8.4 there are no known environmental issues that might affect the Company’s utilisation of its
tangible fixed assets; and
21.8.5 there are no known trends, uncertainties, demands, commitments or events that are reasonably
likely to have a material effect on the Company’s prospects for at least the current financial
year.
21.9 Save as disclosed in paragraph 15 this Part V no person (excluding professional advisers otherwise
disclosed in this document and trade suppliers) has:
21.9.1 received, directly or indirectly, from any member of the Group within the 12 months preceding
the date of application for Admission; or
21.9.2 entered into contractual arrangements (not otherwise disclosed in this document) to receive,
directly or indirectly, from any member of the Group on or after Admission any of the
following:
21.9.2.1 fees totalling £10,000 or more;
21.9.2.2 securities in any member of the Group with a value of £10,000 or more calculated by
reference to the Placing Price; or
21.9.2.3 any other benefit with a value of £10,000 or more at the date of Admission.
21.10 No Director or a member of a Director’s family has any related financial products referenced to the
Ordinary Shares.
21.11 Save in respect of Jason Sayers and Roy Sayers, there are no family relationships between the
Directors. Roy Sayers is Jason Sayers’ father.
21.12 The number of employees in the Group as at 31 December 2015 was 49 and as at 30 June 2016 was
53.
21.13 The financial information set out in Part III does not constitute statutory accounts within the meaning
of section 434(3) of the Act.
21.14 A shareholder in a public company incorporated in the United Kingdom whose shares are admitted to
trading on AIM is required pursuant to rule 5 of the Disclosure and Transparency Rules to notify the
Company of the percentage of his voting rights if the percentage of voting rights which he holds as a
shareholder or through his direct or indirect holding of financial instruments reaches, exceeds or falls
below, certain thresholds. Pursuant to Part 22 of the Act, the Company is empowered by notice in
writing to require any person whom the Company knows, or has reasonable cause to believe to be or,
at any time during the three years immediately preceding the date on which the notice is issued, within
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a reasonable time, to disclose to the Company particulars of any interests, rights, agreements or
arrangements affecting any of the shares held by that person or in which such other person as
aforesaid is interested.
22.

Documents available for inspection

Copies of this document are available free of charge to the public at the offices of the Company at The Locks,
Hillmorton, Rugby, Warwickshire CV21 4PP during normal business hours on any weekday (public holidays
excepted) until the date falling one month after the date of Admission. Copies of this document are also
available to the public free of charge on the Company’s website at www.filtaplc.com in accordance with the
AIM Rules.
Dated 27 October 2016
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